

Proposed Development at Advantage Cars, Comet Way, Hatfield

Phase 2 Ground Investigation Report

On behalf of Comet Way, Hatfield Ltd.

Project Ref: 47179/3502 | Rev: 00 | Date: August 2020

Registered Office: Buckingham Court Kingsmead Business Park, London Road, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP11 1JU Office Address: 50-60 Station Road, Cambridge, CB1 2JH T: +44 (0)1223 882 000 E: PBA.Cambridge@stantec.com



Document Control Sheet

Project Name: Proposed Development at Advantage Cars, Comet Way, Hatfield
Project Ref: 47179
Report Title: Phase 2 Ground Investigation Report
Doc Ref: 47179/3502/r1

Date: August 2020

	Name	Position	Signature	Date	
Prepared by:	C Radbone	Graduate Geoenvironmental Scientist	CR	April 20	
	N Hills	Geoenvironmental Engineer	NH	August 20	
Reviewed by:	L Truslove	Principal Engineer	LT	May 20	
	G Scott	Associate Geoenvironmental Consultant	GS	July 20	
Approved by:	O Belson	Associate	OB	August 20	
For and on behalf of Stantec UK Limited					

Revision	Date	Description	Prepared	Reviewed	Approved
00	18.08.20	Site investigation report issued with preliminary monitoring data	C Radbone N Hills	L Truslove G Scott	O Belson

This report has been prepared by Stantec UK Limited ('Stantec') on behalf of its client to whom this report is addressed ('Client') in connection with the project described in this report and takes into account the Client's particular instructions and requirements. This report was prepared in accordance with the professional services appointment under which Stantec was appointed by its Client. This report is not intended for and should not be relied on by any third party (i.e. parties other than the Client). Stantec accepts no duty or responsibility (including in negligence) to any party other than the Client and disclaims all liability of any nature whatsoever to any such party in respect of this report.



Contents

1	Introd	uction	1
	1.1	Brief	1
	1.2	Objectives	1
	1.3	Outline Scope of Work	2
2	The Si	te	3
	2.1	Site Location and Description	3
	2.2	Geology	3
	2.3	Site History	4
3	Groun	d Investigation	5
	3.1	Scope of Investigation	5
	3.2	Soil Sampling	6
	3.3	Laboratory Analysis	6
	3.4	Post-fieldwork Monitoring & Sampling	7
4	Groun	d Conditions Summary	9
	4.1	Stratigraphy	9
	4.2	Obstructions	12
	4.3	Visual and Olfactory Evidence of Contamination	12
	4.4	Groundwater	13
5	Tier 2	Environmental Data Review and Risk Assessment	.14
	5.1	Approach	.14
	5.2	Assessment Criteria	.14
	5.3	Review of Soil Chemical Testing Data	.14
	5.4	Review of Groundwater Data	.15
	5.5	Review of Ground Gas Data	.16
6	Tier 2	Generic Quantitative Risk Assessment	.18
	6.1	Hazard Classification	.18
	6.2	Potential Receptors & Sensitivity Score	.18
	6.3	Potential Exposure Pathways	19
	6.4	Risk Estimation	.19
	6.5	Risk Evaluation	19
	6.6	Data Gaps and Uncertainty	20
7	Outlin	e Remediation Strategy	21
	7.1	Introduction	21
	7.2	Removal of USTs	21
	7.3	Unexpected Ground Conditions	22
	7.4	Legislative Compliance and Permits/Licenses	22
	7.5	Protection of Human Health – End User	23
	7.6	Protection of Human Health – Construction/Maintenance Worker	23
	7.7	Protection of Property – Buildings	23



	9.3	Tier 2 Geoenvironmental Risk Assessment	. 30
	9.2	Geoenvironmental Conditions	. 30
	9.1	Ground Conditions	. 29
9	Conclu	isions	. 29
	8.7	Aggressiveness of the Ground	. 28
	8.6	Pavement Design	. 28
	8.5	Foundations	. 26
	8.4	Site Preparation	. 26
	8.3	Geotechnical Design Parameters	. 25
	8.2	Potential for Natural Solution Feature Hazards	. 25
	8.1	Proposed Development	. 25
8	Geoteo	hnical Engineering Assessment	. 25
	7.8	Protection of Controlled Waters	. 23

Figures

Figure 1	Site Location Plan
Figure 2	Borehole Location and Site Layout Plan

Tables

Table 2.1	BGS Historical Borehole Records	
Table 3.1	Summary of Scheduled Geoenvironmental Laboratory Analysis (Soils)	
Table 3.2	Summary of Scheduled Geoenvironmental Laboratory Analysis (Waters)	7
Table 4.1	Summary of Encountered Stratigraphy	9
Table 5.2	Groundwater Geoenvironmental Laboratory Analysis Summary	15
Table 5.2	Summary of Ground Gas Monitoring Information	17
Table 6.1	Potential Receptors and Sensitivity Score	
Table 6.2	Worst-Case Risk Estimation	19
Table 8.1	Summary of Recommended Characteristic Values	25

Appendices

Appendix A	Exploratory Hole Records
------------	--------------------------

- Appendix B Geochemical Laboratory Analysis Results
- Appendix C Geotechnical Laboratory Analysis Results
- Appendix D Ground Gas Monitoring Records
- Appendix E Stantec Methodology for the Assessment of Potentially Contaminated Land
- Appendix F Stantec Rationale for Selection of Generic Assessment Criteria for Generic Quantitative Risk Assessment



this page is intertionally blan



1 Introduction

1.1 Brief

- 1.1.1 Stantec UK Ltd. (Stantec) has been commissioned by Comet Way Hatfield Ltd. (the Client) to undertake a Phase 2 Ground Condition Assessment (GCA) to support a planning application for a proposed redevelopment of the Advantage Cars site, Comet Way, Hatfield (the Site).
- 1.1.2 The proposed development will comprise the construction of flats in a stepped building between four and six storeys in height. In total 116 residential units will be incorporated, with communal roof gardens featured on the lower parts of the block. Undercroft vehicle parking, cycle storage and bin storage is proposed at ground level with residential units from the first floor and upwards. Outside of the building footprint the ground level of the Site will be used for car parking, an electricity substation and limited peripheral soft landscaping.
- 1.1.3 This report builds upon the findings of the Phase 1 GCA (desk study)¹ completed by Stantec in April 2020. The Phase 1 GCA should be referred to in conjunction with this report.
- 1.1.4 This report presents an interpretation of the factual information obtained from the preliminary ground investigation undertaken to characterise the underlying ground conditions. It provides a generic quantitative risk assessment of contamination in relation to human health and the environment and provides advice on likely foundation solutions and other ground related aspects.
- 1.1.5 Attention is drawn to the Guidance Notes included in final the section, which provides advice for the readers of this report.

1.2 Objectives

- 1.2.1 The overall objectives of the investigation were to:
 - 1. Report the findings of the Ground Investigation (GI) work and the associated geotechnical and geoenvironmental laboratory analyses in order to define the ground conditions.
 - 2. Refine the Conceptual Model (CM) developed in the Phase 1 GCA using the actual ground conditions encountered.
 - 3. Present contamination and ground gas risk assessments and identify associated significant potential contamination risks that might require management (further assessment, remediation or mitigation). Where required, provide outline recommendations for further investigation or remediation.
 - 4. Confirm or modify the preliminary understanding of the geotechnical conditions across the area of the proposed development and, where possible, determine the depth and condition of groundwater.
 - 5. Identify geotechnical issues, assess likely constraints and provide parameters suitable for design.
 - 6. Provide outline recommendations for foundation design, road design and drainage solutions.

¹ Stantec, April 2020, Ground Conditions Assessment (Phase 1), Proposed Development at Beadles Volkswagen Van Centre, Comet Way, Hatfield).



1.3 Outline Scope of Work

- 1.3.1 The GI comprised a combined geotechnical and Phase 2 geoenvironmental investigation with the site works completed in March 2020. In summary the site work consisted of:
 - The drilling of three Cable Percussion (CP) boreholes (designated CP01 to CP03) to a maximum depth of 30m.
 - The drilling of eight Windowless Sample (WS) boreholes (designated WS01 to WS08) to a maximum depth of 5m.
 - Construction of groundwater/ground gas monitoring installations in two of the completed CP boreholes (CP01 and CP02) and five of the DS boreholes (WS01, WS02, WS04, WS05 & WS06).
 - Geoenvironmental laboratory analysis of recovered soil samples.
 - Field geotechnical testing on soil samples and laboratory geotechnical analysis on recovered soil samples.
- 1.3.2 Each exploratory hole location was subject to a buried services scan using electromagnetic and ground penetrating radar techniques. Inspection pits were excavated by hand at each exploratory location to a depth of 1.2m.
- 1.3.3 Coring of concrete or macadam hardstanding was used in areas of hardstanding surface followed by a hand-excavated inspection pit to 1.2m.
- 1.3.4 A more detailed description of the ground investigation works undertaken is provided in Section 3, below.



2 The Site

2.1 Site Location and Description

- 2.1.1 The Site occupies an area of approximately 0.50 hectares (ha) and comprises a van dealership and an asphalt surfaced forecourt/parking area.
- 2.1.2 The Site is located at approximate National Grid Reference TL 21655 08780 (Figure 1), immediately west of Comet Way in Hatfield.
- 2.1.3 The site is currently used as a car dealership comprising a showroom, offices, limited active workshop facilities, restricted to an active MOT bay, with the workshop area currently utilised for storage of vehicles only. A car valeting area is present to the rear of the main dealership building. A substation is located in the north of the main forecourt area. Eight identified Underground Storage Tanks (UST) were present to the immediate east of the workshop/office building. Further tanks are considered likely to still be present based on information supplied by the Petroleum Officer. A more detailed description of the Site is provided in the Phase 1 GCA.
- 2.1.4 The Site is bound to the south by a pedestrian underpass and Jetliner Way, to the west by Goldsmith Way and to the north by an electricity substation and the car park of an adjacent restaurant. The A1(m) is present at depth within the Hatfield tunnel approximately 30m east of the Site.

2.2 Geology

- 2.2.1 The geology of the Site has been determined via reference to online resources (www.bgs.ac.uk) and the 1:50,000 scale Geological Survey map of Hertford, Sheet 239, Soil and Drift (BGS, 1978). The site is situated upon Quaternary deposits of Lowestoft Formation (Diamicton) and Kesgrave Catchment Subgroup (Sand and Gravel), overlying the Cretaceous age Lewes Nodular and Seaford Chalk Formation (Undifferentiated).
- 2.2.2 These formations are described by the British Geological Survey (BGS) as:
 - Diamicton (Boulder Clay) of the Lowestoft Formation "chalky till, together with outwash sands and gravels, silts and clays. The till is characterised by its chalk and flint content". The BGS state that this unit is of variable thickness of up to 60m.
 - Kesgrave Catchment Subgroup (Sand and Gravel) "cross-bedded and massive, moderately sorted sand and gravel".
 - Lewes Nodular Chalk Formation and Seaford Chalk Formation (undifferentiated) "Chalk with flints. With discrete marl seams, nodular chalk, sponge-rich and flint seams throughout".
- 2.2.3 The BGS borehole archive holds records of numerous boreholes within the vicinity of the Site boundary, however, it is noted that none of these boreholes were completed to a depth that proves the Chalk interface. A summary of the closest boreholes, with relevance to the Site in terms of encountered geology, ground level and presence of the Chalk are detailed in the table below.

Borehole,	Interpreted	From	To	Thickness (m)
Distance from site	Lithology	(m bgl)	(m bgl)	
TL20NW408	Topsoil	0.0	1.2	1.2

Table 2.1BGS Historical Borehole Records

Phase 2 Ground Investigation Report

Proposed Development at Advantage Cars, Comet Way, Hatfield



Borehole, Distance from site	Interpreted Lithology	From (m bgl)	To (m bgl)	Thickness (m)
(120m north)	Glacial Deposits	1.2	21.4	20.2
	Chalk	21.4	26.0	>4.6
	Fill	0.0	3.0	3.0
TL20NW430 (175m north-east)	Glacial Deposits	3.0	20.0	17.0
	Chalk	20.0	30.0	>10.0
	Fill	0.0	0.2	0.2
TL20NW184 (290m south-west)	Glacial Deposits	0.2	22.6	22.4
	Chalk	22.6	30.5	>7.9

- 2.2.4 The Phase 1 GCA concluded that the Site has a **Moderately High** risk of the occurrence of Natural Cavities associated with solution features due to dissolution of the chalk bedrock.
- 2.2.5 The desk study concluded that the potential for past chalk mining at the Site is considered to be **Low**.

2.3 Site History

- 2.3.1 A detailed Site history is presented in the Phase 1 GCA and is summarised below.
- 2.3.2 The Site remained as open undeveloped land until the construction of a horseshoe shaped structure in the 1930s, later recorded as a 'Garage'.
- 2.3.3 Few changes are recorded until the 1970s when a new garage structure was constructed in the east of the Site between the existing garage and the eastern Site boundary.
- 2.3.4 Various alterations occurred to the original horseshoe shaped garage and the 1970s garage during the late 1980s/early 1990s, a new rectangular garage building was constructed in the centre of the Site. and an electricity substation was constructed adjacent to the northern corner of the garage.
- 2.3.5 Up to 22 single skinned steel underground storage tanks are or have been present at the Site during its use as a garage and filling station. Installed between 1961 and 1989 and all subsequently infilled or decommissioned by 2005.
- 2.3.6 By 2005 the existing Site layout had been established.



3 Ground Investigation

3.1 Scope of Investigation

- 3.1.1 Boreholes CP01, WS01 and WS02 were proposed to identify potential presence of contamination due to the garage work area and cleaning facilities and the potential impact on deep groundwater within the chalk.
- 3.1.2 WS05 was proposed to understand any contamination caused by above ground oil storage tanks.
- 3.1.3 CP02 and WS08 were located to highlight potential historical contamination from when the area housed a garage structure for the De Haviland Aerodrome site as highlighted in the historical land uses within the Phase 1 GCA.
- 3.1.4 WS06 and WS07 were targeted to investigate the presence of contamination associated with a group of disused USTS that were indicated in the Petroleum Officer report to be present beneath the forecourt.
- 3.1.5 Remaining holes CP03 and WS03 positioned to investigate the remaining extent of the site.
- 3.1.6 The exploratory hole locations are presented on Figure 2.

Constraints

- 3.1.7 At the time of the GI, the Site was in active use as a car sales showroom. Exploratory positions were not advanced within the footprint of the existing buildings and were constrained in the forecourt areas by ongoing Site activities.
- 3.1.8 Across the external areas of the Site, the locations of the exploratory positions were chosen to avoid obstructions and existing infrastructure above and below ground including USTs, fuel distribution pipework and other services identified on plans and through survey work.
- 3.1.9 Boreholes were adopted in preference to machine-excavated trial pits to minimise disturbance at the Site to site activities.

Cable Percussion Boreholes

- 3.1.10 Three boreholes of nominal 150mm diameter were sunk using conventional light cable percussion techniques (CP01, CP02 and CP03). Disturbed small and bulk samples were taken and standard penetration tests (SPTs) were carried out using both the split spoon sampler and cone. The SPTs were carried out every 1m to 5m bgl, then every 1.5m from then on with disturbed samples being taken from the split-spoon sampler when in cohesive strata. CP01 and CP02 were completed to their target depths. CP03 was terminated at 1.00m bgl on reinforced concrete.
- 3.1.11 On completion, 50mm diameter groundwater and ground gas monitoring wells were constructed in CP01 and CP02. Standpipe piezometers were installed and sealed with plain section within the Made Ground to prevent downwards migration of any perched water to lower natural strata. The remaining slotted section pipework was encased in a gravel filter pack. The installation was completed with a rubber bung and gas tap and a flush mounted daisy cover concreted in place. CP03 was backfilled with arisings and sealed with concrete flush with the surrounding surface.
- 3.1.12 The cable percussion borehole records with engineer descriptions are included in Appendix A.



Dynamic Sampling/ Windowless Sampler Boreholes

- 3.1.13 Dynamic sampling techniques were used to construct WS boreholes at eight locations within the Site (WS01, WS02, WS03, WS04, WS05, WS06, WS07 & WS08) to a target depth of 5.0m bgl.
- 3.1.14 Continuous soil cores were recovered from the windowless sampler boreholes in PVC liners, which were split to enable detailed logging of all exploratory locations by the Site Engineer in accordance with BS 5930:2015 and BS EN ISO 14688. The hand dug pits were also logged by inspection of the in-situ pit sides and disturbed arisings.
- 3.1.15 On completion, WS boreholes WS01, WS02, WS04, WS05 and WS06 were installed with nominal 50mm diameter groundwater and ground gas monitoring pipework. The response zones of each installation were located within the Lowestoft Formation and sealed above to prevent downwards migration of any perched water within the Made Ground. The pipework was encased in a gravel filter pack and sealed from ground level using one metre of bentonite pellets and a flush cover concreted in place. The remaining windowless sampler boreholes were backfilled with arisings upon completion.
- 3.1.16 Records of the WS boreholes are included in Appendix A.

3.2 Soil Sampling

- 3.2.1 Representative disturbed soil samples were recovered during the GI and transported with a completed chain of custody form to the selected accredited laboratory.
- 3.2.2 Samples of the soils were recovered for geoenvironmental laboratory analysis. Disposable nitrile gloves and clean sampling tools were used during handling of the recovered soils. To prevent cross contamination, all sampling jars and equipment were transported in clean plastic containers and stored separately from the retained samples. Samples were stored in laboratory provided coolboxes with frozen ice packs and couriered to the chosen laboratory following completion of the fieldwork.
- 3.2.3 Small disturbed soil samples were collected every half metre, placed in clean food grade plastic bags and allowed to rest for approximately 15 minutes prior to monitoring for the presence of total Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) using a MiniRAE 2000 Photo-Ionisation Detector (PID) to provide a qualitative indication of the presence of VOCs within soils beneath the Site.

3.3 Laboratory Analysis

Geoenvironmental Laboratory Analysis

- 3.3.1 Chemtest Laboratories, who hold UKAS accreditation (Laboratory No 2183) and MCERTS accreditation, were commissioned by Stantec to undertake the required geoenvironmental laboratory analysis. The analytical suite adopted was designed on the basis of the potential sources of contamination (notably hydrocarbons and metals resulting from the Site's former fuel filling station use) identified during the Phase 1 GCA.
- 3.3.2 A summary of the scheduled geoenvironmental soil analysis undertaken is presented in the Table below. The selected potential contaminants of concern is based on the current and historical use of the Site.

Fable 3.1	Summary of	Scheduled	Geoenvironmental	Laboratory J	Analysis (Soils)

Description	Number of Tests
Asbestos	11



Description	Number of Tests
(Screening and identification and quantification if present)	
Metals Suite	11
Volatile Organic Compound (VOCs)	3
Speciated Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons (TPH CWG)	14
Speciated Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (16 PAH)	14
рН	5
PCBs	2

3.3.3 The geoenvironmental laboratory analysis certificates for soils are presented in Appendix B.

Geotechnical Laboratory Analysis

3.3.4 Geotechnical laboratory analysis was undertaken by Soil Property Testing Ltd, who hold UKAS accreditation Laboratory No 0998, for general classification properties. The geotechnical laboratory analysis certificates are included in Appendix C.

3.4 Post-fieldwork Monitoring & Sampling

Groundwater Monitoring

3.4.1 Groundwater levels were recorded during the four post-completion monitoring visits undertaken between 20/03/2020 and 21/07/2020.

Groundwater Sampling

- 3.4.2 Groundwater samples were collected from CP01 and CP02 during monitoring on the 7th July 2020 and were submitted to Derwent Environmental Testing Services (DETS) for analysis.
- 3.4.3 The samples were analysed for the suite identified in Table 3.2 below, designed on the basis of the potential sources of contamination (notably hydrocarbons and metals resulting from the Site's former fuel filling station use) identified during the Phase 1 GCA:

 Table 3.2
 Summary of Scheduled Geoenvironmental Laboratory Analysis (Waters)



3.4.4 The groundwater laboratory analysis certificates are presented in Appendix B.



Ground Gas Monitoring

- 3.4.5 Ground gas monitoring visits were carried out between 20th of March 2020 and 21st July 2017 using a Gas Data GFM 436 landfill gas analyser and/or a Geotech GA5000 landfill gas analyser.
- 3.4.6 The ground gas monitoring results are included in **Appendix D** and the initial findings discussed further below in **Section 5.5**.



4 Ground Conditions Summary

4.1 Stratigraphy

4.1.1 The ground conditions encountered during the ground investigation were found to be as anticipated based on the desk study review of the geology of the area and are summarised in Table 4.1 below.

Table 4.1 Summary of Encountered Stratigraphy

Formation	Top Depth Range (bgl)	Base Depth Range (bgl)	Base Elevation Range (OD)
Made Ground	Ground Level	0.25m - 1.70m*	75.8m to 74.7m
Lowestoft Formation	0.25m - 1.70m	16.10m – 16.40m	59.83m to 59.73m
Kesgrave Catchment Group	16.10m – 16.40m	19.20m – 21.80m	56.73m to 54.33m
Lewes Nodular Chalk Formation	19.20m – 21.80m	Proved to 30.0m	Not proved

*Where the full thickness of Made Ground was proved, the maximum thickness was 1.70m, however the base was not proved in all boreholes due to the presence of near-surface obstructions.

Made Ground

- 4.1.2 The Made Ground was found to comprise a layer of asphalt or concrete surfacing between 0.1m and 0.2m thick, overlying either sand gravelly clay or granular materials with varying fines content. The exceptions were in CP03 and WS07 where the holes were terminated due to refusal in concrete at 1.0m and 0.7m bgl respectively.
- 4.1.3 Buried asphalt layers and buried concrete were recorded in the Made Ground as follows:
 - WS01 recorded at 0.33m thick buried former asphalt surfacing layer at 0.7m bgl;
 - WS06 recorded a 0.1m thick concrete slab at 0.7m bgl; and,
 - WS07 recorded concrete at 0.7m bgl which could have been a former pavement layer or possibly a former foundation.
- 4.1.4 Locally, a plastic membrane was present beneath both the current concrete surface (WS02 & WS07) and beneath the buried historical asphalt surface (WS01).
- 4.1.5 The granular materials varied from sandy gravels of brick and flint, locally with asphalt and concrete cobbles, to clayey sandy flint and chalk gravels. The cohesive materials were described as either 'soft' or 'firm' clays with varying sand and gravel contents with cobbles locally recorded. The granular fraction was typically brick or flint occasionally with concrete and asphalt.

Lowestoft Formation

4.1.7 The Lowestoft Formation was found to comprise three distinct groups of substrata, as follows:



- Upper cohesive strata to between 1.9m to 2.6m bgl (74m to 73.4m OD), overlying;
- Granular strata to between 8.8m to 9.3m bgl (67.3m to 66.6m OD), overlying;
- Lower cohesive strata to between 16.1m to 16.4m bgl (59.8m to 59.7m OD).
- 4.1.8 **Upper cohesive strata** These typically comprise yellowish brown slightly sandy slightly gravelly clay, locally with thin granular strata. The deposit varied in thickness between 0.75m (WS06) and 2.25m (WS04). Consistency is described variously as 'soft', 'soft to firm', 'firm' and locally 'stiff'. The gravel fraction typically comprises flint and chalk.
- 4.1.9 The results of classification tests are presented on a plasticity chart below, with measured values of plasticity index (corrected for coarse material content) of between 5 and 16% (mean of 12%). These values indicate the material ranges between low and intermediate plasticity and is of low volume change potential according to BRE Digest 240.



Figure 4.1 - Lowestoft Formation Plasticity Chart

4.1.10 SPT N₆₀ values ranged between 1 and 56 with a mean of 22 (see Figure 4.2 below).







- 4.1.11 **Granular strata** These typically comprise yellow to reddish brown variably gravelly clayey sands or very sandy slightly silty subrounded to rounded gravel locally with thin gravelly clay strata. The full thickness of the granular material was recorded in CP01 and CP02 only, recorded as 6.5m and 7.4m thick respectively.
- 4.1.12 SPT N_{60} values (see Figure 4.2) range between 8 and 47 (with a mean of 22) indicating the granular materials to exist in a loose to dense state.



- 4.1.13 **Lower cohesive strata** These were recorded in CP01 and CP02 only where they were 7.6m and 6.8m thick respectively. The deposit is recorded as stiff dark grey slightly gravelly slightly sandy silty clay. Consistency is described 'stiff'. The gravel fraction typically comprises flint and chalk.
- 4.1.14 The results of classification tests are presented in **Figure 4.1** above, with measured values of plasticity index (corrected for coarse material content) of between 11 and 24% (mean of 24%). These values indicate the material ranges between low and intermediate plasticity and is typically of medium high volume-change potential according to BRE Digest 240.
- 4.1.15 SPT N₆₀ values ranged widely between 19 and 66 with a mean of 44 (see Figure 4.2 above).
- 4.1.16 Two undrained triaxial tests recorded undrained shear strengths of 312 and 287kN/m² indicating a very stiff material. The same tests recorded bulk density values of 21.2 and 21.9kN/m³.

Kesgrave Catchment Subgroup – Kesgrave Sands and Gravels

- 4.1.17 The Lowestoft Formation is directly underlain by the Kesgrave Catchment Subgroup which was recorded as comprising orange brown variably clayey sands and gravels that were recorded to be 5.4m and 3.1m thick in CP01 and CP02 respectively.
- 4.1.18 SPT N_{60} values (see Figure 4.2) ranged between 21 and 40 (with a mean of 28) indicating the granular materials to exist in a medium dense to dense state.

Lewes Nodular Chalk Formation

- 4.1.19 Chalk underlies the Kesgrave Catchment Subgroup and was recorded in CP01 and CP02 only at depths of 21.80 and 19.20m bgl respectively. This variability in depth suggests erosion into the top of the deposit at the time of deposition of the Kesgrave Catchment Subgroup.
- 4.1.20 The Chalk was recovered from the boreholes as a white structureless chalk composed of silty subangular to subrounded chalk fragments with some flint. This appearance of the recovered chalk as structureless is due to the cable percussion drilling techniques. SPT N₆₀ values (see **Figure 4.2**) ranged between 22 and 88 (with a mean of 38). The data suggests an increase in N value with depth as would be normally anticipated.
- 4.1.21 As a general rule chalk is considered to be structured when SPT N₆₀ values exceed 25 and therefore the SPT data indicates that generally structured chalk was encountered by the deep boreholes, with localised horizons of weaker, structureless chalk.

4.2 **Obstructions**

- 4.2.1 Reinforced concrete was identified below the macadam surfacing to a depth of 1.0m bgl in the location of CP03, positioned to provide ground condition information in this part of the site and to provide groundwater monitoring coverage. Owing to the depth and the strength of the concrete encountered it was not possible to advance this location. The concrete is likely associated with the decommissioned USTs identified in the petroleum officer report in the Phase 1 GCA report.
- 4.2.2 Reinforced concrete was also encountered below the macadam surfacing and made ground at a depth of 0.7m bgl in location WS07, again this is likely associated with USTs identified as being decommissioned in the petroleum officer report in the Phase 1 GCA report.

4.3 Visual and Olfactory Evidence of Contamination

4.3.1 Visual and olfactory evidence of hydrocarbon contamination was identified within CP01, WS02 and WS06 with the presence of green staining within clay arisings, indicative of hydrocarbons presence.



- 4.3.2 A "hydrocarbon odour" was noted at 1.0m bgl in WS02, located in the western corner of the Site, not near the recorded locations of any known historical or existing Underground Storage Tanks (USTs), but near two existing areas of oil drum storage, the vehicle valeting area and the MOT test bay. A "strong hydrocarbon odour" was noted at 0.75m bgl in WS06, located in the centre of the Site and near the locations of several former (decommissioned) USTs.
- 4.3.3 Samples of these materials were taken from these layers of potential contamination recovered and were scheduled for geoenvironmental laboratory analysis. The results discussed in Section 5, below and the laboratory certificates are presented in Appendix B.
- 4.3.4 Measurements of VOCs were obtained at approximately 0.5m intervals in each borehole. These were typically below 5.0 parts per million (ppm), with the following exceptions:
 - WS02 at 2.0m depth 46.6ppm
 - WS04 at 2.0m depth 18.9ppm
 - WS06 at 2.0m depth 58.0ppm
 - WS06 at 2.5m depth 5.7ppm
 - WS08 at 3.0m depth 17.7ppm
- 4.3.5 The elevated readings in WS02 and WS06 correspond to the locations of odours detected during the GI, though occur at a deeper depth, suggesting that the more mobile, volatile contaminants have migrated downwards. The readings detected in WS04 and WS08 do not correspond with other visual/olfactory indicators of contamination.
- 4.3.6 Potential Asbestos Containing Materials (ACMs) were not visually noted within any of the exploratory holes.

4.4 Groundwater

- 4.4.1 Groundwater strikes were not recorded in the WS boreholes, sunk to 5m depth through the Made Ground and into the upper part of the Lowestoft Formation.
- 4.4.2 Groundwater strikes were recorded during drilling in CP01 (16.4m bgl, rising to 16.2m bgl over a 20-minute period) and CP02 (16.1m bgl, rising to 15.6m over a 20-minute period).
- 4.4.3 During subsequent groundwater monitoring visits (20/03/2020, 07/07/2020, 14/07/2020 and 20/07/2020) boreholes WS01, WS02, WS04 and WS06 have remained dry, WS05 has recorded water at 4.95m bgl during each visit, however this is likely to be water remaining within the end cap of the installed standpipe and not representative of groundwater.
- 4.4.4 Groundwater levels in CP01 have been recorded between of 13.59m bgl (62.54mAOD) and 15.64mbgl (60.49mAOD). Groundwater levels in CP02 have been recorded between 15.23m bgl (60.70mAOD) and 15.64m bgl (60.29mAOD). On the basis of the monitoring undertaken, a groundwater table appears to be present at approximately 15.6m bgl.
- 4.4.5 It is considered that the groundwater levels recorded indicate the presence of a sub-artesian groundwater table within the Kesgrave Subcatchment Group, where groundwater is confined from rising upwards by the presence of the cohesive clay layer at the base of the Lowestoft Formation.



5 Tier 2 Environmental Data Review and Risk Assessment

5.1 Approach

5.1.1 In accordance with the Stantec Methodology for the Assessment of Potentially Contaminated Land (Appendix E), the measured concentrations of potential contaminants determined as part of the ground investigation have been compared with published criteria for a defined end-use. If concentrations are below the screening criterion for a specified end-use, the parameter is deemed not to be a potential hazard and is not considered further. A concentration above the screening criterion identifies the parameter is considered as a possible hazard and indicates that either further assessment or risk management is required.

5.2 Assessment Criteria

Soil

- 5.2.1 The Stantec rationale for the selection of Generic Assessment Criteria (GAC) has been used for this assessment and is presented in Appendix F.
- 5.2.2 The assessment criteria for a residential end-use without plant uptake (growing of home grown produce) have been used as it is considered that this is the most appropriate for the proposed redevelopment.
- 5.2.3 Where the criterion for a parameter is dependent on the Soil Organic Matter (SOM) content, the vales for SOM of 1% has been used. This is considered to provide a conservative assessment in the absence of SOM analysis.

Groundwater

- 5.2.4 The Stantec Rationale for the Selection of Generic Assessment Criteria (GAC) has been used for this assessment and is presented in **Appendix E**.
- 5.2.5 The nearest surface water receptor to the Site, as identified by the Phase 1 GCA is the Ellenbrook, located approximately 900m west of the Site. The Site is located within Zone 2 of a groundwater Source Protection Zone (SPZ) likely to be associated with a groundwater abstraction borehole located approximately 1km to the south of the Site. In addition, the Site is located within a Drinking Water Safeguard Zone (DWSZ) for groundwater.
- 5.2.6 Given the absence of a nearby surface water receptor, and the presence of both an SPZ and a DWSG the assessment criteria for protection of Human Health (the Drinking Water Standards) have been used.

5.3 Review of Soil Chemical Testing Data

- 5.3.1 The laboratory certificates for the soil analyses are presented in **Appendix B** along with as table comparison to the selected criteria.
- 5.3.2 In summary, one sample (WS07 at 0.5m bgl) contained an elevated concentration of lead at the criteria threshold for residential end use (without home produce). In addition, a single positive identification of asbestos was found in the soils scheduled for analysis at WS06.
- 5.3.3 Remaining analyses did not identify any other potential contaminants above the relevant assessment criteria.



- 5.3.4 Of the eleven soil samples analysed, one(WS07 at 0.5m), recorded the presence of amosite asbestos. The laboratory described the recorded asbestos as 'board' and the laboratory gravimetric analysis stated that the asbestos represented 0.005% of the sample by weight.
- 5.3.5 Hydrocarbon odours were recorded at 1.0m depth in WS02. The samples from WS02 (recovered at 0.8m and 2.00m depth) recorded concentrations of hydrocarbons (both TPHs and PAHs) below the laboratory Limit of Detection (LOD). Similarly, hydrocarbon odours were recorded at 0.75m depth in WS06. The samples from WS06 (recovered at 0.7m and 1.9m depth) recorded concentrations of both TPHs and PAHs either less than, or only marginally excess of, the laboratory LOD.

Hydrocarbon Hazard Index

5.3.6 As described in the Stantec Methodology (Appendix E), calculation of the hydrocarbon Hazard Index (HI) has been undertaken. The calculated HI was well below unity (1) for a residential without home-grown produce end-use for all soil samples tested, indicating that the measured hydrocarbons as a combination do not present a significant risk of harm to human health.

5.4 Review of Groundwater Data

5.4.1 The certificates for the geoenvironmental laboratory analysis undertaken on the samples of groundwater during routine monitoring on 07/07/2020 from CP01 and CP02 are **Appendix B** and compared against the Drinking Water Standards in the Table 5.2 below.

Determinand	Minimum Concentration	Maximum Concentration	Pass/Fail (number exceeding Drinking Water Standard)
Total Cyanide	<5	<5	PASS
Arsenic (dissolved)	<5	<5	PASS
Cadmium (dissolved)	<0.4	<0.4	PASS
Chromium (dissolved)	<5	8	PASS
Copper (dissolved)	<5	<5	PASS
Lead (dissolved)	<5	<5	PASS
Mercury (dissolved)	<0.05	0.13	PASS
Nickel (dissolved)	<5	<5	PASS
Selenium (dissolved)	<5	<5	PASS
Zinc (dissolved)	<2	<2	PASS
Total Phenols (monohydric)	<10	<10	PASS
PAHs (USEPA16 Total) ¹	<0.01	<0.01	PASS
Total TPH ²	<140	<140	PASS
Benzene	<1	<1	PASS
Toluene	<3	<3	PASS

Table 5.2 Groundwater Geoenvironmental Laboratory Analysis Summary

Phase 2 Ground Investigation Report Proposed Development at Advantage Cars, Comet Way, Hatfield



Determinand	Minimum Concentration	Maximum Concentration	Pass/Fail (number exceeding Drinking Water Standard)
Ethylbenzene	<5	<5	PASS
Xylenes	<10	<10	PASS
MTBE	<10	<10	PASS

 The concentration of each individual of the USEPA16 PAHs was less than the laboratory limit of detection of 0.01µg/l.

2) The concentration of each TPHCWG band, for both aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, was less than the laboratory limit of detection of 10.0μg/l.

- 5.4.2 As is evident from the table above, the concentrations of all CoPC were found to be below the adopted GAC for the relevant end-use.
- 5.4.3 It is notable that dissolved phase concentrations of hydrocarbons (either TPH or PAH) in excess of the laboratory limit of detection have not been recorded.

5.5 Review of Ground Gas Data

- 5.5.1 Ground gas spot monitoring has been carried out on four occasions, as described in Section 3.4.5 above, with some monitoring events particularly targeted to correspond with low and falling atmospheric pressure conditions. Falling atmospheric pressure is associated with gas migration potential as it causes gas to expand and come out of the ground. However, this is only likely to occur where there are open pathways in the ground and not for soils with low permeability (Card et al, 2019a). Monitoring has been undertaken on the following occasions:
 - 20/03/2020 1009 millibar (mb), wider trend of static pressure
 - 07/07/2020 1001 mb, wider trend of falling pressure
 - 14/07/2020 998 mb, wider trend of static pressure
 - 21/07/2020 1023mb, wider trend of falling pressure
- 5.5.2 Given the data above, and considering the potential for ground gas generation and lack of relevant sources in proximity to the Site, it is considered that the gas monitoring carried out to date is sufficient to enable a suitable assessment of the ground gas regime at the Site and the requirements for mitigation measures for the proposed development. It is worth noting that no sources of organic matter were observed in the exploratory hole arisings during the ground investigation.
- 5.5.3 Negative gas flow rates were recorded in boreholes WS01 and WS02. Negative gas flow rates are often associated with pressures in the ground being below that of atmospheric pressure (typical for ground with limited permeability and negligible gas generation) resulting in a flow into the borehole and a negative gas flow rate.
- 5.5.4 The steady-state concentrations of ground gases and ground gas flow rates measured in the gas monitoring wells installed in the boreholes are summarised in the following table.



Table 5.2Summary of Ground Gas Monitoring Information

Exploratory Hole	Flow (l/hr)	Carbon Dioxide* (%v/v)	Oxygen** (%v/v)	Methane* (%v/v)
CP01	<0.1	3.2	12.2	<0.1
CP02	<0.1	3.7	13.8	<0.1
WS01	-0.4 to 0.1	2.7	15.5	<0.1
WS02	-0.4 to 0.1	2.0	16.2	<0.1
WS04	<0.1	3.9	14.3	<0.1
WS05	<0.1	1.3	16.8	<0.1
WS06	<0.1	1.9	15.6	<0.1

* Maximum measured steady-state value.

** Minimum measured steady-state value.

Calculation of Gas Screening Values

- 5.5.5 Using the procedure for classifying gassing sites proposed by BS 8485:2015 + A1:2019, Gas Screening Values (GSVs) have been calculated for both carbon dioxide and methane for each monitoring visit to each borehole.
- 5.5.6 For the purposes of the assessment below, a gas concentration of less than the LOD of the monitoring instrument is treated as 100 per cent of the LOD (i.e. 0.1%v/v).
- 5.5.7 Negligible steady-state gas flow rates have been recorded during the monitoring visits. For the purposes of the assessment below, a flow rate of less than the LOD is treated as 100 per cent of the LOD (i.e. 0.1 L/hr). As described in BS8484:2015 + A1:2019 where a negative flow rate has been recorded, it has been assessed as a positive flow rate of the same magnitude.
- 5.5.8 The calculated GSVs range from 0.0001 to 0.0039 L/hr for carbon dioxide and from 0.0001 to 0.0004 L/hr for methane. These GSVs correspond to a very low hazard potential and a site classification of Characteristic Situation (CS) 1 as per Table 2 of BS 8485. The GSV limit between CS 1 and CS 2 is 0.07 L/hr.
- 5.5.9 As advocated by BS8485, further assessment has been undertaken using the highest flow rates and gas concentrations recorded within each borehole whereon the calculated GSVs range from 0.0001 to 0.0108 L/hr (CS1) for carbon dioxide and from 0.0001 to 0.0004 L/hr (CS1) for methane (CS1).
- 5.5.10 Finally, as also advocated by BS8485, a 'worst-case' check has been undertaken using the highest flow rates and gas concentrations recorded across all monitoring visits combined and in any borehole across all monitoring visits combined. The calculated GSVs are 0.0156 L/hr (CS1) for carbon dioxide and 0.0004 L/hr (CS1) for methane (CS1).
- 5.5.11 On the basis of the above, it is concluded that a classification of CS1 is appropriate and ground gas protection measures are therefore not required.
- 5.5.12 It should be noted that the ground floor of the development is proposed to be undercroft parking, further negating the risk presented by the potential ingress of ground gases and vapours.



6 Tier 2 Generic Quantitative Risk Assessment

6.1 Hazard Classification

- 6.1.1 Using Stantec's Methodology (Appendix E), the historical context of the Site as described in the Phase 1 GCA, the ground conditions encountered during the GI, and the results of the associated laboratory analyses, the potential for significant contamination to be present at the Site has been assessed to be Low (2). As described in Table 1 of the Methodology, a classification of Low describes a Site with the potential for "locally slightly elevated concentrations".
- 6.1.2 Whilst it is recognised that the GI did not reveal the presence of elevated concentrations of potential contaminants, it is also recognised that there are numerous USTs and fuel distribution pipework at the Site which it has not been possible to investigate and therefore there is potential for contamination associated with USTs to be present. Contamination may also be present beneath the existing buildings which have likewise not been investigated due to the ongoing use of the Site as a van dealership.

6.2 **Potential Receptors & Sensitivity Score**

6.2.1 As described in the Phase 1 GCA, the receptors considered as part of this land contamination assessment are summarised in the table below. Sensitivity scores are allocated in accordance with the Stantec Methodology (Appendix E) with a score of 5 being the highest, most sensitive category and a score of 1 being the lowest. The sensitivity score informs the consequence element of the risk estimation process.

Receptor Type	Comment	Sensitivity Score
Human Health – On-site Current Users	Staff and customers of van dealership	4
Human Health – On-site future Users	Residents of proposed buildings	5
Human Health –Construction	Anticipated construction workers, future maintenance workers	4
Human Health - Neighbours	Residents of nearby residential properties	5
Groundwater	Superficial Deposits - Secondary Undifferentiated Aquifer Chalk Bedrock - Principal Aquifer in	1
	SPZ 2	4
Surface Water	Eliminated – Surface water features in the vicinity of the Site have not been identified	Eliminated
Property - Buildings	Existing van dealership, Proposed multi-storey residential structures with basement.	1
Property - Animal or Crop Effect	Receptor not identified	Eliminated
Ecological Systems	Designated sites are not present in the vicinity of the Site.	Eliminated

Table 6.1 Potential Receptors and Sensitivity Score



6.3 **Potential Exposure Pathways**

6.3.1 The Stantec methodology (Appendix E) Table 2 describes possible exposure pathways for each receptor type. Each of these possible pathways is then identified as viable or not when assessing the probability of the source of contamination causing a consequence to a defined receptor.

6.4 **Risk Estimation**

- 6.4.1 When there is a pollutant linkage (and therefore some measure of risk) it is necessary to determine whether the risk is significant and therefore whether further action is required.
- 6.4.2 Risk estimation involves predicting the likely consequence (what degree of harm might result) and the probability that the consequences will arise (how likely the outcome is).
- 6.4.3 Based on the information available, the estimated risks have been designated with further comments in the sections below.
- 6.4.4 A summary of the estimated risks is presented in the table below.

Receptor	Risk Estimation
Human Health (On-site Current Users)	Very Low
Human Health (On-site Future Users)	Low
Human Health – Construction	Low
Human Health - Neighbours	Very Low
Groundwater – Shallow superficial aquifer	Very Low
Groundwater – Deep bedrock aquifer	Low
Surface Water	Eliminated
Property - Buildings	Very Low
Property (Animal/Crop)	Eliminated
Ecological Systems	Eliminated

Table 6.2 Worst-Case Risk Estimation

6.5 Risk Evaluation

- 6.5.1 Possible pollutant linkages are determined using professional judgement. If a linkage is considered plausible with some associated risk, even if estimated to be Low, it is considered that this represents a potentially 'unacceptable risk' and therefore requires further consideration. Risk reduction can be achieved through implementation of remediation or mitigation measures or through further tiers of assessment following collection of Site-specific data.
- 6.5.2 In absence of any mitigation, possible pollutant linkages have been identified for human health, controlled water and building, albeit the level of risk from on-Site sources is Very Low to Low.



6.6 Data Gaps and Uncertainty

- 6.6.1 There are numerous USTs and areas of fuel distribution pipework which it has not been possible to investigate and therefore there is potential for contamination associated with this infrastructure to be present.
- 6.6.2 Contamination may also be present beneath the existing buildings which have likewise not been investigated due to the ongoing use of the Site as a van dealership.



7 Outline Remediation Strategy

7.1 Introduction

- 7.1.1 The technical options for risk management include one or more of the following: -
 - Modification of the source remediation as treatment of soil and/or groundwater or removal of point sources such as USTs;
 - Modification of the exposure pathway referred to as mitigation measures; and,
 - Modification of the receptor changes to the nature or location of the end-use.
- 7.1.2 The preferred option is therefore to manage exposure pathways. It should be noted that changes to the nature of the end use and layout of the development could affect the approaches in the outline remedial strategy.

7.2 Removal of USTs

- 7.2.1 Whilst the management of exposure pathways is typically preferred, it will be necessary to remove the USTs at the Site to facilitate the construction of the proposed development.
- 7.2.2 At the same time as the tank removal it will also be necessary to remove any associated fuel lines or off-set fill points associated with the distribution infrastructure. Care should be taken to ensure these fuel lines do not contain any residual fuel that could result in spillage when they are removed.
- 7.2.3 The removal of sludges, liquids and gases should be undertaken in-situ if possible and in a manner to minimize the potential for spillage during tank emptying. Any movement of the tank prior to emptying must be undertaken in a manner which does not compromise the integrity of the tank and to prevent uncontrolled release during removal and transit. Removed tanks/distribution lines should be stored in a bunded area pending testing and off-site disposal to a licenced waste management facility
- 7.2.4 Any concrete or foam used to fill the tanks should also be removed by the breaking open of the tanks and this should be disposed of by a licensed haulier in a controlled manner; it is likely that these material wills be contaminated, so any on-site stockpiling of these materials should be avoided. It is preferential to have these contaminated materials immediately removed from the Site.
- 7.2.5 Once the tanks and any fill materials have been removed the concrete tank cradles should be broken out and removed so that any residual contamination in the resultant excavation can be inspected and assessed.
- 7.2.6 The excavation perimeter should be surveyed or measured in to known on-site benchmarks and recorded on a site plan.
- 7.2.7 Prior to backfilling of the excavation, validation sampling will be required to ensure that any contaminated soils surrounding the tanks and distribution pipework have been removed.
- 7.2.8 Excavations shall only be backfilled where they are free from water and other liquids and following removal of free phase hydrocarbon impacted soils.



7.3 Unexpected Ground Conditions

- 7.3.1 If any unusual solid materials or liquids are encountered during the construction works in previously unidentified areas of potential contamination, they will be dealt with in line with an agreed protocol.
- 7.3.2 Soil will either be sampled in-situ in the ground by a suitably experienced geoenvironmental engineer (and left undisturbed while the samples are tested and the results interpreted) or excavated and stockpiled in an appropriate manner while verification testing for potential contamination is carried out. The storage area will be designed to ensure that contamination does not migrate and affect other areas of the Site. Where remediation of unidentified sources of contamination is required, a remediation/mitigation strategy and verification plan will be prepared and agreed with the Local Planning Authority before implementation.

7.4 Legislative Compliance and Permits/Licenses

7.4.1 The Principal Contractor (PC) will have responsibility for ensuring legislative compliance and obtaining all permits/licenses as required. The following are highlighted but should not be considered the only aspects to addressed.

Control of Asbestos Regulations (CAR) 2012

7.4.2 The PC will undertake a risk assessment to determine whether or not the works are required to comply with CAR.

Soil Excavation – Re-Use and Disposal

- 7.4.3 If it is intended to re-use excavated arisings then the PC will need to undertake an assessment regarding suitability and demonstrate that the material is not a waste using the Definition of Waste: Development Industry Code of Practice (CL:AIRE, 2011). The Code of Practice sets out good practice for the development industry to use when assessing whether excavated materials are classified as waste or not. It also allows the determination, on a Site-specific basis, when treated excavated waste can cease to be waste for a particular use. Further it describes an auditable system to demonstrate that this Code of Practice has been adhered to.
- 7.4.4 Off-Site disposal of arisings will require compliance with the Waste Duty of Care Code of Practice March 2016 which requires the following:
 - Prevent unauthorised or harmful deposit, treatment or disposal of waste.
 - Prevent a breach (failure) by any other person to meet the requirement to have an environmental permit, or a breach of a permit condition.
 - Prevent the escape of waste from your control.
 - Ensure that any person you transfer the waste to has the correct authorisation, and
 - Provide an accurate written description of the waste when it is transferred to another person. For controlled waste that is classified as 'non-hazardous' this will require a waste transfer note and for waste classified as 'hazardous' this will require a consignment note. In both cases the record will require a waste code and classification.
- 7.4.5 Failure to comply with the duty of care requirements is a criminal offence and could lead to prosecution.



7.5 **Protection of Human Health – End User**

Ingestion

7.5.1 Reference will be required to be made to the relevant water company to assess whether the water supply pipework is required to be provided via barrier pipe, suitable to prevent ingress of hydrocarbons, following identification of the route of the pipework and completion of relevant testing along the route.

Direct Contact / Inhalation (Asbestos)

- 7.5.2 Areas of external landscaping will have a minimum of 600mm of suitable imported soil overlying a suitable geotextile no-dig membrane to prevent potential release of asbestos fibres.
- 7.5.3 The implementation of these mitigation measures will reduce the risk to future residents and to future maintenance workers to Very Low.

7.6 Protection of Human Health – Construction/Maintenance Worker

- 7.6.1 During the construction phase, mitigation measures to limit the risk to site workers from any potential contaminants in the ground will be implemented. Specification of appropriate measures will be the responsibility of the Principle Contractor.
- 7.6.2 There are considered to be readily available solutions for the management of the exposure pathways including: -
 - Informing the site workers of potential contamination on the Site and the potential health effects from exposure through site induction and 'tool box talks';
 - Methods of dust control and selection of appropriate methods of working to limit the potential for air-borne dust to arise associated with the excavation and disturbance of the soils present on the Site
 - Operational good practice (PPE, hygiene facilities, safe methods of work).
- 7.6.3 Service trenches will have a marker membrane beneath to identify the presence of contaminated ground below.
- 7.6.4 The implementation of these mitigation measures will reduce the risk to construction workers to Very Low.

7.7 **Protection of Property – Buildings**

- 7.7.1 The design will incorporate specification of construction materials to mitigate aggressive ground conditions. For mobile groundwater conditions, the values correspond to Design Sulphate Class DS-1 and ACEC Class AC-1 as defined by BRE (2005). The recommendations of BRE (2005) should be followed in the design of mixes for buried concrete for the classifications given. Section 8 below provides further details in this regard.
- 7.7.2 See Section 7.5.1 regarding the type of material for the water supply pipes.

7.8 Protection of Controlled Waters

7.8.1 USTs and associated contaminated soil and groundwater will be removed from the Site as discussed in Section 7.2 above.



- 7.8.2 In addition, pile design will need to minimise the potential for creation of preferential pathways and will likely require a Piling Risk Assessment to be approved by the Environment Agency.
- 7.8.3 The implementation of these mitigation measures will reduce the risk to construction workers to Very Low.



8 Geotechnical Engineering Assessment

8.1 **Proposed Development**

- 8.1.1 The proposed development of the Site entails the construction of residential units in a single building of between two and six storeys high with undercroft parking and associated infrastructure.
- 8.1.2 The conclusions and recommendations of this assessment should be reviewed upon receipt of the remainder of the groundwater monitoring data.

8.2 Potential for Natural Solution Feature Hazards

- 8.2.1 The surface level of the chalk appears to vary from about 54.33m OD (CP01) to 56.73m OD (CP02) and this has the potential to vary by several metres in level depending upon the severity of past glacial erosion which can include channelling into the surface. However, comparison of these chalk levels with the typical karstic Lambeth Group/Chalk interface level locally (within a kilometre or so) suggests that below the Site the chalk has been deeply eroded to circa 40m or so below the former interface level. On this basis it would be expected that typical karstic features like dissolution pipes will have been removed by the glacial erosion process. Consequently, the potential for dissolution features in the chalk surface to exist below the Site is now considered to be a **Low hazard**.
- 8.2.2 However, glacial meltwater can be rich in CO₂ making it aggressive and able to dissolve the chalk as it drains through the stratum along bedding and joint planes thereby increasing the potential for solution cavities to be formed at depth within the chalk rockhead. For this reason, it is considered that such features pose a **Moderate** hazard to foundations (e.g. piles) reliant upon the stable support of the chalk.

8.3 Geotechnical Design Parameters

8.3.1 Recommended characteristic values of parameters for geotechnical design, as determined from consideration of the results of in-situ and laboratory geotechnical testing carried out on soil samples recovered during the ground investigation and consideration of published data and correlations with index properties, are discussed in Section 4 of this report and are summarised in the following table.

Formation	Bulk Unit Weight (kN/m³)	Undrained Shear Strength (kPa)	Effective Friction Angle (degrees)
Made Ground Cohesive Made Ground Granular	18 17	45 -	28 34
Lowestoft Formation Upper cohesive	18	45	28
Lowestoft Formation Granular	18	-	34
Lowestoft Formation Lower cohesive	19 at 67m OD increasing linearly to 21 at 60m OD	100 at 67m OD increasing linearly to 175 at 60m OD	25
Kesgrave Catchment Subgroup Granular	19	-	34
Lewes Nodular Chalk Formation	19	-	33

Table 8.1 Summary of Recommended Characteristic Values

- 8.3.2 Bulk unit weight for the cohesive soils is based on the soil description and the recommendations of BS8004 (2015).
- 8.3.3 Bulk unit weight for the cohesive soils is based on the soil description and relative density (from SPT N₆₀) values and the recommendations of BS8004 (2015).
- 8.3.4 Bulk unit weight of the chalk is based on the soil description and published data from C574.
- 8.3.5 The undrained cohesion (C_u) for the Lowestoft Formation upper cohesive soils is conservative and reflects the variability of the deposit in terms of its described consistency and SPT N_{60} values.
- 8.3.6 The undrained cohesion (C_u) for the Lowestoft Formation lower cohesive soils was derived from SPT N₆₀ values using the method proposed by Stroud (1974). In this case C_u = N₁ x N₆₀. Where N₁ = 5, based on the mean soil plasticity of 24%. The values recommended are conservative and used the lower bound SPT N₆₀ values.
- 8.3.7 Effective friction angle in the cohesive soils were derived from consideration of the correlation with plasticity index (BS 8004, 2015) and the visual description of the material.
- 8.3.8 Effective friction angle in the granular soil were derived from the SPT N_{60} values, soil grading and particle angularity and the recommendations of BS 8004 (2015).
- 8.3.9 Effective friction angle from the chalk is based on published data from CIRIA C574.
- 8.3.10 Effective cohesion c' is recommended to be zero in all strata.

8.4 Site Preparation

Excavation Works

8.4.1 The near-surface soils typically comprise cohesive and granular Made Ground overlying natural clays and natural sands. Excavation though these materials should generally be possible with conventional earth moving plant, however, breakers are likely to be required to excavate through the foundations and concrete slabs present at depth in the Made Ground locally.

Stability of Excavations

8.4.2 The ground investigation has recorded soft to firm clay and granular Made Ground overlying soft to firm natural clays soil over natural loose to medium dense granular soils. Shallow groundwater was not encountered. Unsupported shallow excavations may remain stable for short periods and deeper excavations are likely to require full side support to remain stable.

Groundwater Control

- 8.4.3 Sump pumping techniques will likely be suitable to control any perched groundwater that is encountered above the water table in the shallow Made Ground or natural soils.
- 8.4.4 Deep excavations below the water table (if required) will likely require groundwater control and full side support. Any excavations at depth below the water table on this urban Site should be engineer designed because ground movements around the excavation due to stress relief or groundwater lowering could damage surrounding structures.

8.5 Foundations

8.5.1 A piled foundation solution is considered to be the most appropriate for the ground conditions and the building proposed. This is due to the load that will be imposed on the ground from the



up to 6 storey building and the presence of Made Ground up to 1.7m thick and the relatively low undrained shears strength of the near surface Lowestoft Formation.

- 8.5.2 Other foundations solutions such as vibro stone columns or vibro concrete columns are unlikely to be appropriate at this Site due to the potential for the vibrations during column construction to cause structural damage to nearby off-site structures.
- 8.5.3 The clays of the Lowestoft Formation should provide stable strata in which friction piles could be employed. The granular strata of the Lowestoft Formation and the Kesgrave Catchment Subgroup would also be suitable but would provide lower shaft resistance than cohesive soils. The chalk at depth would also provide a good stratum to provide shaft resistance for friction piles.
- 8.5.4 Given the ground conditions present and the urban setting, in which vibration and noise may be constraints, it is likely that a bored pile solution may be most suitable. Pile design may be based on the characteristic parameters given in Table 8.1 and should take account of the recommendations of BS8004:2015 generally and CIRIA reports C754 (2002) and PR86 (2003) where the piles penetrate the chalk. As noted in C574, where there is potential for solution cavities to exist at depth in the chalk, the load carrying capacity of the pile should be designed to be supported entirely by the shaft friction, ignoring end-bearing support in case of upward void migration from depth in the chalk.
- 8.5.5 The actual resistance of a pile will be dependent on pile type and the method of installation used as well as ground conditions. Specialist piling contractors should be contacted to determine the sizes and types of pile they recommend for the ground conditions, foundation loadings and structural and settlement tolerances appropriate to the building. If groups of piles are required the minimum spacing between the centres of the piles in a group should not be less than three pile diameters. Pile integrity and load testing should be carried out to confirm the design and workmanship.
- 8.5.6 Potential constraints to piling will be the in-ground structures such as tanks and the buried foundations or slabs that prevented progress of some of the exploratory holes.
- 8.5.7 The design of piled foundations may be based on the following ground model:
 - Made Ground to 74.75m AOD.
 - Lowestoft Formation (upper cohesive) to 73.5m AOD.
 - Lowestoft Formation (granular) to 66.5m AOD.
 - Groundwater at 62.5m AOD.
 - Lowestoft Formation (lower cohesive) to 60.0m AOD.
 - Kesgrave Catchment Subgroup (granular) to 54.0m AOD.
 - Chalk from 54.0m AOD.
- 8.5.8 Pile design in chalk is based on the overburden pressure and SPT N_{60} values. The following SPT N_{60} profile may be used for pile design in the chalk:
 - Constant SPT N of 25 to 49.0m AOD.
 - SPT N increasing from 25 at 59.0m AOD linearly to 40 at 46.0m AOD.
- 8.5.9 The recommended N₆₀ values are conservative to take account of the variability in the recorded N values (see Figure 4.2).

- 8.5.10 Potential constraints to the use of piled foundations will be in-ground obstructions as follows:
 - Foundations and floor slabs of the existing and former buildings remining after demolition of the Site;
 - Underground fuel storage tanks (refer to Phase 1 desk study for location plans); and,
 - Drainage runs and fuel tank delivery pipework.
- 8.5.11 These will need to be carefully removed and the resultant voids backfilled before piling commences.

8.6 Pavement Design

- 8.6.1 The ground investigation indicates that pavements are likely to be founded on Made Ground or natural cohesive strata.
- 8.6.2 For natural cohesive soil at subgrade level the California Bearing Ratio (CBR) value used for preliminary design may be derived from plasticity index testing of soil samples (DMRB, 2009 Table 5.1). For preliminary design purposes the measured mean plasticity indices of the near surface cohesive Lowestoft Formation soils present would equate to an equilibrium CBR value of 4%, assuming a thick pavement construction.
- 8.6.3 A CBR of <2% may be assumed for the Made Ground.
- 8.6.4 Pavements carried on a suitable depth of capping/sub-base should prove adequate provided the exposed deposits are compacted by a heavy smooth wheeled roller and any soft or degradable materials removed and replaced with compacted granular fill.
- 8.6.5 Potential constraints to the performance of completed pavements will be hard spots such as foundations or slabs remaining in the ground near surface or deep areas of Made Ground.
- 8.6.6 All formations will likely deteriorate rapidly in inclement weather conditions and appropriate construction practice should be adopted with all formations exposed only for the minimum time period.

8.7 Aggressiveness of the Ground

Chemical Attack on Buried Concrete

8.7.1 pH values recorded in the natural soils range from 6.9 to 7.2 and concentrations of water soluble sulphate ranged from <0.01 to 0.28g/l. These results suggest no elevated levels of sulphate and equate to a Design Sulphate Class of DS1 and ACEC Class of AC-1^d (assuming mobile groundwater) according to Table C1 of BRE SD1.



9 Conclusions

9.1 Ground Conditions

9.1.1 The ground conditions encountered beneath the Site are summarised as follows:

Formation	Description	Base Depth Range (bgl)	Thickness (m)
Made Ground	Asphalt or concrete surfacing between 0.1m and 0.2m thick, overlying either sand gravelly clay or granular materials with varying fines contents	0.25m to 1.70m	0.25 to 1.70
	Upper layer of soft to firm yellowish brown slightly sandy slightly gravelly clay	1.90m to 2.60m	
Lowestoft Formation	Central layer of yellow to reddish brown variably gravelly clayey sands or very sandy slightly silty subrounded to rounded gravel	8.80m to 9.30m	0.75 to 2.10
	Lower layer of stiff dark grey slightly gravelly slightly sandy silty clay.	16.10m to 16.40m	
Kesgrave Catchment Group	Orangish brown variably clayey sands and gravels	19.20m to 21.80m	3.10 to 5.40
Lewes Nodular Chalk Formation	White chalk	Proved to 30.0m	Proved to 10.8

- 9.1.2 Groundwater has been recorded at depth resting within the clay layer of the Lowestoft Formation, however it considered that the groundwater levels recorded indicate the presence of a sub-artesian groundwater table within the Kesgrave Subcatchment Group immediately beneath the Lowestoft Formation, where it is confined from rising upwards by the presence of the cohesive clay layer at the base of the Lowestoft Formation.
- 9.1.3 The potential for dissolution features in the chalk surface to exist below the Site is considered to be a Low hazard.
- 9.1.4 The potential for solution cavities to be formed at depth within the chalk rockhead is considered to be a Moderately High hazard to foundations (e.g. piles) that are reliant upon the stable support of the chalk.
- 9.1.5 Shallow foundations bearing in the upper cohesive Lowestoft Formation can be expected to achieve a presumed bearing value of 75 kN/m².
- 9.1.6 Shallow foundations bearing in the granular Lowestoft Formation can be expected to achieve a presumed bearing value of 120 kN/m² when a 1m wide foundation is employed.
- 9.1.7 The ground conditions are suitable for the use of piled foundations, however, in-ground structures such as former foundations, floor slabs and tanks etc. will need to be completely removed to prevent obstructions to piling. The potential presence of unrecorded in-ground features should not be ruled out.



9.1.8 There is a potential for solution cavities to exist at depth in the chalk and therefore it is recommended that the load carrying capacity of the piles should be designed to be supported entirely by the shaft friction, ignoring end-bearing support in case of upward void migration from depth in the chalk.

9.2 Geoenvironmental Conditions

- 9.2.1 Hydrocarbon odours were noted at shallow depth in two locations, one of which was located in the vicinity of the existing USTs. Only marginally elevated total VOC readings were encountered in the arisings as measured in the field using a PID.
- 9.2.2 Concentrations of Contaminants of Potential Concern (CoPC) have not been recorded in excess of the adopted Generic Assessment Criteria for a residential end-use without private gardens (soils) or drinking water (groundwater).
- 9.2.3 Potential Asbestos Containing Materials (ACMs) were not visually noted within any of the exploratory holes, however amosite asbestos board was recorded by the laboratory within one sample.
- 9.2.4 The Site remained as an active dealership at the time of the ground investigation and as such it has only been possible to fully investigate the external or the internal areas of the Site. This being the case, there remains potential for contamination to be present beneath these areas, and also in the immediate vicinity of the USTs and fuel distribution pipework.

9.3 Tier 2 Geoenvironmental Risk Assessment

- 9.3.1 The Conceptual Site Model derived for the Site in the Phase 1 GCA has been refined using the findings of the recent ground investigation and a Tier 2 geoenvironmental risk assessment has been undertaken.
- 9.3.2 Potential pollutant linkages have been identified and the potential for Site-wide contamination to be present on-Site based on its past and present use has been assessed as being Low. On this basis, the estimated risks to human health and groundwater without implementation of appropriate remediation or mitigation are assessed as Very Low to Low.
- 9.3.3 It is considered unlikely that the Site would be designated statutory contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

9.4 Ground Gas Risk Assessment

- 9.4.1 Four ground gas monitoring visits have been undertaken and are considered to provide a representative view of the ground gas regime at the Site considering the lack of potential sources of ground gas in the vicinity of the Site.
- 9.4.2 A ground gas risk assessment has been undertaken and the Site has been classified as Characteristic Situation 1, meaning that ground gas protection measures are not required. The proposed construction of undercroft parking at ground floor level further negates potential risk associated with ground gases or vapours.

9.5 Outline Remediation Strategy

- 9.5.1 An outline remediation strategy has been prepared and comprises the following:
 - Removal of USTs and fuel distribution pipework
 - An outline protocol for the management of unexpected contamination



- Legislative compliance and permits/licences in relation to the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012 and to re-use and disposal of soils
- The protection of human health by the use of a 600mm thick clean-cover system in landscaped areas, the use of barrier pipe for water supply and the incorporation of protective measures for future construction workers
- Protection of buildings by the use of appropriate construction materials where aggressive ground conditions may be present
- The protection of controlled waters through the removal of USTs and fuel distribution pipework, and through the use of appropriate pile design to minimise the potential for creation of preferential pathways to the deep Kesgrave/Chalk aquifers


10 References

BGS, 1978. 1:50,000 scale Geological Map of Hertford, Sheet 239, Soil and Drift.

BRE Special Digest 1:2005 (Third Edition): Concrete in Aggressive Ground. Building Research Establishment, Watford, 2005.

BS 8103-1: 2001 Structural design of low-rise buildings. Code of practice for stability, site investigation, foundations, precast concrete floors and ground floor slabs for housing. British Standards Institution, London.

BS 1377: 1990 Methods of Testing for Soils for Civil Engineering Purposes. British Standards Institution, London.

BS EN 1997-1: 2004 Eurocode 7. Geotechnical design General rules. British Standards Institution, London.

BS EN 1997-2: 2007 Eurocode 7. Geotechnical design. Ground investigation and testing. British Standards Institution, London.

BS 5930: 1999. Code of Practice for Site Investigations. British Standards Institution, London.

BS 8004: 2015. Code of Practice for Foundations. British Standards Institution, London.

BS 8485 (2015) Code of practice for the design of protective measures for methane and carbon dioxide ground gases for new buildings (+A1 2019). British Standards Institute, London.

BS 10175:2011+A2:2017 Investigation of Potentially Contaminated sites – Code of Practice. British Standard Institution, London.

BS EN ISO 14688-1: 2002 Geotechnical Investigation and Testing - Identification and Classification of Soil. Part 1: Identification and description. British Standards Institution, London.

BS EN ISO 22476-3:2005+A1:2011. Geotechnical investigation and testing - Field testing - Part 3: Standard penetration test. British Standards Institution, London.

Card, G., Lucas, J. and Wilson, S (2019a) Risk and Reliability in Gas Protection Design – 20 years on: Part 1. Ground Engineering, August 2019.

Card, G., Lucas, J. and Wilson, S (2019a) Risk and Reliability in Gas Protection Design – 20 years on: Part 2. Ground Engineering, August 2019.

CIRIA, 2002. C574 Lord, J. A., Clayton, C. R. I., Mortimore, R. N. *Engineering in chalk*, Construction Industry Research and Information Association, 2002.

CIRIA, 2003. Project Report 86 - Shaft friction of CFA piles in chalk. Construction Industry Research and Information Association. 2003.

CL:AIRE (2014) SP1010 – Development of Category 4 Screening Levels for Assessment of Land Affected by Contamination. Final Project Report published by Contaminated Land: Applications in Real Environments (CL:AIRE).

DMRB, 2009. Interim Advice Note 73/06 Revision 1 (2009) Design guidance for road pavement foundations (draft HD 25). Highways Agency. 2009

Nathanial et al (2015) The LQM/CIEH S4Uls for Human Health Risk Assessment. Land Quality Press, Nottingham.

NHBC Technical Standards - 2020 Edition.

Stantec, 2020, Ground Conditions Assessment (Phase 1), Proposed Development at Beadles Volkswagen Van Centre, Comet Way, Hatfield. Stantec UK Ltd. April 2020

Stroud, M A (1974) The standard penetration test in insensitive clays and soft rocks. In Proceedings of the European Symposium on Penetration Testing ESOPT, Stockholm 1974. Stockholm, National Swedish Building Research, pp367-375.



11 Essential Guidance for Report Readers

This report has been prepared within an agreed timeframe and to an agreed budget that will necessarily apply some constraints on its content and usage. The remarks below are presented to assist the reader in understanding the context of this report and any general limitations or constraints. If there are any specific limitations and constraints, they are described in the report text.

The opinions and recommendations expressed in this report are based on statute, guidance, and best practice current at the time of its publication. Stantec UK Ltd (Stantec) does not accept any liability whatsoever for the consequences of any future legislative changes or the release of subsequent guidance documentation, etc. Such changes may render some of the opinions and advice in this report inappropriate or incorrect and the report should be returned to us and reassessed if required for re-use after one year from date of publication. Following delivery of the report, Stantec has no obligation to advise the Client or any other party of such changes or their repercussions.

Some of the conclusions in this report may be based on third-party data. No guarantee can be given for the accuracy or completeness of any of the third-party data used.

Historical maps and aerial photographs provide a "snapshot" in time about conditions or activities at the site and cannot be relied upon as indicators of any events or activities that may have taken place at other times. It is possible for developments to have occurred between surveys that are not shown or for the map record to have been censored for military security.

The absence of cavity records in the Stantec natural and mining cavities (non-coal) databases is not considered as conclusive as to the absence of these features and we do not warranty that the data is complete or error free.

The conclusions and recommendations made in this report and the opinions expressed are based on the information reviewed and/or the ground conditions encountered in exploratory holes and the results of any field or laboratory testing undertaken. There may be ground conditions at the site that have not been disclosed by the information reviewed or by the investigative work undertaken. Such undisclosed conditions cannot be considered in any analysis and reporting.

It should be noted that this report is a land condition assessment and does not purport to be an ecological, flood risk or archaeological survey and additional specific surveys may be required.

The identification of invasive and/or noxious plants such as Japanese Knotweed is outside the remit of our appointment.

This report has been written for the sole use of the Client stated at the front of the report in relation to a specific development or scheme. The conclusions and recommendations presented herein are only relevant to the scheme or the phase of project under consideration. This report shall not be relied upon or transferred to any other party without the expressed written authorisation of Stantec. Any such party relies upon the report at its own risk.

The interpretation carried out in this report is based on scientific and engineering appraisal carried out by suitably experienced and qualified technical consultants based on the scope of our engagement. We have not considered the perceptions of, for example, banks, insurers, other funders, lay people, etc., unless the report has been prepared specifically for that purpose. Advice from other specialists may be required such as the legal, planning and architecture professions, whether specifically recommended in our report or not.

Public or legal consultations or enquiries, or consultation with any Regulatory Bodies (such as the Environment Agency, Natural England or Local Authority) have taken place only as part of this work where specifically stated.



Figures





Location: \\pba.int\cam\projects\47179 comet way hatfield\g	geo\03 figures & dwgs\cad\dwgs\47179 figure 2 site layout.dw
---	--



Appendix A Exploratory Hole Records

Proje	ct Name				Pro	oject No:					BOR	EHO	E
Con	net Way, Hatfi					47179)						
Clien	t				Sta	art Date	En	d Date	Stan	itor			
Con	net Way Hatfi	eld Ltd				09/03/20	20	09/03/2020	Juli	ilec	C	P01	
Conti	actor				Gro	ound Level							
AW	escott						76.13m	OD					
Meth	od/Plant				Co	ordinates			Logged By:	CR	Shee	et 1 of	3
Dan	do 2000					521617	E	208781 N	Checked By:		Scale	1	:50
(m)	San	nples and Insi	tu Tests	Pater	gend	Depth	Level (m OD)		Stratum Descr	iption			istrum ntation 8ackfill
_	Depth	Туре	Results		****	(Thickness)	76.03	Macadam					ы Ца Ц
-					<u> </u>	(0.20) 0.30	75.83	LIMADE GROU	UND] lavev verv gravelly	SAND	Gravel is su	/	
-	0.50	PID D1	0 ppmv			- •		angular brick,	, concrete, asphalt	and flint	with regula	r	
	0.00					9		cobbles.					
- 1	1.00	PID	0 ppmv			•		Soft to firm br	own very sandy sli	ghtly gra	velly CLAY]	
	1.20	B2	N=7			(2.00)		depth.	ner and increasing	gravel c	ontent with		
	1.50	PID	0 ppmv			• •		[LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]				
_						•							
_ 2	2.00	С	N=18			•							
_	2.10	D3	0 ppmv			2.30	73.83	NA - diama da ma			Orrestatio		
E	2.30 2.50	B4 PID	1 ymgg		°× °×.	(0.30)	73 53	rounded flint	and chalk.	GRAVEI	Graver is	Sub	
L				-		2.00	70.00		T FORMATION			/	
3	3.00	С	N=21		•	e		becoming der	nser at depth.	D GRAV			·
_	3.10	PID B5	0 ppmv			- 		[LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]				
-						- 9 -							
						(2.10)							
- 4						- 0 4							
	4.10 4.30		N=17			- - -							
-	1.00	20											
					•	4.70	71.43	Loose brown	SAND AND GRAV	ELS of s	ubrounded		
- 5	5.40		N 7		•	e		flint.					
E	5.10 5.20	D7	N=7		•	0 4 -							
_				-									
					•								
- 6	0.40			-	•								
	6.10	D8				(2.80)							
_	6.50	с	N=7										
					•								
- 7	7.00	В9			•								
-				-		7.50	68.63	Modium dono			ELS of flipt		
Ē								becoming der	nser at depth.	D GIVAV			
- 8	0.40		N_04			- - -							
E	8.10 8.30	D10	N=34	E	•	(1.30)							
						- e -							
E						8.80	67.33			0"-			
- 9	9.00	D11			(>		⊢rrm grey blue flint and chalk	e very sandy claye k gravel.	y SILE w	nin traces o	ſ	
Ē				E X	$(\times \times $	2		LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]				
E	9.50	s	N=15		×× ××	2							
E	9.70	B12		EX		2							
- 10					× × ×	2							
								Porine Dec.		tor Staller	I	Chi	20
Gene	eral Remarks	d of sonvious	w EDI prior to dri		tion	ored and		Date/Time Depth	Cas. Depth Strike Ti	me (mins) F	Rose To From	To	Duration
brok	en out. Hand pit	ts dug to 1.2m	. Hole drilled to 3	0m. Grour	dwat	er encoun	itered		16.40	20	10.20		
at 16	6.1m. Monitoring	g well installed	to 20m with gas	bung and	flush	cover.							

Proje	ect Name				Pro	ject No:					BORE	HOLE
Cor	net Way, Hatfi	eld					47179)				
Clier	it				Sta	rt Date	En	d Date	Sta	ntec		
Cor	net Way Hatfie	eld Ltd				09/03/20	20	09/03/2020			CP	01
Cont	ractor				Gro	ound Level						
AW	lescott						76.13m	OD	Logged By:	CR	Sheet	2 of 3
Dar	ido 2000				Co	521617	E	208781 N	Checked By:	on	Scale	1:50
(m)	Sam	ples and Insit	u Tests	ater	hner	Depth	Level		Stratum Dec	scription		rum ation
(11)	Depth	Туре	Results	S Loi	Jenu	(Thickness)	(m OD)		Stratum De.			Inst enta /Bac
	11.10 11.40 12.10 12.50 13.50 13.90 14.40 15.10 15.40 15.50 16.20 16.60 16.80	S D13 D14 S D15 U16 D17 D18 S B19 D20 C B21	N=20 N=20 Ublow=46 N=43 N=31			(4.50) 13.30 (2.60) 15.90 (0.50) 16.40	62.83 60.23 59.73	Firm grey blu flint and chall [LOWESTOF] Stiff grey silty [LOWESTOF] Firm brown s Chalk. [LOWESTOF] Medium dens SAND. [KESGRAVE]	e very sandy cla k gravel. T FORMATION] T FORMATION] T FORMATION] illty gravelly CLAY.	yey SILT w Gravel is ro Y. Gravel is GRAVEL at NT GROUF	ounded Chalk. ounded Chalk.	
- - - - - - - - - - - - -	18.30	D22 C	N=14			(5.40)						
Gene	19.50 eral Remarks nned and cleared en out. Hand pit	D23 d of services b s dug to 1.2m	by EDI prior to dril	ling. Locat	ion c dwat	ored and er encoun	tered	Boring Progre bate/Time Depth	ss Cas. Depth Strike 16.40	Water Strike Time (mins) F 20	Cose To From 16.20	hiselling To Duration
at 10	6.1m. Monitoring	well installed	to 20m with gas	oung and f	lush	cover.						

Projec	t Name				Pro	ject No:					В	OREHO	LE
Com	et Way, Hatfi	ield					47179	Ð					
Client					Sta	art Date	En	d Date		antor			
Com	et Way Hatfi	eld Ltd				09/03/20	20	09/03/2020		anter	•	CP01	
Contra	actor				Gro	ound Level							
A We	escott						76.13m	OD					
Metho	d/Plant				Co	ordinates	_		Logged By:	CR	5	neet 3 o	or 3
Danc	lo 2000					521617	E	208781 N	Checked By:		Sca	le	1:50
(m)	San	nples and Insi	tu Tests	∧ater	egend	Depth	Level (m OD)		Stratum [escription			istrum ntatio Backfil
_	Depth	Type	Results	- 13		(Thickness)	, ,	Medium der	nse to dense flir	t GRAVEL a	nd coars	se	961
								SAND.	= SUBCATCHM	ENT GROU	PI		
E								[112001010			. 1		
	04.00		N 04										
- 21	21.00 21.10	B24	N=24										
E													
El						21.80	54 33						
- 22	22.00	D25				21.00	04.00	Structureles	S CHALK comp GRAVEL with s	osed of silty ome flint. G	subangı ravel is	ular to	
Ē						-			ow density, crea	my white. [Grade Do)	
	22.50	C	N=16										
E	22.00	620		Ē		-							
23 						-							
E I													
Ē						-							
- 24					T	-							
- 24	24.10	С	N=17		T								
Ē													
E				Ē		-							
- 25	25 10		N-26			-							
E I	25.30	D27	N-20										
						-							
Ē					T T	(8.20)							
26	26.10	D28											
-	26 50		N-20	Ē		-							
ΕI	20.50		N=29	FP		-							
- 27						1							
E						-							
Εl	27.50	B29				-							
-													
28	28.10	с	N=68			-							
El				Ę		-							
-				\vdash									
Ē						-							
29 					T	-							
Εl					 								
Εl	29.60	C	N=38	Ē		-							
- 30	20.00			F F		30.00	46.13		End of Rorel	ole at 30.00m			
	· - ·						 	Boring Bro-		Wator Ctril		Chier	ling
Gener	al Remarks	d of services h	ov FDI prior to dri	llina Loc	ation o	ored and		Date/Time Depth	Cas. Depth Strik	e Time (mins)	Rose To	From To	Duration
broke	n out. Hand pit	ts dug to 1.2m	. Hole drilled to 3	0m. Grou	ndwat	er encoun	ntered		10.4		10.20		
at 16.	init. Ivionitoring	y well installed	to ∠om with gas	builg and	nusn	cover.							
L													

Proje	ct Name				Pro	oject No:					ВС	DREHOL	E
Com	net Way, Hatfi	ield					47179)					
Client	İ				Sta	art Date	En	d Date	C Sta	ntoc			
Com	net Way Hatfi	eld Ltd				09/03/20)20	11/03/2020	J Sta	ntec		CP02	
Contr	actor				Gr	ound Level			-				
AW	escott						75.93m	OD					
Metho	od/Plant				Co	ordinates			Logged By:	CR	Sł	neet 1 of	3
Dan	do 2000					521681	E	208798 N	Checked By:		Scal	e 1	:50
(m)	San	nples and Insit	u Tests	Nater	egend	Depth	Level (m OD)		Stratum Dese	cription			nstrum ntation 3ackfill
_	Depth	Туре	Results			(Thickness)	75.83	Macadam					드르핀
	0.40			- 8		(0.25)	75 58		JND]			/	
E	0.40 0.50	PID	0 ppmv			0.00	10.00	CLAY. Gravel	is sub rounded fl	int and as	sandy ra sphalt.	velly	
	0.60	B2						MADE GROU	JND]		•]	
- 1	1.00	PID	0 ppmv			-		ILOWESTOF	ery sandy gravelly T FORMATION1	CLAY.		1	· . · · ·
	1.10	S	N=7			(1.55)			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			•	
	1.50	PID	0 ppmv			-							
-	1.60	D3				-							
- 2	2 00	C	N=33			1.90	74.03	Medium dens	e to dense browr	n clavev d	ravellv S	AND.	
	2.00	PID	0 ppmv			-		[LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]		· , ,		
_	2.10	B4	0.0000			(0.90)							
	2.50	FID	0 ppinv			-							
	0.00		NL 00	- *		2.80	73.13	Medium dens	e brown SAND A		/ELS wit	h	
3	3.00	PID	N=23 0 ppmv	E	•			increasing co	bble content with	depth.			
	3.10	B5			•								H
-					•								
				E									
_ 4	4.10	с	N=22										
-	4.30	D6											
E													
5	5 10		N-17										
	5.10	D7	N=17										H
				-									H
-													H
6						(0.50)							H
-						(0.50)							H
_	6 50	C	N=14										H
	6.60	D8	11-14	-									H
F_													
				E									
-													
F													
				Ē									
- 8	8.10	с	N=36										
	8.20	B9											
-													H
9													H
	0.40			-		9.30	66.63	Ctiff dark gray		AV with a			H
-	9.40 9.50	D10 D11	Ublow=58		$\overline{\sim}$			lenses. Grave	el is rounded Cha	Arwinso lk.	ome san	u .	H
	9.60 9.80	C B12	N=51		~~~			[LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]				H
- 10	0.00				<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>								
												-	
Gene	ral Remarks							Boring Progres Date/Time Depth	S V Cas. Depth Strike	Vater Strike Time (mins)	Rose To	Chiselli From To	ng Duration
Scan	ned and cleare	d of services b ts dua to 1 2m	by EDI prior to dril Hole drilled to 30	ling. Loc)m. Grou	ation o Indwat	cored and	ntered		16.10	20	15.60		
at 16	.1m. Monitoring	g well installed	to 20m with gas I	bung and	l flush	cover.							

Proje	ct Name				Pro	oject No:					BOR	EHOLE	Ξ
Con	net Way, Hatfi	eld					47179)			-	-	
Clien	t				Sta	art Date	En	d Date	St:	ontoc			
Con	net Way Hatfie	eld Ltd				09/03/20	20	11/03/2020			CF	P02	
Contr	actor				Gro	ound Level							
AW	escott						75.93m	OD		CP	Shoo	t 2 of 2	
Meth	od/Plant				Co	ordinates	E	209709 N	Checked Du	UK	Socia	1.2 01 3	, 50
Dan	00 2000			_		521001	E	200790 N	Checked By.		Scale		50 F 5 ≣
(m)	San Denth	Type	tu lests Results	Nate	egend	Depth (Thickness)	Level (m OD)		Stratum De	scription			nstrur intatio Backfi
_	Deptil	Type	Results	- 🗴	· <u>·</u> ··×	(THICKIESS)		Stiff dark gre	y silty gravelly C	LAY with so	ome sand		- 0 -
	11.00 11.20	C D13	N=47					LOWESTOF	FT FORMATION	ונווג.]			
_	12.50	U14	Ublow=50		<u>~</u>							•••	
 	13.00	D15				(6.10)							
 	14.10 14.20	C B16	N=50										
- - 15 - -	15.10	D17			× · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	15.40	60 53					• * • • • • • • •	
 	15.50 15.70	C D18	N=26			(0.70)	00.00	Firm brown s subrounded [LOWESTOF	sandy slightly gra flint. FT FORMATION	avelly CLAY]	. Gravel is	• • • • • • •	
	16.50 16.60	C B19	N=23			(1.40)	59.83	Medium den [KESGRAVE	se flint GRAVEL SUBCATCHME	Ent grouf	2]		
 	18.00 18.20	C D20	N=20			(1 70)	58.43	Medium den [KESGRAVE	se brown SAND SUBCATCHME	AND GRAV	/ELS. ?]	0 , 0 , 0 , 0 , 0 , 0 , 0 , 0 , 0 , 0 ,	
 	19.50 19.70	C 821	N=28			19.20	56.73	Structureless subrounded to low densit	s CHALK compo GRAVEL with so y, creamy white.	sed of silty ome flint. Gr [Grade Dc]	subangular t avel is medi	to um	
20	19.70	DZ I						[LEWES NO	DULAR CHALK	FORMATIC	DN]	* * *	
Gene Scar broke at 16	eral Remarks aned and cleare en out. Hand pit 5.1m. Monitoring	d of services b s dug to 1.2m ı well installed	by EDI prior to dril . Hole drilled to 30 to 20m with gas	ling. Loca 0m. Grou bung and	ation c ndwat flush	cored and er encoun cover.	itered	Boring Progre late/Time Depth	Cas. Depth Strike 16.10	Water Strike Time (mins) F 20 F	Rose To From 15.60	Chiselling To	Duration

Projec	t Name				Pro	ject No:					BORE	HOL	E
Com	et Way, Hatfi	eld					47179)					
Client					Sta	rt Date	En	d Date	Sta	ntec			
Com	et Way Hatfi	eld Ltd				09/03/20	20	11/03/2020			CF	20	
Contra	actor				Gro	ound Level							
AWe	escott				0		75.93m	OD	l ogged By:	CR	Sheet	3 of	3
Danc	do 2000				Coc	521681	E	208798 N	Checked By:		Scale	1:	:50
(m)	San	nples and Insit	u Tests	Parter Leo	end	Depth	Level		Stratum De	scription			trum ation ckfill
	Depth	Туре	Results	- ×	г - П	(Thickness)	(m OD)	Structurologo			aubangulart		Ins ent /Ba
- 21 - 21 - 22 - 22 - 22	21.00 22.50 22.70	C C D22	N=24 N=25					Structureless subrounded (to low density [LEWES NO	GRALK compo GRAVEL with sc y, creamy white. DULAR CHALK	sed of sitty ome flint. Gr [Grade Dc] FORMATIC	subangular t avel is medit DN]	D IM 	
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	24.00 24.10	C B23	N=25			(10.80)						6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6	
 26 	25.60 26.00	C D24	N=24									• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
27 27 27 	27.10	С	N=17										
28 29 29 	28.60 28.70	C B25	N=28									- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	
	30.00		N=33		rt p T	30.00	45 02					•	<u> </u>
30	00.00	D26	0-00			50.00	-0.00		End of Boreho	le at 30.00m			
Gener	ral Remarks							Boring Progre	ss Cas. Depth Strike	Water Strike Time (mins)	Rose To From	Chisellir To	1g Duration
Scanı broke at 16.	ned and cleare n out. Hand pit 1m. Monitoring	d of services b is dug to 1.2m. g well installed	y EDI prior to dril Hole drilled to 30 to 20m with gas l	ling. Locati)m. Ground bung and f	on c dwate lush	ored and er encoun cover.	tered		16.10	20	15.60		

Projec Com	ct Name net Way, Hatf i	eld			Pro	oject No:	47179)			BORE	HOLE
Client	1				Sta	irt Date	En	d Date	Stan	toc		
Com	net Way Hatfi	eld Ltd				09/03/20	20	09/03/2020		LEC	CP	03
Contr	actor				Gro	ound Level						
AW	escott						76.05m	OD	Logged By: C	R	Sheet	1 of 1
Dan	do 2000				Co	521663	E	208741 N	Checked By:		Scale	1:50
(m)	San	nples and Insit	u Tests	/ater	Legend	Depth	Level		Stratum Descrip	otion		strum tation ackfill
_	Depth	Туре	Results	2		(Thickness) (β.1β)	75.95	Macadam				ja in line line line line line line line l
	0.50	PID	0 ppmv			((incates)) (0.10) (0.20) (0.50) (0.50) 0.80 (0.20) 1.00	75.95 75.75 75.25 75.05	Macadam IMADE GRO Creamy whit IMADE GRO Concrete, no IMADE GRO Hard concret IMADE GRO	UND] e concrete with reban UND] t reinforced. UND] e (probably reinforce UND] End of Borehole at	r at 0.30 ed). 1.00m		
Εl				ΕI								
FI				F								
È				Ē								
- 10												
Gene	ral Remarks							Boring Progre	ss Wate	er Strike	(Chiselling
Scan broke back	ned and cleare en out. Hole ten filled with arisin	d of services b minated at 1m gs and reinstat	y EDI prior to dril due to hitting reir ted with Macadar	ling. Lo nforced n.	cation c concret	ored and e. Hole		Vate/Time Depth	Cas. Depth Strike Tim	e (mins) Ro	ose To From	To Duration

Conset Way, Hatfield 47179 Conset Way, Hatfield Ltd 100 that 000302020 090302020 090302020 00030200 000030200 000010000 000010000 000010000 000010000 000010000 000010000 000010000 0000100000 0000100000 0000100000 0000100000 0000100000 0000000000 000000000000000 000000000000000000000000000000000000	Projec	t Name				Pro	oject No:						AMPLE
Clinit Start Date End Date End Date Start Date WS01 A F Howlands Oronal Lawit 0903/2020 0903/2020 0903/2020 Operating the start of the start	Com	et Way, Hatfi	eld					47179	Ð				
Concertive Operation <	Client					Sta	art Date	En	d Date	Sta	ntoc		
Contractor Contrac	Com	et Way Hatfi	eld Ltd				09/03/20	020	09/03/2020		intec	WS	01
AF H Kontraindis To for OD Append By: CR Sheel 1 of 1 Dando Terrier 521611 E 208762 N Checked By: Scale 1.40 Image II By: GR Sheel 1 of 1 Scale 1.40 Image II By: GR Sheel 1 of 1 Scale 1.40 Image II By: GR Scale 1.40 Image II By: GR Scale 1.40 Image II By: GR Scale Scale 1.40 Image II By: GR Scale Scale Scale Scale Image II By: GR Scale <	Contra	actor				Gr	ound Level						
Motochanic Constantias Constantias <thconstantias< th=""> <thconstantias< th=""></thconstantias<></thconstantias<>	AFH	lowlands						76.16m	OD		0.0	Chaot d	-f 1
Dance Carrier Source Intervent Sou	Metho	d/Plant				Co	ordinates	_		Logged By:	CR	Sneet I	
Image: Samples and Institu Tests B Lowell Stratum Description Begin Tests 0 Depth Type Results 0 Macadam Macadam 0 0.50 PID 5 ppmv 6 (9.4) 7.68 Macadam 1 1.00 S N=8 6 (9.4) 7.68 Macadam 1.50 PID 0 ppmv 6 (9.4) 7.68 Macadam Macadam 1.50 PID 0 ppmv 6 (9.4) 7.68 Macadam Macadam 1.50 PID 0 ppmv 6 (9.5) 7.68 Macadam Macadam 1.50 PID 0 ppmv 6 (9.5) 7.68 Macadam Macadam 1.50 PID 0 ppmv 6 (9.5) 7.68 Macadam Macadam 1.50 PID 0 ppmv 1.60 7.48 Macadam Macadam 2.200 S New Table 1.60 7.48 Macadam Macadam 2.300 S	Dano	do Terrier					521611	E	208762 N	Checked By:		Scale	1:40
0.55 PID 5 perm 6(4.80 (0.40) 76.06 (0.40) Macadam (Macadam (MADE GROUND) Macadam (Macadam (MADE GROUND) 1 1.00 S N-8 0.00 75.86 (0.30) Macadam (Macadam (MADE GROUND) Macadam (Macadam (Macadam) Macadam (Macadam) Macadam) Macadam (Macadam) Macadam (Macadam) Macadam (Macadam) Macadam (Macadam) Macadam (Macadam) Macadam) Macadam Macadam) Macadam Macadam) Macadam M	(m)	San Depth	nples and Insit	tu Tests Results	Water	Legend	Depth (Thickness)	Level (m OD)		Stratum De	scription		Instrum entatior /Backfil
0.50 PID 5 ppmv (e.40) 76.56 Festilation formed brick and filter F	_				-		(0:10)	76.06	Macadam	UNDI			
0.50 PID 5 pmv Standard (BFP) Tristing MADE GROUND) 1 1.00 3 N=6 0<					-		(0.40)		Reddish brow	n clayey gravel	ly SAND. G	Fravel is	
Image: 100 S N=8 0.33 To 20 Made and model multiple of the second constraints of the second consecond constraints of t	-	0.50	PID	5 ppmv	-		(8:57)	75.66 75.59		UND]			
1.00 S N=8 0.30 1.60 Image: Market Link and Strike and St	-						(0.33)	== 00	Macadam.	UND]			
Imp 0 ppmv 0 ppmv 0.90 150 PID 0 ppmv 0.90 2 2.00 \$ N=57 PID 0 pmv 0.80 0.80 1.80 74.36 UNMDE GROUND UNME GROUND	- 1	1.00	S	N=8		·····	0.90	75.26	Membrane Reddish brow			Gravel is	
1.50 PID 0 ppmv 1.80 74.36 Imber. Consequence for the subrounded in function and the second and dense years gravely CLAY. Gravel is subrounded in function and the second and dense years gravely CLAY. Gravel is subrounded fin. Imber. Imber. <t< td=""><td>F </td><td></td><td>D1 PID</td><td>0 ppmv</td><td></td><td>····</td><td>•</td><td></td><td>subrounded b</td><td>prick and flint wit</td><td>th occasion</td><td>al cobbles and</td><td></td></t<>	F		D1 PID	0 ppmv		····	•		subrounded b	prick and flint wit	th occasion	al cobbles and	
Solution	ΕI	1 50	PID	0 ppmy	E	<u> </u>	(0.90)		I timber.	UNDI			
2 2.00 S N=57 1.80 74.36 1.00ESTOFT COMMINING 2.50 PID 0.ppmv 0.80 9.00 0.90 0.90 9.00 0.90 9.00 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90		1.00		0 ppmv		·····	- -		Soft orange b	prown sightly gra	velly CLAY	. Gravel is	
2 2.00 S N=57 Image: Constraint of the substance of the						<u> </u>	1.80	74.36		T FORMATION			
PiD 0 ppmv 0.80 UWERSTOFT FORMATION] 2.50 PID 0 ppmv 2.60 73.86 3.00 S N=15 0.500 73.86 PID 0 ppmv 0.400 73.86 Medium dense yellow brown dayey gravelly SAND. (0.400 3.50 PID 0 ppmv 0.400 72.96 Medium dense yellow brown dayey gravelly SAND. (0.400 3.50 PID 0 ppmv 3.80 72.96 Medium dense yellow brown dayey gravelly SAND. (0.400 4 4.00 S N=7 Medium dense yellow brown dense to very dense (0.200	_ 2	2.00	S D2	N=57			- -		Stiff yellow br	own gravelly CL	AY. Gravel	is subrounded	
2.50 PID 0 ppmv 2.60 73.56 3 3.00 S N=15 (0.50) 73.56 3 0.00 S N=15 (0.50) 73.56 3 0.00 S N=15 (0.50) 73.56 3 0.00 S N=15 (0.50) 73.56 4 0.00 S N=7 (0.40) 3.60 72.56 4 0.00 S N=7 (0.40) 3.60 72.56 4 0.00 S N=7 (0.40) 3.60 72.56 4 0.00 D ppmv 3.80 72.56 (1.00) Export provem days gravely sknD. (1.00) Export provem days gravely sknD. 4 0.00 D ppmv (1.20) (1.20) (1.20) (1.20) Export provem days gravely sknD. 1 0 ppmv 5.00 71.16 End of Window Sample at 5.00m End of Window Sample at 5.00m 5 5.00 PID 0 ppmv <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>PID</td><td>0 ppmv</td><td></td><td>· · · · ·</td><td>(0.80)</td><td></td><td>[LOWESTOF</td><td>T FORMATION]</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>			PID	0 ppmv		· · · · ·	(0.80)		[LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]			
3 3.00 S N=15 0.50 73.56 Medium dense yellow brown dayey yarvelly SAND. SAND. Gravel is subrounded flint. UOWESTOFT FORMATION] 3 3.50 PID 0 ppmv 3.60 72.66 4 4.00 S N=7 3.80 72.66 4 4.00 S N=7 2.00 72.66 4 4.00 S N=7 2.00 72.66 4 4.00 S N=7 2.00 72.66 4 0.00 S N=7 2.00 72.66 4.50 PID 0 ppmv 0.00 72.66 Medium dense yellow brown dayey gravelly SAND. 4.50 PID 0 ppmv 0.00 71.16 Loces yellow brown daye gravelly SAND. 5.00 PID 0 ppmv 5.00 71.16 End of Window Sample at 5.00m 6 S Soo 71.16 End of Window Sample at 5.00m End of Window Sample at 5.00m 6 Soo Title Soo Title End of Window Sample		2.50	PID	0 ppmv		· · · · ·							
3 3.00 S N=15 10.50 PID 0 ppmv 0.50 PID 0 ppmv 0.40 PID 0 ppmv PID 0 ppmv 0.40 <td>F </td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>2.60</td> <td>73.56</td> <td>Medium dens</td> <td>e yellow brown</td> <td>clayey very</td> <td>/ gravelly</td> <td></td>	F						2.60	73.56	Medium dens	e yellow brown	clayey very	/ gravelly	
3 3.00 5 N=15 73.06 P10 0 ppmv 0 spmv 0.040 73.96 Medium dense yellow brown clayey gravelly SAND. Cravel is subrounded flint. LOWESTOT FORMATION 4 4.00 S N=7 3.80 72.56 State STOT FORMATION Lowes yellow brown dense to very dense clayey very gravelly SAND. Lowes yellow brown dense to very dense clayey very gravelly SAND. Lowes York PT FORMATION 4 4.00 S N=7 (1.20) (1.20) Comparisings Medium dense yellow brown dense to very dense clayey very gravelly SAND. Lowes York PT FORMATION Loces yellow brown daye gravelly SAND. Loces yellow brow daye gravelly SAND.	F	2.00		N-45			(0.50)		[LOWESTOF	T FORMATION	tiint.		
Solution PiD 0 ppmv 0.40 72.56 Gravel is subrounded fint. Conversion 4 4.00 S N=7 Solution 72.56 The provides the pr	- 3	3.00	D3	N=15			(3:18)	73.06	Medium dens	e vellow brown	clavev grav	/ellv SAND.	
3.50 PID 0 ppmv 1 and 1 an	El		PID	0 ppmv			(0.40)	72.96	Gravel is sub	rounded flint.	, , , , ,	,	
4 4.00 S N=7 0.20 72.36 72.36 72.36 Medium dense yellow brown dense to very dense dayey very gravelly SAND. Gravel is subrounded flint. LOWESTOFT FORMATION 4 4.00 S N=7 1 1.20 72.36 72.36 4 4.50 PID 0 ppmv 0 0 0 0 4 4.50 PID 0 ppmv 0 0 0 5 5.00 PID 0 ppmv 0 0 5 5.00 PID 0 ppmv 5.00 71.16 End of Window Sample at 5.00m 6 - - - - - - - 7 - - - - - - 8 - - - - - - 7 - - - - - - 8 - - - - - - 7 - - - - - - 8 - - - - - - 9 - - - - - - 8 - - -		3.50	PID	0 ppmv			3 60	72 56	Damp arising				
4 4.00 S N=7 I.UWESTOFT FORMATIONI 4 50 PID 0 ppmv 0 4.50 PID 0 ppmv 0 5 5.00 PID 0 ppmv 5 5.00 PID 0 ppmv 6 5 5.00 PID 0 ppmv 6 5 5.00 PID 0 ppmv 7 5 5.00 PID 0 ppmv 8 1 1 1 1 7 1 1 1 1 8 1 1 1 1 1 9 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 10 1							(0.20)	72.36	Medium dens	e yellow brown ravelly SAND	dense to ve Gravel is sul	ery dense brounded flint	
4.50 PID 0 ppmv 0 4.50 PID 0 ppmv 0 5 5.00 PID 0 ppmv 5 5.00 PID 0 ppmv 6 5 5.00 7 5 7 5 8 5 Consect endow Sample at 5.00m 9 0	- 4	4.00	s	N=7					LOWESTOF	T FORMATION			
4.50 PID 0 ppmv 4.500 (1.20) 4.500 PID 0 ppmv 5.00 71.16 Contact of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out. Hand pits dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Installed with gas burg and flush cover.			D4 PID	0 ppmy			8 		LOOSE VEIIOW	T FORMATION	ravelly SAN	ID.	
4.50 PID 0 ppmv 5.00 71.16 End of Window Sample at 5.00m Control of Window Sample Run Control of Control of Window Sample Run Control of Window Sample Run Control of Contr	-	4.50	212				(1.20)		Loose dark re gravelly fine t	eddish brown sli o medium SANI	ghtly clayey D.	/ slightly	
Solution PID 0 ppmv Find 5.00 71.16 End of Window Sample at 5.00m 6 - - - - - - - 6 - - - - - - - 7 - - - - - - - - 8 -	F	4.50	PID	0 ppmv			-		LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]			
Solution PID 0 ppmv Solution 71.16 e e e e e e e	F						-						
Second and cleared of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out. Hand pits dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Arisings recorded as damp between 31 and 3.2m. Installed with a monitoring well to 5m. Installed with gas bung and flush cover. Water Strike Window Sample Run	_ 5	5.00	PID	0 ppmv	-		5.00	71.16		End of Window Sa	ample at 5.00	m	
General Remarks Water Strike Window Sample Run Scanned and cleared of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out. Hand pils dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Installed with gas bung and flush cover. State Strike Window Sample Run					-								
General Remarks Scanned and cleared of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out. Hand pits day to 12.00 Start End Start End 100 Sugard flush cover. Strike Time (mins) Rose to Start End 100 Sugard flush cover. Strike Time (mins) Rose to Start End 100 Sugard flush cover. Strike Time (mins) Rose to Start Time (mins) Start Start Time (mins) Start Start <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>					-								
General Remarks Water Strike Window Sample Run Scanned and cleared of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out Hand pits dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Installed with gas bung and flush cover. Strike Time (mins) Rose to Start End Dia. (mm) Rec. % Strike Time (mins) Rose to Start End Dia. (mm) Rec. %					-								
General Remarks Water Strike Window Sample Run Scanned and cleared of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out. Hand pits dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Arisings recorded as damp between 3.1 and 3.2m. Installed with a monitoring well to 5m. Installed with gas Water Strike Window Sample Run Subscience 3.1 and 3.2m. Installed with a monitoring well to 5m. Installed with gas 3.00 4.00 100	F				-								
General Remarks Water Strike Window Sample Run Scanned and cleared of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out. Hand pits dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Arisings recorded as damp between 3.1 and 3.2m. Installed with a monitoring well to 5m. Installed with gas bung and flush cover. Water Strike Window Sample Run	6				-								
General Remarks Water Strike Window Sample Run Scanned and cleared of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out. Hand pits dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Arisings recorded as damp between 3.1 and 3.2m. Installed with a monitoring well to 5m. Installed with gas bung and flush cover. Water Strike Window Sample Run	El				E								
- 7					E								
Image: Scanned and cleared of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out. Hand pits dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Arisings recorded as damp between 3.1 and 3.2m. Installed with a monitoring well to 5m. Installed with gas bung and flush cover. Water Strike Window Sample Run Strike Time (mins) Rose to Statt End Dia. (mm) Rec. % Main and Strike Strike Time (mins) Rose to Statt End Dia. (mm) Rec. % Main and Strike Strike Time (mins) Rose to Statt End Dia. (mm) Rec. % Main and Strike Strike Strike Strike Strike Imme (mins) Rose to Statt Dia. (mm) Rec. % Strike Strike Strike Strike Strike Imme (mins) Rose to Statt Dia. (mm) Rec. % Strike Strike </td <td>E </td> <td></td>	E												
General Remarks Water Strike Window Sample Run Scanned and cleared of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out. Hand pits dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Arisings recorded as damp between 3.1 and 3.2m. Installed with a monitoring well to 5m. Installed with gas bung and flush cover.	– 7												
General Remarks Water Strike Window Sample Run Scanned and cleared of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out. Hand pits dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Arisings recorded as damp between 3.1 and 3.2m. Installed with a monitoring well to 5m. Installed with gas bung and flush cover. Mater Strike Water Strike Window Sample Run Strike Time (mins) Rose to Start End Dia. (mm) Rec. % Strike Time (mins) Rose to Start End Dia. (mm) Rec. % 0 1.20 2.00 3.00 100 100 0 4.00 5.00 100 100					-								
General Remarks Water Strike Window Sample Run Scanned and cleared of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out. Hand pits dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Arisings recorded as damp between 3.1 and 3.2m. Installed with a monitoring well to 5m. Installed with gas bung and flush cover.					-								
General Remarks Water Strike Window Sample Run Scanned and cleared of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out. Hand pits dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Arisings recorded as damp between 3.1 and 3.2m. Installed with a monitoring well to 5m. Installed with gas bung and flush cover.	FI				F								
Water Strike Water Strike Window Sample Run General Remarks Scanned and cleared of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out. Hand pits dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Arisings recorded as damp between 3.1 and 3.2m. Installed with a monitoring well to 5m. Installed with gas bung and flush cover. Water Strike Window Sample Run	El				F								
General Remarks Water Strike Window Sample Run Scanned and cleared of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out. Hand pits dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Arisings recorded as damp between 3.1 and 3.2m. Installed with a monitoring well to 5m. Installed with gas bung and flush cover. Water Strike Window Sample Run Strike Time (mins) Rose to Start End Dia. (mm) Rec. % Support 3.00 1.20 2.00 100 Support 3.00 4.00 100 100 Support 4.00 5.00 100 Support 100 100 100 Support 100 100 100 100 Support Support 100 100 100	- 8				F								
Strike Time (mins) Rose to Start End Dia. (mm) Rec. % Scanned and cleared of services by EDI prior to drilling. Location cored and broken out. Hand pits dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Arisings recorded as damp between 3.1 and 3.2m. Installed with a monitoring well to 5m. Installed with gas bung and flush cover. Strike Time (mins) Rose to Start End Dia. (mm) Rec. % Strike Time (mins) Rose to 3.00 4.00 100	Gere	al Romarka							Water Strike		Windo	w Sample Run	
broken out. Hand pits dug to 1.2m. Drilled to 5m. Arisings recorded as damp between 3.1 and 3.2m. Installed with a monitoring well to 5m. Installed with gas bung and flush cover.2.003.001004.005.00100	Scan	ned and cleare	d of services b	by EDI prior to dri	illing. Lo	cation o	cored and	5	Strike Time (mins)	Rose to Start 1.20	End 2.00	Dia. (mm)	Rec. % 100
bung and flush cover. 4.00 5.00 100	broke betwe	n out. Hand pit	s dug to 1.2m m. Installed w	Drilled to 5m. A	Arisings i well to 5	ecorde m. Inst	d as damp alled with c) Jas		2.00 3.00	3.00 4.00		100 100
	bung	and flush cove	r.		- 0			-		4.00	5.00		100

Proje	ct Name			Pr	oject No:				WINDOW SA	MPLE	
Com	net Way, Hatfi	eld					47179	9			
Client					St	art Date	En	d Date	Stanto	~	
Com	et Way Hatfie	eld Ltd				09/03/20	020	09/03/2020		WS02	2
Contr	actor				Gr	ound Level			-		
AF	Howlands						76.22m	OD			
Metho	od/Plant				Co	oordinates			Logged By: CR	Sheet 1 of	f 1
Dan	do Terrier					521625	E	208771 N	Checked By:	Scale 1	1:40
(m)	Sam Depth	ples and Insi	tu Tests Results	Water	.egend	Depth	Level (m OD)		Stratum Description	I	nstrum entatior Backfill
-		.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		-		(0.20)		Concrete with	rebar at 0.15m.		- • <
	0.50	PID	0 ppmv			(0.90)	76.02	[MADE GROU Soft brown sa concrete with [MADE GROU Membrane	JND] ndy gravelly CLAY. Gra cobbles of flint and bric JND]	vel is brick and k.	
- - 1 -	1.00	S D1	N=1			. 1.10	75.12	Firm to stiff ar	oonich grov clightly gro		
		PID	0 ppmv		· · · · · ·			is subrounded	flint. FORMATION	velly CLAT. Graver	
-	1.50	PID	0 ppmv			(1.10)		Hydrocarbon	smell		
2	2.00	S 20	N=49								· · - · .
		PID	47 ppmv			2.20	74.02	Firm greenish	grey very sandy very g	ravelly CLAY.	
	2 50	PID	0 ymgg	-		2.45	73.77	Gravel is sub		-	
-	2.00		6 PP			(0.55)		Medium dens subrounded fl	e yellow brown gravelly int.	SAND. Gravel is	
- 3	3.00	s	N=15			3.00	73.22	[LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]	rovally fina to	
-		D3 PID	0 ppmv		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(0.50)		medium SAN	D. Gravel is subrounded FORMATION]	l flint.	
- - -	3.50	PID	0 ppmv			(9 :99)	72.72 72.67	Medium dens SAND. Grave	e orange brown slightly I is subrounded flint. T FORMATION1	clayey gravelly	
- 4 	4.00	S D4 PID	N=13 0 ppmv			(0.90)		Medium dens medium SAN [LOWESTOF	e orange brown slightly D. Gravel is subrounded T FORMATION]	gravelly fine to I flint.	
-	4.50	PID	0 ppmv			4.45 (0.25)	71.77	Medium dens	e dark reddish brown fir	e to medium	
						4.70	71.52		T FORMATION]	/	
- - 5 -	5.00	PID				5.00	71.22	Medium dens	e yellow brown fine to n T FORMATION]	nedium SAND.	
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 6 _											
 											
-											
- 7											
-											
- 8						[
Gene	ral Remarks						5	Water Strike Strike Time (mins)	Rose to Start E	ndow Sample Run nd Dia. (mm)	Rec. %
Scan broke 5m. I	ned and cleared en out. Hand pits nstalled with ga	d of services b s dug to 1.2m s bung and fl	by EDI prior to dril . Drilled to 5m. Ins ush cover.	ling. Loc stalled w	ation (ith a n	cored and nonitoring	well to		1.20 2 2.00 3 3.00 4 4.00 5	00 00 00 00	100 100 100 100

Proje	ct Name				Pr	oject No:					WINDOW	SAMPLE
Com	net Way, Hatf	ield					47179	Ð				-
Client					Sta	art Date	En	d Date	Sta	ntoc		
Com	net Way Hatfi	eld Ltd				09/03/20	020	09/03/2020	Juli	niec	WS	03
Contr	actor				Gr	ound Level						
AF	Howlands						76.16m	OD			01 1	
Metho	od/Plant				Co	oordinates			Logged By:	CR	Sheet	1 of 1
Dan	do Terrier					521635	E	208807 N	Checked By:		Scale	1:40
(m)	Sar Depth	nples and Insit	tu Tests Results	Water	.egend	Depth (Thickness)	Level (m OD)		Stratum Dese	cription		Instrum entatior /Backfill
_				E		(0.20)	75.96	Macadam	וחאו			
						(0.50)	10.00	Medium dens	e reddish brown	clayey gra	avelly SAND.	
	0.50	ES ESES1				(0.50)		[MADE GRO	rounded brick and UND]	a fiint.		
-		PID	0 ppmv	-		0.70 (0.20)	75.46	Medium dens	e reddish grey cl	ayey sligh	tly gravelly	
- 1	1.00	S	N=14			0.90	75.26	[MADE GRO	el is subrounded fi UND]	lint and br	ICK.	
-		D1 PID	0 ppmv			1.20	74.96		e yellow medium וסאון	SAND.		
E	1 50		0 0000	E		(0.25) 1.45	74.71	Firm yellow a	nd red very sand	y gravelly	CLAY. Gravel	
	1.50	FID	0 ppillv			(0.35)		[MADE GRO	d brick. UND]			
				- 4		1.80	74.36	Concrete slat	<i>b fragment</i>	erv arave		
_ 2	2.00	S D2	N=33					Gravel is sub	rounded flint.			
-		PID	0 ppmv			(0.75)		subrounded f	rown sandy grave lint.	elly CLAY.	Gravel Is	
- I	2.50	PID	0 ppmv	- 4		2 55	73 61			-		
FI						(0.20) (A.75)	73.41	Gravel is sub	e yellow gravelly rounded flint.	fine to me	edium SAND.	
	3.00	s	N=21			(2:00)	73.36	Firm yellow b	rown sandy grave	elly CLAY.	Gravel is	
	5.00	D3	0 ppm/			(0.50)		Medium dens	e yellow gravelly	fine to me	edium SAND.	
			0 ppillv	- 2		3.30	72.86	Medium dens	rounded flint.	clayey sli	ghtly gravelly	
-	3.50	PID	0 ppmv			(0.50)		SAND. Grave	el is subrounded f	lint.		
-						3.80	72.36	Medium dens	e vellowish brow	n fine to n	adium SAND	
- 4	4.00	S	N=17									
		D4 PID	0 ppmv									
	4.50	PID	0 ymgg 0			(1.20)						
			• • • •									
-												
— 5 —	5.00	PID	0 ppmv			5.00	71.16		End of Window San	nple at 5.00	m	
E												
				-								
- 6												
 												
F				F								
F				F								
El				E								
- 7				F								
				Ę								
F				F								
8												
Gene	ral Remarks	1		11		1		Water Strike	Rose to Start	Windo	Dia. (mm)	Rec. %
Scan broke	ned and cleare on out. Hand pit	ed of services t ts dua to 1 2m	by EDI prior to dri	lling. Loc 5m. Hole	ation (backfi	cored and	risinas		1.20 2.00	2.00 3.00		60 100
and r	einstated with I	Macadam.				u			3.00	4.00		90 100
									1.00	5.00		

Projec	ct Name				Pro	oject No:				WINDOW S	AMPLE
Com	et Way, Hatfi	eld					47179	9			
Client					Sta	art Date	En	d Date	Stanto	_	
Com	et Way Hatfie	eld Ltd				09/03/20)20	09/03/2020		WS0	4
Contra	actor				Gr	ound Level			-		
AFI	Howlands						75.93m	OD			
Metho	od/Plant				Co	ordinates			Logged By: CR	Sheet 1	of 1
Dan	do Terrier					521666	E	208799 N	Checked By:	Scale	1:40
(m)	Sam	nples and Insi	tu Tests	ater	Legend	Depth	Level		Stratum Description		trum ation ickfill
	Depth	Туре	Results	Š	~~~~~	(Thickness)	(m OD)	Maaadam	•		Ins ent /Ba
	0.50	PID	0 ppmv			(0.15) (8.15) (8.25)	75.78 75.68	IMADE GROU Firm grey mo [MADE GROU Soft orange b	JND] ttled orange slightly sandy JND] rown slightly sandy sightly	y gravelly CLAY.	
- - - 1	1.00	S D1	N=10			(1.75)		Gravel is sub	rounded flint.		
		PID	0 ppmv								
 	1.50	PID	0 ppmv			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
- 2	2.00	s	N=23			2.00	73.93	Firm to stiff ve	allow brown sandy gravell		
		D2 PID	19 ppmv			(0.50)		Becoming ver	ry sandy at depth.		
-	2.50	PID	0 ppmv	-		2.50	73.43	Medium dens	e vellow brown clavev ve	y gravelly	
-						(0.60)		SAND.		y graveny	
3	3.00	S D3	N=19			3.10	72.83				
-		PID	0 ppmv			(0.30)	70.50	subrounded f	lint.	CLAY. Gravel is	
-	3.50	PID	0 ppmv	-		(0.80)	72.55	LOWESTOF Loose yellow medium SAN	I FORMATION] slightly clayey slightly gra D. Gravel is subrounded f	velly fine to lint.	
_ 4	4.00	S	N=9			(0.00)					
-		PID	0 ppmv			4.20 (0.25)	71.73	Loose orangis	sh yellow slightly clayey g	ravelly SAND.	
_	4.50	PID	0 ppmv			4.45	71.48	Loose orange	T FORMATION] slightly clayey very grave	elly SAND.	
-			_			(0.55)		Gravel is sub [LOWESTOF	rounded flint. T FORMATION]		
	0.00		0 ppinv				10.00		End of Window Sample at 5.0	0m	
Εl				E							
F											
- 7				-							
_											
_				-							
FΙ				FI							
8				$\left[- \right]$							
								Motor Otalia	1##*	low Samala Dr	
Gene Scan broke 5m. I	ral Remarks ned and cleared en out. Hand pit nstalled with ga	d of services I s dug to 1.2m is bung and fli	by EDI prior to dril . Drilled to 5m. Ins ush cover.	ling. Lo stalled v	cation c with a m	cored and nonitoring	well to	Strike Time (mins)	Start Enc. 1.20 2.00 2.00 3.00 4.00 5.00	Dia. (mm)))))))))))))))))))	Rec. % 100 80 80 75

Proje	ct Name				Pr	oject No:				WINDOW	SAMPLE
Com	net Way, Hatfi	ield					47179	Ð			
Client					Sta	art Date	En	d Date	() Stante	ec wa	
Com	net Way Hatfi	eld Ltd				09/03/20	020	09/03/2020		ws	05
Contr	actor				Gr	ound Level					
AF	Howlands					76.19m OD				Shoot 2	l of 1
Dan	do Terrier				Co	521652	E	208782 N	208782 N Checked By: Scale		
(m)	Sar	nples and Insit	tu Tests	later	Legend	Depth	Level		Stratum Descriptio	'n	strum tation ackfill
	Depth	Туре	Results	5		(Thickness)	(11 00)	Macadam)Bi Bi
-						0.20)	75.99	[MADE GROU	JND]		
	0.50	FS				(0.30)	75 69	subrounded f	n clayey sandy GRAVE lint and chalk.	L. Gravel Is	
	0.00	ESES1	0.0000			(0.30)	10.00	Soft black sar	JND] ody gravelly CLAY with	brick cobbles	
		PID	0 ppmv			0.80	75.39	Gravel is sub	rounded to angular bric	ck, flint and asphalt	
- 1	1.00	S D1	N=8			1.00	75.19	Soft orange, s	JND] stained black, slightly g	ravelly CLAY.	
-		PID	0 ppmv			• • •		Gravel is sub	rounded flint and aspha	alt.	
	1.50	PID	0 ppmv		······································			Firm to stiff or	ange brown slightly sa	ndy sightly gravelly	,
						(1.50)		[LOWESTOF	TS SUDFOUNDED TIINT. T FORMATION]		
-	0.00		NL 00						-		
- 2	2.00	D2	N=20			•					
		PID	0 ppmv			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
	2.50	PID	0 ppmv			2.50	73.69	Medium dens	e light brown very clay	ey gravelly SAND.	
					·	(0.40)		[LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]		
- 3	3.00	s	N=19			2.90	73.29	Medium dens	e yellow slightly clayey	slightly gravelly	
		D3 PID	0 ppmy			(0.50)		fine to mediur			
-			0 pp			3.40	72.79	Modium done		slightly clayov	
-	3.50	PID	0 ppmv					gravelly SAN	D. Gravel is subrounde	d flint.	
-					 	(0.90)		LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]		
- 4	4.00	S	N=14								
E		PID	0 ppmv			4 30	71.80				
	4 50	PID	0 ppmy			4.50	11.05	Medium dens	e orange slightly claye	y fine to medium	
			• FF			(0.70)		[LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]		
						위 					
— 5 —	5.00	PID	0 ppmv		<u></u>	5.00	71.19		End of Window Sample at	5.00m	
-				-							
-				-							
-				-							
				Ē							
				-							
- 7				-							
F											
-				-							
FI				F							
E				FI							
- 8				FI							
Game	ral Domarka							Water Strike	v	Vindow Sample Run	
Scan	ned and cleare	d of services b	by EDI prior to dr	illing. Lo	cation of	cored and	5	Strike Time (mins)	Rose to Start 1.20	End Dia. (mm) 2.00	Rec. % 100
broke	en out. Hand pit	ts dug to 1.2m	Drilled to 5m. Ir	nstalled v	/ith a n	nonitoring	well to		2.00	3.00 4.00	80 80
									4.00	5.00	80
L											1

Proje	ct Name				Pro	oject No:					WINDOW	SAMPLE
Com	net Way, Hatfi	eld					47179	Э			_	
Client					Sta	art Date	En	d Date	Sta	ntoc		
Com	et Way Hatfi	eld Ltd				09/03/20)20	09/03/2020		mec	WS	606
Contr	actor				Gr	ound Level			_			
AF	Howlands						76.13m	OD				
Metho	od/Plant				Co	ordinates			Logged By:	CR	Sheet	1 of 1
Dan	do Terrier					521656	Е	208767 N Checked By: Scale				1:40
(m)	San	nples and Insi	tu Tests	ater	.eaend	Depth	Level		Stratum De	scription		trum ation ckfill
	Depth	Туре	Results	Š		(Thickness)	(m OD)	Macadam				Ins ent /Ba
-							75.93		JND]			
-				-		(0.25)	75.68	Firm yellow b	rown very sandy rounded flint	very grav	elly CLAY.	
-	0.50	PID	0 ppmv	- 8		(0.25)	10.00	[MADE GROU	JND]		_	
	0.70	ES ESES1				(8:38)	75.43 75.33	Firm dark bro	wn very sandy v ick fragments ar	ery gravel	ly CLAY with	
- 1	1.00	s	N=8					[MADE GROU	JND]		•	
		D1 PID	0 ppmy			(0.00)		Concrete.	וחאו			
			0 ppinv			(0.90)		Soft dark brow	wn slightly sand	/ slightly gi	ravelly CLAY.	
	1.50	PID	4 ppmv					[MADE GROU	JND] rown slightly sa	ndv sliahtly	CLAY with	
						1.70	74.43	regualr brick f	fragments	, eg,	02.0	
-	1.90	ES						[MADE GROU	JND] arev sliabtly are		/	/
- 2	2.00	ESES2 S	N=7			(0.75)		LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]			
-		D2 PID	58 ppmv			- -		Strong hydrod	carbon smell			
_	2.50	PID	6 ppmv			2.45	73.68	Medium dens	e grey very clay	ey gravelly	SAND. Grave	el
-					 	(0.45)		is subrounded	d flint. T FORMATIONI			
-				- 1		2.90	73.23	LOWESTOF			SAND Grav	
— 3 —	3.00	S D3	N=20	- 13		(0.30)		is subrounded	d flint.	ey graveny	SAND. GIAV	
_		PID	0 ppmv			3.20	72.93		T FORMATION]		Pravel is	_/\` ``
	3.50	PID	0 ppmv			3.50	72.63	subrounded fl	lint.	IIY CLAI. C		
					· · · · · · ·			LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]	aravelly S	AND Gravel	
						(0.80)		subrounded fl	lint.	graveny e		
_ 4	4.00	S D4	N=18					[LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]			
		PID	0 ppmv		·	4.30	71.83					
	4.50	PID	0 ymgg 0		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(0.30)		Gravel is sub	e yellow clayey rounded flint.	very grave	lly SAND.	
			• pp			(2:58)	71.53	LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]			
					· · · · · ·	(0.30)	71.43	Medium dens Gravel is subi	e dark brown cla rounded flint.	ayey grave	lly SAND.	
_ 5				- F		5.00	71.13	LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]			
								subrounded fl	e orange clayey lint.	gravelly S	AND. Gravel I	s
_								LOWESTOF	T FORMATION	mplo at 5 00	m	
-				-						imple at 5.00	"	
-				-								
6				-								
$\left - \right $				E I								
F				FI								
F				FI								
F				FI								
- 7				-								
-				-								
 												
F												
 				F								
- 8				⊨								
											-	
Gene	ral Remarks						5	Water Strike Strike Time (mins)	Rose to Start	Windo End	Dia. (mm)	Rec. %
Scan broke	ned and cleare en out. Hand pit	a ot services t ts dug to 1.2m	by EDI prior to dri . Drilled to 5m. In	iiing. Loc stalled w	ation o ith a n	cored and	well to		1.20 2.00	2.00 3.00		100 80
5m. I	nstalled with ga	as bung and flu	ush cover.						3.00	4.00		60 60
									1.00	0.00		

Project	t Name				Pro	ject No:				,		SAMPLE
Come	et Way, Hatfi	eld					47179)				
Client					Sta	art Date	En	d Date	Stant			
Come	et Way Hatfie	eld Ltd				09/03/20)20	09/03/2020			WS)7
Contra	ctor				Gro	ound Level						
AFH	lowlands						76.21m	OD			Cheat 1	of 1
Method	d/Plant				Co	ordinates	-	000750 N		•	Sheet I	
Dand	lo Terrier					5126//	E	208756 N	Checked By:		Scale	
(m)	Sam	ples and Insi	tu Tests	Vater	Legend	Depth	Level (m OD)		Stratum Descript	ion		strun ntatio
	Depth	lype	Results			(Thickness) (0.03)	76.18	Macadam				브린
_						0.21	76.00		JND]	15m		
_	0.50	ES				(0.49)		[MADE GROU	JND]	1311		
-		ESES1	0 ρρωγ	-		(0.00)	75.51	Reddish brow subangular to	In clayey sandy GRA subrounded flint and	VEL. G I brick '	Gravel is with regular	
-			0 ppmv	-			75.50	brick cobbles				Λ
— 1 —				-				Concrete	נטאכ			-/
-				-					JND] End of Window Sample a	at 0.70n	n	
_				-								
-				-								
				Ē								
				_								
_												
_				-								
-				-								
- - 3				-								
-				-								
_				-								
-				-								
_				-								
_ 4				Ē								
_												
-				-								
— 5 —				-								
_				-								
_				-								
_				-								
				E								
				-								
				<u> </u>								
				⊧								
- 7				-								
 				F								
_				-								
$\left \right $				-								
El				E								
8				FI								
Gonor	al Romarka							Water Strike		Windov	v Sample Run	
Scann	a remarks	d of services b	by EDI prior to drilli	ng. Lo	cation c	ored and	5	Strike Time (mins)	Rose to Start	End	Dia. (mm)	Rec. %
broker	n out. Hole terr	ninated at 0.7	m due to hitting rei	nforce	d concr	ete. Hole						
		yo ana remole		•								

Proje	ct Name				Pro	oject No:					MPLE	
Con	net Way, Hatfi	ield					47179)				
Clien	t				Sta	art Date	En	d Date	Stanted		_	
Con	net Way Hatfi	eld Ltd				09/03/20)20	09/03/2020		WS0	8	
Contr	actor				Gr	ound Level						
AF	Howlands				0-		76.13m	OD	Logged By: CR	Sheet 1 c	of 1	
Dan	do Terrier				Co	521688	E	208787 N	208787 N Checked By: Scale			
(m)	San	nples and Insit	tu Tests Booulto	Vater	egend	Depth	Level (m OD)		Stratum Description		nstrum ntation 3ackfill	
_	Depth	туре	Results			(0.15)	75.00	Macadam				
-	0.50	PID	0 ppmv			0.15 (0.25) 0.40	75.98	[MADE GROU Firm grey mo Gravel is sub brick. [MADE GROU	JND] ttled orange slightly sandy rounded to subangular flin JND]	r gravelly CLAY. t, concrete and		
- - 1 -	1.00	S D1 PID	N=7		<u>ve</u>	(1.50)		subrounded fl	orown silty slightly gravelly lint. T FORMATION]	CLAY. Gravel is		
- - -	1.50	PID	0 ppmv	- * - ×. - *.	<u>ve</u>							
- - - 2 -	2.00	S D2	N=36			1.90	74.23	Firm to stiff lig Gravel is subi	yht orange brown sandy gi rounded flint.	ravelly CLAY.		
-		PID	0 ppmv	- (*** - (***		(0.60)		[LOWESTOF	T FORMATION]			
-	2.50	PID	3 ppmv			2.50	73.63	Medium dens Gravel is subi ILOWESTOF	e yellow gravelly fine to m rounded flint. T FORMATION1	edium SAND.		
- - 3 -	3.00	S D3 PID	N=13 18 ppmv			3.10	73.03	Medium dens	e orange brown very clay	ey gravelly	-	
- - -	3.50	PID	0 ppmv			3.40	72.73	[LOWESTOF] Loose orange [LOWESTOF]	yellow gravelly fine to me FORMATION]	edium SAND.		
- - 4 -	4.00	S D4 PID	N=9 0 ppmv			4.20	71.93	Loose orange	brown slightly clayey slig	htly gravelly fine		
-	4.50	PID	0 ppmv	1 - 1 - 1 - 1		(0.80)		to medium SA [LOWESTOF	AND. Gravel is subrounder T FORMATION]	d flint.		
_ 5 _	5.00	PID	0 ppmv			5.00	71.13		End of Window Sample at 5.0	0m		
 6				-								
- - -												
- - - - 7												
- - - -				- - - -								
- 8												
							 	Minter Of the		ou Cometa Der		
Gene Scar broke and i	eral Remarks ned and cleare en out. Hand pit reinstated with I	d of services t s dug to 1.2m Macadam.	by EDI prior to dri . Hole drilled to 5	lling. Loca m. Hole b	ation c ackfill	cored and led with ar	isings	vvater Strike Strike Time (mins)	Wind Rose to Start End 1.20 2.00 3.00 3.00 4.00 5.00	Dia. (mm)	Rec. % 100 100 55 60	



Appendix B Geochemical Laboratory Analysis Results



Report No.:	20-08170-1		
Initial Date of Issue:	24-Mar-2020		
Client	Stantec UK Limited		
Client Address:	3rd Floor 50-60 Station Road Cambridge Cambridgeshire CB1 2JH		
Contact(s):	Oliver Belson Christopher Radbone		
Project	47179 Comet Way, Hatfield		
Quotation No.:		Date Received:	13-Mar-2020
Order No.:	32280	Date Instructed:	18-Mar-2020
No. of Samples:	7		
Turnaround (Wkdays):	5	Results Due:	24-Mar-2020
Date Approved:	24-Mar-2020		
Approved By:			
Details:	Glynn Harvey, Technical Manager		

Chemtest The right chemistry to deliver results

<u>Results - Soil</u>

	ino ng		inou y	10 0011001	
Project:	47179	Comet	Way.	Hatfield	

Client: Stantec UK Limited		Che	mtest J	ob No.:	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170
Quotation No.:	(Chemte	est Sam	ple ID.:	985727	985729	985730	985732	985733	985734	985736
		Cli	ent Sam	ple ID.:	ES1	ES3	ES1	ES1	ES2	ES1	ES1
		Sa	ample Lo	ocation:	CP01	CP01	CP02	WS01	WS02	WS04	WS08
			Sampl	e Type:	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL
			Top Dep	oth (m):	0.25	2.50	0.35	0.40	0.80	0.20	0.25
			Date Sa	ampled:	09-Mar-2020	11-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020
		-	Asbest	os Lab:	COVENTRY		COVENTRY	COVENTRY	COVENTRY	COVENTRY	COVENTRY
Determinand	Accred.	SOP	Units	LOD							
АСМ Туре	U	2192		N/A	-		-	-	-	-	-
Asbestos Identification	U	2192	%	0.001	No Asbestos Detected		No Asbestos Detected				
ACM Detection Stage	U	2192		N/A	-		-	-	-	-	-
Moisture	N	2030	%	0.020	7.5	12	13	9.3	14	12	15
Natural Moisture Content	N	2030	%	0.020	8.1	13	15	10	17	13	17
Soil Colour	N	2040		N/A	Brown,	Brown,	Brown,	Brown,	Brown,	Brown,	Brown,
Other Material	N	2040		N/A	Stones,	Stones,	Stones,	Stones,	Stones,	Stones,	Stones,
Soil Texture	N	2040		N/A	Sand,	Clay,	Clay,	Sand,	Clay,	Clay,	Clay,
Chromatogram (TPH)	N			N/A	See Attached	See Attached	See Attached	See Attached	See Attached	See Attached	See Attached
рН	М	2010		4.0			8.8	10.0		8.2	
Arsenic	М	2450	mg/kg	1.0	22		10	22	8.4	10	11
Cadmium	М	2450	mg/kg	0.10	0.18		0.29	0.21	< 0.10	0.48	0.49
Chromium	М	2450	mg/kg	1.0	23		24	25	22	28	22
Copper	U	2450	mg/kg	0.50	19		17	13	11	30	35
Mercury	М	2450	mg/kg	0.10	< 0.10		< 0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	0.12	0.24
Nickel	М	2450	mg/kg	0.50	24		23	25	18	26	21
Lead	М	2450	mg/kg	0.50	34		32	32	14	47	110
Selenium	М	2450	mg/kg	0.20	< 0.20		0.21	< 0.20	0.34	0.27	0.25
Zinc	U	2450	mg/kg	0.50	79		61	68	43	100	91
Chromium (Hexavalent)	N	2490	mg/kg	0.50	< 0.50		< 0.50	< 0.50	< 0.50	< 0.50	< 0.50
Aliphatic TPH >C5-C6	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C6-C8	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C8-C10	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C10-C12	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C12-C16	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C16-C21	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C21-C35	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	92	< 1.0	< 1.0	8.3	< 1.0	39	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C35-C44	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Total Aliphatic Hydrocarbons	N	2680	mg/kg	5.0	92	< 5.0	< 5.0	8.3	< 5.0	39	< 5.0
Aromatic TPH >C5-C7	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C7-C8	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C8-C10	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C10-C12	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C12-C16	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C16-C21	U	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C21-C35	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	290	< 1.0	< 1.0	380	< 1.0	73	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C35-C44	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0

The right chemistry to deliver results Project: 47179 Comet Way, Hatfield

Results - Soil

Client: Stantec UK Limited	Chemtest Job No.:		20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170		
Quotation No.:		Chemte	st Samp	ole ID.:	985727	985729	985730	985732	985733	985734	985736
		Clie	ent Sam	ple ID.:	ES1	ES3	ES1	ES1	ES2	ES1	ES1
		Sa	mple Lo	cation:	CP01	CP01	CP02	WS01	WS02	WS04	WS08
			Sample	e Type:	SOIL						
			Тор Dep	oth (m):	0.25	2.50	0.35	0.40	0.80	0.20	0.25
			Date Sa	mpled:	09-Mar-2020	11-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020
			Asbest	os Lab:	COVENTRY		COVENTRY	COVENTRY	COVENTRY	COVENTRY	COVENTRY
Determinand	Accred.	SOP	Units	LOD							
Total Aromatic Hydrocarbons	N	2680	mg/kg	5.0	290	< 5.0	< 5.0	380	< 5.0	73	< 5.0
Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons	N	2680	mg/kg	10.0	380	< 10	< 10	390	< 10	110	< 10
Dichlorodifluoromethane	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
Chloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
Vinyl Chloride	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
Bromomethane	М	2760	µg/kg	20		< 20					
Chloroethane	U	2760	µg/kg	2.0		< 2.0					
Trichlorofluoromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
1,1-Dichloroethene	М	2760	mg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
Trans 1,2-Dichloroethene	М	2760	mg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
1,1-Dichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
cis 1,2-Dichloroethene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
Bromochloromethane	U	2760	µg/kg	5.0		< 5.0					
Trichloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
Tetrachloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
1,1-Dichloropropene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
Benzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
1,2-Dichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	2.0		< 2.0					
Trichloroethene	N	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
1,2-Dichloropropane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
Dibromomethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
Bromodichloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	5.0		< 5.0					
cis-1,3-Dichloropropene	N	2760	µg/kg	10		< 10					
Toluene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Trans-1,3-Dichloropropene	N	2760	µg/kg	10		< 10					
1,1,2-Trichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	10		< 10					
Tetrachloroethene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
1,3-Dichloropropane	U	2760	µg/kg	2.0		< 2.0					
Dibromochloromethane	U	2760	µg/kg	10		< 10					
1,2-Dibromoethane	М	2760	µg/kg	5.0		< 5.0					
Chlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	2.0		< 2.0					
Ethylbenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	6.6	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
m & p-Xylene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	4.8	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
o-Xylene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	1.6	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Styrene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
Tribromomethane	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					

The right chemistry to deliver results Project: 47179 Comet Way, Hatfield

Results - Soil

Client: Stantec UK Limited	Chemtest Job No.:		20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170		
Quotation No.:	C	Chemte	st Sam	ole ID.:	985727	985729	985730	985732	985733	985734	985736
		Clie	ent Sam	ple ID.:	ES1	ES3	ES1	ES1	ES2	ES1	ES1
		Sa	mple Lo	cation:	CP01	CP01	CP02	WS01	WS02	WS04	WS08
			Sample	e Type:	SOIL						
			Тор Dep	oth (m):	0.25	2.50	0.35	0.40	0.80	0.20	0.25
			Date Sa	mpled:	09-Mar-2020	11-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020
			Asbest	os Lab:	COVENTRY		COVENTRY	COVENTRY	COVENTRY	COVENTRY	COVENTRY
Determinand	Accred.	SOP	Units	LOD							
Isopropylbenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		2.3					
Bromobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
1,2,3-Trichloropropane	N	2760	µg/kg	50		< 50					
N-Propylbenzene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0		6.7					
2-Chlorotoluene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		6.8					
4-Chlorotoluene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
Tert-Butylbenzene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		21					
Sec-Butylbenzene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
1,3-Dichlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
4-Isopropyltoluene	υ	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
1,4-Dichlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
N-Butylbenzene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0		5.4					
1,2-Dichlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
1,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane	U	2760	µg/kg	50		< 50					
1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
Hexachlorobutadiene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0		< 1.0					
1,2,3-Trichlorobenzene	U	2760	µg/kg	2.0		< 2.0					
Methyl Tert-Butyl Ether	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Naphthalene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.060	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010
Acenaphthylene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.080	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010
Acenaphthene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.10	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010
Fluorene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010
Phenanthrene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.76	< 0.010	0.26	0.14	< 0.010	0.75	< 0.010
Anthracene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.23	< 0.010	0.050	0.030	< 0.010	0.20	< 0.010
Fluoranthene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	1.8	0.10	1.1	0.37	< 0.010	1.7	0.83
Pyrene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	1.5	0.15	0.98	0.36	< 0.010	1.5	0.69
Benzo[a]anthracene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.71	< 0.010	0.49	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.58	0.44
Chrysene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.59	< 0.010	0.37	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.50	0.33
Benzo[b]fluoranthene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	1.2	< 0.010	0.87	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.86	0.65
Benzo[k]fluoranthene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.36	< 0.010	0.18	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.17	0.22
Benzo[a]pyrene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	1.4	< 0.010	0.81	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.66	0.65
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)Pyrene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.98	< 0.010	0.44	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.40	0.53
Dibenz(a,h)Anthracene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.18	< 0.010	0.040	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.060	0.040
Benzo[g,h,i]perylene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.71	< 0.010	0.34	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.49	0.47
Total Of 16 PAH's	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.20	11	0.25	5.9	0.90	< 0.20	7.9	4.9
PCB 28	U	2815	mg/kg	0.010						< 0.010	< 0.010



Results - Soil

Client: Stantec UK Limited	Chemtest Job No.:			20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	20-08170	
Quotation No.:	(Chemtest Sample ID.:			985727	985729	985730	985732	985733	985734	985736
		Client Sample ID.:			ES1	ES3	ES1	ES1	ES2	ES1	ES1
		Sample Location:			CP01	CP01	CP02	WS01	WS02	WS04	WS08
	Sample Type:			SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	
	Top Depth (m):			0.25	2.50	0.35	0.40	0.80	0.20	0.25	
	Date Sampled:			09-Mar-2020	11-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	
			Asbest	os Lab:	COVENTRY		COVENTRY	COVENTRY	COVENTRY	COVENTRY	COVENTRY
Determinand	Accred.	SOP	Units	LOD							
PCB 52	U	2815	mg/kg	0.010						< 0.010	< 0.010
PCB 90+101	U	2815	mg/kg	0.010						< 0.010	< 0.010
PCB 118	U	2815	mg/kg	0.010						< 0.010	< 0.010
PCB 153	U	2815	mg/kg	0.010						< 0.010	< 0.010
PCB 138	U	2815	mg/kg	0.010						< 0.010	< 0.010
PCB 180	U	2815	mg/kg	0.010						< 0.010	< 0.010
Total PCBs (7 Congeners)	U	2815	mg/kg	0.10						< 0.10	< 0.10
VOC TIC	N	2760	µg/kg	N/A		None Detected					





Test Methods

SOP	Title	Parameters included	Method summary
2010	pH Value of Soils	pН	pH Meter
2030	Moisture and Stone Content of Soils(Requirement of MCERTS)	Moisture content	Determination of moisture content of soil as a percentage of its as received mass obtained at <37°C.
2040	Soil Description(Requirement of MCERTS)	Soil description	As received soil is described based upon BS5930
2120	Water Soluble Boron, Sulphate, Magnesium & Chromium	Boron; Sulphate; Magnesium; Chromium	Aqueous extraction / ICP-OES
2192	Asbestos	Asbestos	Polarised light microscopy / Gravimetry
2450	Acid Soluble Metals in Soils	Metals, including: Arsenic; Barium; Beryllium; Cadmium; Chromium; Cobalt; Copper; Lead; Manganese; Mercury; Molybdenum; Nickel; Selenium; Vanadium; Zinc	Acid digestion followed by determination of metals in extract by ICP-MS.
2490	Hexavalent Chromium in Soils	Chromium [VI]	Soil extracts are prepared by extracting dried and ground soil samples into boiling water. Chromium [VI] is determined by 'Aquakem 600' Discrete Analyser using 1,5-diphenylcarbazide.
2680	TPH A/A Split	Aliphatics: >C5–C6, >C6–C8,>C8–C10, >C10–C12, >C12–C16, >C16–C21, >C21– C35, >C35–C44Aromatics: >C5–C7, >C7–C8, >C8–C10, >C10–C12, >C12–C16, >C16–C21, >C21–C35, >C35–C44	Dichloromethane extraction / GCxGC FID detection
2760	Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) in Soils by Headspace GC-MS	Volatile organic compounds, including BTEX and halogenated Aliphatic/Aromatics.(cf. USEPA Method 8260)*please refer to UKAS schedule	Automated headspace gas chromatographic (GC) analysis of a soil sample, as received, with mass spectrometric (MS) detection of volatile organic compounds.
2800	Speciated Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAH) in Soil by GC-MS	Acenaphthene*; Acenaphthylene; Anthracene*; Benzo[a]Anthracene*; Benzo[a]Pyrene*; Benzo[b]Fluoranthene*; Benzo[ghi]Perylene*; Benzo[k]Fluoranthene; Chrysene*; Dibenz[ah]Anthracene; Fluoranthene*; Fluorene*; Indeno[123cd]Pyrene*; Naphthalene*; Phenanthrene*; Pyrene*	Dichloromethane extraction / GC-MS
2815	Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCB) ICES7Congeners in Soils by GC-MS	ICES7 PCB congeners	Acetone/Hexane extraction / GC-MS


Report Information

Key

- U UKAS accredited
- M MCERTS and UKAS accredited
- N Unaccredited
- S This analysis has been subcontracted to a UKAS accredited laboratory that is accredited for this analysis
- SN This analysis has been subcontracted to a UKAS accredited laboratory that is not accredited for this analysis
- T This analysis has been subcontracted to an unaccredited laboratory
- I/S Insufficient Sample
- U/S Unsuitable Sample
- N/E not evaluated
- < "less than"
- > "greater than"

Comments or interpretations are beyond the scope of UKAS accreditation The results relate only to the items tested Uncertainty of measurement for the determinands tested are available upon request None of the results in this report have been recovery corrected All results are expressed on a dry weight basis The following tests were analysed on samples as received and the results subsequently corrected to a dry weight basis TPH, BTEX, VOCs, SVOCs, PCBs, Phenols For all other tests the samples were dried at < 37°C prior to analysis All Asbestos testing is performed at the indicated laboratory Issue numbers are sequential starting with 1 all subsequent reports are incremented by 1

Sample Deviation Codes

- A Date of sampling not supplied
- B Sample age exceeds stability time (sampling to extraction)
- C Sample not received in appropriate containers
- D Broken Container
- E Insufficient Sample (Applies to LOI in Trommel Fines Only)

Sample Retention and Disposal

All soil samples will be retained for a period of 45 days from the date of receipt All water samples will be retained for 14 days from the date of receipt Charges may apply to extended sample storage

If you require extended retention of samples, please email your requirements to:

customerservices@chemtest.com



Report No.:	20-08295-1		
Initial Date of Issue:	23-Mar-2020		
Client	Stantec UK Limited		
Client Address:	3rd Floor 50-60 Station Road Cambridge Cambridgeshire CB1 2JH		
Contact(s):	Oliver Belson		
Project	47179 Comet Way, Hatfield		
Quotation No.:		Date Received:	16-Mar-2020
Order No.:	32280	Date Instructed:	18-Mar-2020
No. of Samples:	5		
Turnaround (Wkdays):	5	Results Due:	24-Mar-2020
Date Approved:	23-Mar-2020		
Approved By:			
Details:	Glynn Harvey, Technical Manager		

Chemtest The right chemistry to deliver results Project: 47179 Comet Way, Hatfield

Results - Soil

Client: Stantec UK Limited		Che	mtest Jo	ob No.:	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295
Quotation No.:	(Chemte	est Sam	ple ID.:	986363	986365	986366	986367	986369
		Cli	ent Sam	ple ID.:	ES1	ES1	ES1	ES2	ES1
		Sa	ample Lo	ocation:	WS03	WS05	WS06	WS06	WS07
			Sampl	е Туре:	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL
			Top Dep	oth (m):	0.5	0.5	0.7	1.9	0.5
			Date Sa	ampled:	10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	12-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020
		Asbestos Lab:		LIVERPOOL	LIVERPOOL	LIVERPOOL		LIVERPOOL	
Determinand	Accred.	SOP	Units	LOD					
АСМ Туре	U	2192		N/A	-	-	-		Board
Asbestos Identification	U	2192	%	0.001	No Asbestos Detected	No Asbestos Detected	No Asbestos Detected		Amosite
ACM Detection Stage	U	2192		N/A	-	-	-		Stereo Microscopy
Moisture	N	2030	%	0.020	9.9	12	13	11	13
Natural Moisture Content	Ν	2030	%	0.020	11	13	15	12	15
Soil Colour	Ν	2040		N/A	Brown,	Brown,	Brown,	Brown,	Brown,
Other Material	Ν	2040		N/A	Stones,	Stones,	Stones,	Stones,	Stones,
Soil Texture	Ν	2040		N/A	Clay,	Clay,	Clay,	Clay,	Sand,
Chromatogram (TPH)	Ν			N/A	See Attached	See Attached	See Attached	See Attached	See Attached
рН	М	2010		4.0	9.8		9.3		
Arsenic	М	2450	mg/kg	1.0	27	9.7	17		13
Cadmium	М	2450	mg/kg	0.10	0.26	0.17	0.21		0.24
Chromium	М	2450	mg/kg	1.0	30	17	21		24
Copper	U	2450	mg/kg	0.50	21	22	27		92
Mercury	М	2450	mg/kg	0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	0.21		0.20
Nickel	М	2450	mg/kg	0.50	28	20	20		27
Lead	М	2450	mg/kg	0.50	54	46	79		310
Selenium	М	2450	mg/kg	0.20	< 0.20	0.20	0.26		< 0.20
Zinc	U	2450	mg/kg	0.50	89	69	60		300
Chromium (Hexavalent)	Ν	2490	mg/kg	0.50	< 0.50	< 0.50	< 0.50		0.52
Aliphatic TPH >C5-C6	Ν	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C6-C8	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C8-C10	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C10-C12	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C12-C16	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C16-C21	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	2.9
Aliphatic TPH >C21-C35	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	5.1	< 1.0	< 1.0	61
Aliphatic TPH >C35-C44	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Total Aliphatic Hydrocarbons	Ν	2680	mg/kg	5.0	< 5.0	5.1	< 5.0	< 5.0	63
Aromatic TPH >C5-C7	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C7-C8	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C8-C10	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C10-C12	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C12-C16	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C16-C21	U	2680	mg/kg	1.0	6.9	3.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	2.4
Aromatic TPH >C21-C35	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	170	190	< 1.0	< 1.0	160

Chemtest The right chemistry to deliver results

<u>Results - Soil</u>

20-08295

20-08295

20-08295

Project: 47179 Comet Way, Hat	eliver results field
Client: Stantec UK Limited	Chemtest Job No.:
Quotation No.:	Chemtest Sample ID.:
	Olivert Oserale ID

Quotation No.:	(Chemte	est Sam	ple ID.:	986363	986365	986366	986367	986369
		Cli	ent Sam	ple ID.:	ES1	ES1	ES1	ES2	ES1
		Sa	ample Lo	ocation:	WS03	WS05	WS06	WS06	WS07
			Sampl	e Type:	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL
			Тор Dep	oth (m):	0.5	0.5	0.7	1.9	0.5
			Date Sa	ampled:	10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	12-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020
			Asbest	os Lab:	LIVERPOOL	LIVERPOOL	LIVERPOOL		LIVERPOOL
Determinand	Accred.	SOP	Units	LOD					
Aromatic TPH >C35-C44	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Total Aromatic Hydrocarbons	N	2680	mg/kg	5.0	180	200	< 5.0	< 5.0	170
Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons	N	2680	mg/kg	10.0	180	200	< 10	< 10	230
Dichlorodifluoromethane	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Chloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Vinyl Chloride	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Bromomethane	М	2760	µg/kg	20				< 20	
Chloroethane	U	2760	µg/kg	2.0				< 2.0	
Trichlorofluoromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,1-Dichloroethene	М	2760	mg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Trans 1,2-Dichloroethene	М	2760	mg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,1-Dichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
cis 1,2-Dichloroethene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Bromochloromethane	U	2760	µg/kg	5.0				< 5.0	
Trichloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Tetrachloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,1-Dichloropropene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Benzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
1,2-Dichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	2.0				< 2.0	
Trichloroethene	N	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,2-Dichloropropane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Dibromomethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Bromodichloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	5.0				< 5.0	
cis-1,3-Dichloropropene	N	2760	µg/kg	10				< 10	
Toluene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Trans-1,3-Dichloropropene	N	2760	µg/kg	10				< 10	
1,1,2-Trichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	10				< 10	
Tetrachloroethene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,3-Dichloropropane	U	2760	µg/kg	2.0				< 2.0	
Dibromochloromethane	U	2760	µg/kg	10				< 10	
1,2-Dibromoethane	М	2760	µg/kg	5.0				< 5.0	
Chlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane	M	2760	µg/kg	2.0				< 2.0	
Ethylbenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
m & p-Xylene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
o-Xylene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Styrene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	

20-08295

20-08295

Chemtest The right chemistry to deliver results

Benzo[k]fluoranthene

Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)Pyrene

Dibenz(a,h)Anthracene

Benzo[g,h,i]perylene

Total Of 16 PAH's

Benzo[a]pyrene

Results - Soil

Client: Stantec UK Limited		Che	mtest J	ob No ·	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295
		Chemte	est Sam	nle ID ·	986363	986365	986366	986367	986369
	<u> </u>	Cli	ent Sam	nle ID ·	500505 ES1	900303 ES1	500500 ES1	900307	= 900309 = ES1
	_	Sa	ample I (ncation:	WS03	WS05	WS06	WS06	WS07
	_	00	Sample	e Type:	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL
	-			oth (m):	0.5	0.5	0.7	1.9	0.5
	-		Date Sa	ampled:	0.0 10-Mar-2020	0.5 10-Mar-2020	0.7 09-Mar-2020	12-Mar-2020	0.0 09-Mar-2020
			Ashest	os Lah				12-10101-2020	
Determinand	Accred SOP Units I O			EIVERTOOL	LIVERFOOL	LIVERI OOL		LIVERFOOL	
Tribromomethane		2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
Isopropylbenzene	M	2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
Bromobenzene	M	2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
1.2.3-Trichloropropane	N	2760	ua/ka	50				< 50	
N-Propylbenzene	U	2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
2-Chlorotoluene	M	2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
1.3.5-Trimethylbenzene	M	2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
4-Chlorotoluene		2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
Tert-Butylbenzene	U U	2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
1 2 4-Trimethylbenzene	M	2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
Sec-Butylbenzene		2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
1.3-Dichlorobenzene	M	2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
4-Isopropyltoluene	U	2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
1.4-Dichlorobenzene	M	2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
N-Butylbenzene	U	2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
1.2-Dichlorobenzene	M	2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
1.2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane	U	2760	ua/ka	50				< 50	
1.2.4-Trichlorobenzene	M	2760	ua/ka	1.0				< 1.0	
Hexachlorobutadiene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1.2.3-Trichlorobenzene	U	2760	ua/ka	2.0				< 2.0	
Methyl Tert-Butyl Ether	М	2760	ua/ka	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Naphthalene	N	2800	ma/ka	0.010	0.080	0.12	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010
Acenaphthylene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.17	0.030	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.040
Acenaphthene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.090	0.050	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010
Fluorene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.090	0.040	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.020
Phenanthrene	N	2800	mg/ka	0.010	1.1	0.33	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.62
Anthracene	N	2800	mg/ka	0.010	0.46	0.10	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.16
Fluoranthene	N	2800	mg/ka	0.010	2.7	1.4	0.31	< 0.010	1.4
Pyrene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	2.4	1.2	0.19	< 0.010	1.2
Benzo[a]anthracene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	1.2	0.71	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.72
Chrysene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.94	0.45	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.60
Benzolblfluoranthene	N	2800	ma/ka	0.010	2.2	1.1	< 0.010	< 0.010	1.0

2800

2800

2800

2800

2800

Ν

Ν

Ν

Ν

Ν

Ν

mg/kg 0.010

mg/kg 0.010

mg/kg 0.010

mg/kg 0.010

mg/kg 0.010

2800 mg/kg 0.20

0.76

2.5

1.4

0.22

1.5

18

0.26

1.2

0.55

0.14

0.52

8.2

< 0.010

< 0.010

< 0.010

< 0.010

< 0.010

< 0.010

< 0.010

< 0.010

< 0.010

< 0.010

< 0.20

0.32

0.74

0.50

0.13

0.50

7.9



Results - Soil

Client: Stantec UK Limited		Cher	ntest Jo	ob No.:	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295
Quotation No.:	Chemtest Sample ID.:		986363	986365	986366	986367	986369		
		Clie	ent Sam	ple ID.:	ES1	ES1	ES1	ES2	ES1
		Sa	ample Lo	ocation:	WS03	WS05	WS06	WS06	WS07
	Sample Type:				SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL
	Top Depth (m):			0.5	0.5	0.7	1.9	0.5	
	Date Sampled:			10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	12-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	
			Asbest	os Lab:	LIVERPOOL	LIVERPOOL	LIVERPOOL		LIVERPOOL
Determinand	Accred.	SOP	Units	LOD					
VOC TIC	N	2760	µg/kg	N/A				None Detected	













Test Methods

SOP	Title	Parameters included	Method summary
2010	pH Value of Soils	рН	pH Meter
2030	Moisture and Stone Content of Soils(Requirement of MCERTS)	Moisture content	Determination of moisture content of soil as a percentage of its as received mass obtained at <37°C.
2040	Soil Description(Requirement of MCERTS)	Soil description	As received soil is described based upon BS5930
2120	Water Soluble Boron, Sulphate, Magnesium & Chromium	Boron; Sulphate; Magnesium; Chromium	Aqueous extraction / ICP-OES
2192	Asbestos	Asbestos	Polarised light microscopy / Gravimetry
2450	Acid Soluble Metals in Soils	Metals, including: Arsenic; Barium; Beryllium; Cadmium; Chromium; Cobalt; Copper; Lead; Manganese; Mercury; Molybdenum; Nickel; Selenium; Vanadium; Zinc	Acid digestion followed by determination of metals in extract by ICP-MS.
2490	Hexavalent Chromium in Soils	Chromium [VI]	Soil extracts are prepared by extracting dried and ground soil samples into boiling water. Chromium [VI] is determined by 'Aquakem 600' Discrete Analyser using 1,5-diphenylcarbazide.
2680	TPH A/A Split	Aliphatics: >C5–C6, >C6–C8,>C8–C10, >C10–C12, >C12–C16, >C16–C21, >C21– C35, >C35–C44Aromatics: >C5–C7, >C7–C8, >C8–C10, >C10–C12, >C12–C16, >C16–C21, >C21–C35, >C35–C44	Dichloromethane extraction / GCxGC FID detection
2760	Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) in Soils by Headspace GC-MS	Volatile organic compounds, including BTEX and halogenated Aliphatic/Aromatics.(cf. USEPA Method 8260)*please refer to UKAS schedule	Automated headspace gas chromatographic (GC) analysis of a soil sample, as received, with mass spectrometric (MS) detection of volatile organic compounds.
2800	Speciated Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAH) in Soil by GC-MS	Acenaphthene*; Acenaphthylene; Anthracene*; Benzo[a]Anthracene*; Benzo[a]Pyrene*; Benzo[b]Fluoranthene*; Benzo[ghi]Perylene*; Benzo[k]Fluoranthene; Chrysene*; Dibenz[ah]Anthracene; Fluoranthene*; Fluorene*; Indeno[123cd]Pyrene*; Naphthalene*; Phenanthrene*; Pyrene*	Dichloromethane extraction / GC-MS



Report Information

Key

- U UKAS accredited
- M MCERTS and UKAS accredited
- N Unaccredited
- S This analysis has been subcontracted to a UKAS accredited laboratory that is accredited for this analysis
- SN This analysis has been subcontracted to a UKAS accredited laboratory that is not accredited for this analysis
- T This analysis has been subcontracted to an unaccredited laboratory
- I/S Insufficient Sample
- U/S Unsuitable Sample
- N/E not evaluated
- < "less than"
- > "greater than"

Comments or interpretations are beyond the scope of UKAS accreditation The results relate only to the items tested Uncertainty of measurement for the determinands tested are available upon request None of the results in this report have been recovery corrected All results are expressed on a dry weight basis The following tests were analysed on samples as received and the results subsequently corrected to a dry weight basis TPH, BTEX, VOCs, SVOCs, PCBs, Phenols For all other tests the samples were dried at < 37°C prior to analysis All Asbestos testing is performed at the indicated laboratory Issue numbers are sequential starting with 1 all subsequent reports are incremented by 1

Sample Deviation Codes

- A Date of sampling not supplied
- B Sample age exceeds stability time (sampling to extraction)
- C Sample not received in appropriate containers
- D Broken Container
- E Insufficient Sample (Applies to LOI in Trommel Fines Only)

Sample Retention and Disposal

All soil samples will be retained for a period of 45 days from the date of receipt All water samples will be retained for 14 days from the date of receipt Charges may apply to extended sample storage

If you require extended retention of samples, please email your requirements to:

customerservices@chemtest.com



Chemtest Ltd. Depot Road Newmarket CB8 0AL Tel: 01638 606070 Email: info@chemtest.com

Amended Report

Report No.:	20-08295-2		
Initial Date of Issue:	23-Mar-2020	Date of Re-Issue:	30-Apr-2020
Client	Stantec UK Limited		
Client Address:	3rd Floor 50-60 Station Road Cambridge Cambridgeshire CB1 2JH		
Contact(s):	Oliver Belson		
Project	47179 Comet Way, Hatfield		
Quotation No.:		Date Received:	16-Mar-2020
Order No.:	32280	Date Instructed:	18-Mar-2020
No. of Samples:	6		
Turnaround (Wkdays):	34	Results Due:	06-May-2020
Date Approved:	30-Apr-2020		
Approved By:			
Details:	Glynn Harvey, Technical Manager		

Chemtest The right chemistry to deliver results Pı

<u> Results - Soil</u>

	. 47	170	Comot	May	Untiald	1000
rolect	: 41	179	Comet	wav.	патнего	

Client: Stantec UK Limited	Chemtest Job No.:		20-08295	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295		
Quotation No.:	(Chemte	est Sam	ple ID.:	986363	986365	986366	986367	986369
		Cli	ent Sam	ple ID.:	ES1	ES1	ES1	ES2	ES1
		Sa	ample Lo	ocation:	WS03	WS05	WS06	WS06	WS07
			Sampl	e Type:	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL
			Top Dep	oth (m):	0.5	0.5	0.7	1.9	0.5
			Date Sa	ampled:	10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	12-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020
			Asbest	os Lab:	LIVERPOOL	LIVERPOOL	LIVERPOOL		LIVERPOOL
Determinand	Accred.	SOP	Units	LOD					
АСМ Туре	U	2192		N/A	-	-	-		Board
Asbestos Identification	U	2192	%	0.001	No Asbestos Detected	No Asbestos Detected	No Asbestos Detected		Amosite
ACM Detection Stage	U	2192		N/A	-	-	-		Stereo Microscopy
Asbestos by Gravimetry	U	2192	%	0.001					0.005
Total Asbestos	N	2192	%	0.001					0.005
Moisture	N	2030	%	0.020	9.9	12	13	11	13
Natural Moisture Content	N	2030	%	0.020	11	13	15	12	15
Soil Colour	N	2040		N/A	Brown,	Brown,	Brown,	Brown,	Brown,
Other Material	N	2040		N/A	Stones,	Stones,	Stones,	Stones,	Stones,
Soil Texture	N	2040		N/A	Clay,	Clay,	Clay,	Clay,	Sand,
Chromatogram (TPH)	N			N/A	See Attached	See Attached	See Attached	See Attached	See Attached
рН	М	2010		4.0	9.8		9.3		
Arsenic	М	2450	mg/kg	1.0	27	9.7	17		13
Cadmium	М	2450	mg/kg	0.10	0.26	0.17	0.21		0.24
Chromium	М	2450	mg/kg	1.0	30	17	21		24
Copper	М	2450	mg/kg	0.50	21	22	27		92
Mercury	М	2450	mg/kg	0.10	< 0.10	< 0.10	0.21		0.20
Nickel	М	2450	mg/kg	0.50	28	20	20		27
Lead	М	2450	mg/kg	0.50	54	46	79		310
Selenium	М	2450	mg/kg	0.20	< 0.20	0.20	0.26		< 0.20
Zinc	М	2450	mg/kg	0.50	89	69	60		300
Chromium (Hexavalent)	N	2490	mg/kg	0.50	< 0.50	< 0.50	< 0.50		0.52
Aliphatic TPH >C5-C6	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C6-C8	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C8-C10	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C10-C12	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C12-C16	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aliphatic TPH >C16-C21	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	2.9
Aliphatic TPH >C21-C35	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	5.1	< 1.0	< 1.0	61
Aliphatic TPH >C35-C44	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Total Aliphatic Hydrocarbons	N	2680	mg/kg	5.0	< 5.0	5.1	< 5.0	< 5.0	63
Aromatic TPH >C5-C7	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C7-C8	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C8-C10	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C10-C12	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Aromatic TPH >C12-C16	M	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0

Chemtest

<u>Results - Soil</u>

20-08295

986366

ES1

WS06

20-08295

986367

ES2

WS06

20-08295

986369

ES1

WS07

Project: 47179 Comet Way, Hat	field					
Client: Stantec UK Limited		Che	mtest Jo	20-08295	20-08295	
Quotation No.:	(Chemte	est Sam	ple ID.:	986363	986365
		Cli	ent Sam	ple ID.:	ES1	ES1
		Sa	ample Lo	WS03	WS05	
			Sampl	SOIL	SOIL	
			Top Dep	0.5	0.5	
			Date Sa	10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	
			Asbest	os Lab:	LIVERPOOL	LIVERPOO
Determinand	Accred.	SOP	Units	LOD		
Aromatic TPH >C16-C21	U	2680	mg/kg	1.0	6.9	3.0
Aromatic TPH >C21-C35	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	170	190

$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			Sample Type:		SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	
Internand Internant Internant <thinternant< th=""> <thinternant< th=""> <thi< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>Тор Dep</td><td>oth (m):</td><td>0.5</td><td>0.5</td><td>0.7</td><td>1.9</td><td>0.5</td></thi<></thinternant<></thinternant<>				Тор Dep	oth (m):	0.5	0.5	0.7	1.9	0.5
Determinant Accard. SOP Units LUVERPOOL LUVERPOOL LUVERPOOL Anomatic TPH >C16-C21 U 2680 mg/kg 1.0 6.9 3.0 <1.0				Date Sa	ampled:	10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	12-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020
Determinand Accred. SOP Ints LOD Int Int Int Aromatic TPH >C16+C21 U 2680 mg/kg 1.0 6.9 3.0 <1.0				Asbest	os Lab:	LIVERPOOL	LIVERPOOL	LIVERPOOL		LIVERPOOL
Aromatic TPH >C16-C21 U 2880 mg/kg 1.0 6.9 3.0 <1.0 <1.0 2.4 Aromatic TPH >C23-C35 M 2680 mg/kg 1.0 <1.0	Determinand	Accred.	SOP	Units	LOD					
Aromatic TPH > C21-C35 M 2880 mg/kg 1.0 170 190 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <td>Aromatic TPH >C16-C21</td> <td>U</td> <td>2680</td> <td>mg/kg</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>6.9</td> <td>3.0</td> <td>< 1.0</td> <td>< 1.0</td> <td>2.4</td>	Aromatic TPH >C16-C21	U	2680	mg/kg	1.0	6.9	3.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	2.4
Aromatic TPH >C35-C44 N 2680 mg/kg 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0	Aromatic TPH >C21-C35	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	170	190	< 1.0	< 1.0	160
Total Aromatic Hydrocarbons N 2680 mg/kg 5.0 180 200 < 5.0 < 6.0 170 Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons N 2680 mg/kg 1.0	Aromatic TPH >C35-C44	N	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons N 280 mg/kg 10.0 180 200 < 10 < 10 230 Dichiorodifluoromethane U 2760 µg/kg 1.0 < 1.0	Total Aromatic Hydrocarbons	N	2680	mg/kg	5.0	180	200	< 5.0	< 5.0	170
Dicklorodifluoromethane U 2760 µg/kg 1.0	Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons	N	2680	mg/kg	10.0	180	200	< 10	< 10	230
Chloromethane M 2760 µg/kg 1.0 <th< td=""><td>Dichlorodifluoromethane</td><td>U</td><td>2760</td><td>µg/kg</td><td>1.0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>< 1.0</td><td></td></th<>	Dichlorodifluoromethane	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Viny Chloride M 2760 µg/kg 1.0 < < < < < < < < < < < < <td>Chloromethane</td> <td>М</td> <td>2760</td> <td>µg/kg</td> <td>1.0</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>< 1.0</td> <td></td>	Chloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Bromomethane M 2760 µg/kg 20 < < < < < < < < < < < <	Vinyl Chloride	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Chloroethane U 2760 µg/kg 2.0 < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < <	Bromomethane	М	2760	µg/kg	20				< 20	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Chloroethane	U	2760	µg/kg	2.0				< 2.0	
1,1-Dichloroethene M 2760 mg/kg 1.0	Trichlorofluoromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Trans 1,2-Dichloroethene M 2760 mg/kg 1.0	1,1-Dichloroethene	М	2760	mg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,1-DichloroethaneM2760 $\mu g/kg$ 1.0<<<< </td <td>Trans 1,2-Dichloroethene</td> <td>М</td> <td>2760</td> <td>mg/kg</td> <td>1.0</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>< 1.0</td> <td></td>	Trans 1,2-Dichloroethene	М	2760	mg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
cis 1,2-Dichloroethane M 2760 µg/kg 1.0 < < < < < < < < < < <t< td=""><td>1,1-Dichloroethane</td><td>М</td><td>2760</td><td>µg/kg</td><td>1.0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>< 1.0</td><td></td></t<>	1,1-Dichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Bromochloromethane U 2760 µg/kg 5.0 < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < <td>cis 1,2-Dichloroethene</td> <td>М</td> <td>2760</td> <td>µg/kg</td> <td>1.0</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>< 1.0</td> <td></td>	cis 1,2-Dichloroethene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Trichloromethane M 2760 µg/kg 1.0	Bromochloromethane	U	2760	µg/kg	5.0				< 5.0	
1,1,1-TrichloroethaneM2760 $\mu g/kg$ 1.0 </td <td>Trichloromethane</td> <td>М</td> <td>2760</td> <td>µg/kg</td> <td>1.0</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>< 1.0</td> <td></td>	Trichloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Tetrachloromethane M 2760 µg/kg 1.0 < < < < < < < < < < < <	1,1,1-Trichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,1-Dichloropropene U 2760 µg/kg 1.0	Tetrachloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Benzene M 2760 µg/kg 1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <th< td=""><td>1,1-Dichloropropene</td><td>U</td><td>2760</td><td>µg/kg</td><td>1.0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>< 1.0</td><td></td></th<>	1,1-Dichloropropene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,2-Dichloroethane M 2760 µg/kg 2.0 Image: Married M	Benzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Trichloroethene N 2760 µg/kg 1.0 Image: constraint of the system < 1.0 < 1.0 1,2-Dichloropropane M 2760 µg/kg 1.0 <	1,2-Dichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	2.0				< 2.0	
1,2-Dichloropropane M 2760 µg/kg 1.0 <th< td=""><td>Trichloroethene</td><td>N</td><td>2760</td><td>µg/kg</td><td>1.0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>< 1.0</td><td></td></th<>	Trichloroethene	N	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Dibromomethane M 2760 µg/kg 1.0 < < < < < < <	1,2-Dichloropropane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Bromodichloromethane M 2760 µg/kg 5.0 Image: Marrier Stress of Stres	Dibromomethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
cis-1,3-Dichloropropene N 2760 µg/kg 10 < < < < < < < < < < < <	Bromodichloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	5.0				< 5.0	
Toluene M 2760 µg/kg 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.	cis-1,3-Dichloropropene	N	2760	µg/kg	10				< 10	
Trans-1,3-Dichloropropene N 2760 µg/kg 10 < < < < < < < < < < <	Toluene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
1,1,2-Trichloroethane M 2760 µg/kg 10 Image: Constraint of the symbolic constrespondine symbolic constraint of the symbolic constra	Trans-1,3-Dichloropropene	N	2760	µg/kg	10				< 10	
Tetrachloroethene M 2760 µg/kg 1.0 Image: Constraint of the stress of the st	1,1,2-Trichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	10				< 10	
1,3-Dichloropropane U 2760 µg/kg 2.0 Image: Constraint of the symbolic constres of the symbolic constraint of the symbolic constrai	Tetrachloroethene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Dibromochloromethane U 2760 µg/kg 10	1,3-Dichloropropane	U	2760	µg/kg	2.0				< 2.0	
1,2-Dibromoethane M 2760 µg/kg 5.0 Image: Constraint of the state	Dibromochloromethane	U	2760	µg/kg	10				< 10	
Chlorobenzene M 2760 µg/kg 1.0 <th< td=""><td>1,2-Dibromoethane</td><td>М</td><td>2760</td><td>µg/kg</td><td>5.0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>< 5.0</td><td></td></th<>	1,2-Dibromoethane	М	2760	µg/kg	5.0				< 5.0	
1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane M 2760 µg/kg 2.0 < 2.0 < 2.0 Ethylbenzene M 2760 µg/kg 1.0 < 1.0	Chlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Ethylbenzene M 2760 µg/kg 1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0	1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	2.0				< 2.0	
m & p-Xylene M 2760 µg/kg 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0 < 1.0	Ethylbenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
	m & p-Xylene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0

Chemtest The right chemistry to deliver results

<u> Results - Soil</u>

The right chemistry to deliver resul	IS
Project: 47179 Comet Way, Hatfield	

Client: Stantec UK Limited		Che	mtest Jo	ob No.:	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295
Quotation No.:	(Chemte	est Sam	ple ID.:	986363	986365	986366	986367	986369
		Cli	ent Sam	ple ID.:	ES1	ES1	ES1	ES2	ES1
		Sa	ample Lo	ocation:	WS03	WS05	WS06	WS06	WS07
			Sampl	e Type:	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL
		Top Depth (m):				0.5	0.7	1.9	0.5
			Date Sa	ampled:	10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	12-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020
			Asbest	os Lab:	LIVERPOOL	LIVERPOOL	LIVERPOOL		LIVERPOOL
Determinand	Accred.	SOP	Units	LOD					
o-Xylene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Styrene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Tribromomethane	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Isopropylbenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Bromobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,2,3-Trichloropropane	Ν	2760	µg/kg	50				< 50	
N-Propylbenzene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
2-Chlorotoluene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
4-Chlorotoluene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Tert-Butylbenzene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Sec-Butylbenzene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,3-Dichlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
4-Isopropyltoluene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,4-Dichlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
N-Butylbenzene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,2-Dichlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane	U	2760	µg/kg	50				< 50	
1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
Hexachlorobutadiene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0				< 1.0	
1,2,3-Trichlorobenzene	U	2760	µg/kg	2.0				< 2.0	
Methyl Tert-Butyl Ether	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0	< 1.0
Naphthalene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.080	0.12	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010
Acenaphthylene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.17	0.030	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.040
Acenaphthene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.090	0.050	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010
Fluorene	Ν	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.090	0.040	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.020
Phenanthrene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	1.1	0.33	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.62
Anthracene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.46	0.10	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.16
Fluoranthene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	2.7	1.4	0.31	< 0.010	1.4
Pyrene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	2.4	1.2	0.19	< 0.010	1.2
Benzo[a]anthracene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	1.2	0.71	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.72
Chrysene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.94	0.45	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.60
Benzo[b]fluoranthene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	2.2	1.1	< 0.010	< 0.010	1.0
Benzo[k]fluoranthene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.76	0.26	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.32
Benzo[a]pyrene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	2.5	1.2	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.74
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)Pyrene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	1.4	0.55	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.50
Dibenz(a,h)Anthracene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	0.22	0.14	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.13



Results - Soil

Client: Stantec UK Limited		Che	mtest Jo	ob No.:	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295	20-08295
Quotation No.:	Chemtest Sample ID.:		986363	986365	986366	986367	986369		
	Client Sample ID.:		ES1	ES1	ES1	ES2	ES1		
	Sample Location:		WS03	WS05	WS06	WS06	WS07		
	Sample Type:			SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	SOIL	
	Top Depth (m):		0.5	0.5	0.7	1.9	0.5		
	Date Sampled:		10-Mar-2020	10-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020	12-Mar-2020	09-Mar-2020		
			Asbest	os Lab:	LIVERPOOL	LIVERPOOL	LIVERPOOL		LIVERPOOL
Determinand	Accred.	SOP	Units	LOD					
Benzo[g,h,i]perylene	N	2800	mg/kg	0.010	1.5	0.52	< 0.010	< 0.010	0.50
Total Of 16 PAH's	N	2800	mg/kg	0.20	18	8.2	0.50	< 0.20	7.9
VOC TIC	N	2760	µg/kg	N/A				None Detected	

<Sample Information> Chemtest
 Sample Name
 : 986363 20-08295

 Data Filename
 : 19 March 2020_19032020_986363 20-08295_123.gcd

 Method Finename
 : TPH 12m Fast OSv2.gcm

 Sample #
 : 62

 Data Acquired
 : 20/03/2020_02:00:53

 Date Processed
 : 20/03/2020
 The right chemistry to deliver results <Chromatogram> uV 100000-1 FID1 90000 80000 70000 60000-50000 40000-30000-20000 10000-5.0 0.0 1.5 2.0 2.5 3.0 3.5 4.0 4.5 ~----0.5 1.0 5.5 6.0 6.5 min

<Sample Information> Chemtest
 Sample Name
 : 986365 20-08295

 Data Filename
 : 19 March 2020_19032020_986365 20-08295_125.gcd

 Method Finename
 : TPH 12m Fast OSv2.gcm

 Sample #
 : 63

 Data Acquired
 : 20/03/2020_02:13:40

 Date Processed
 : 20/03/2020
 The right chemistry to deliver results <Chromatogram> uV 100000-1 FID1 90000 80000 70000 60000-50000 40000-30000 20000 10000-0.0 2.0 2.5 3.0 3.5 4.0 4.5 5.0 1.5 0.5 1.0 5.5 6.0 6.5 min

<Sample Information> Chemtest
 Sample Name
 : 986386 20-08295

 Data Filename
 : 19 March 2020_19032020_986366 20-08295_127.gcd

 Method Filename
 : TPH 12m Fast OSv2.gcm

 Sample #
 : 64

 Date Acquired
 : 20/03/2020 02:28:22

 Date Acquired
 : 20/03/2020 02:28:22
 The right chemistry to deliver results <Chromatogram> uV 100000-1 FID1 90000 80000 70000 60000-50000 40000-30000 20000 10000-0.0 5.5 2.0 2.5 3.0 3.5 4.0 4.5 1.5 5.0 0.5 1.0 6.0 6.5 min

 <Sample Information>

 Sample Name
 : 986367 20-08295

 Data Filename
 : 19 March 2020_19032020_986367 20-08295_129.gcd

 Method Filename
 : TPH 12m Fast OSv2.gcm

 Sample #
 : 65

 Date Acquired
 : 20/03/2020_02:39:07

 Date Processed
 : 20/03/2020





<Sample Information> Chemtest
 Sample Name
 : 986369 20-08295

 Data Filename
 : 19 March 2020_19032020_986369 20-08295_131.gcd

 Method Filename
 : TPH 12m Fast OSv2.gcm

 Sample #
 : 66

 Date Acquired
 : 20/03/2020 02:51:54

 Date Processed
 : 20/03/2020
 The right chemistry to deliver results <Chromatogram> uV 100000-1 FID1 90000 80000 70000 60000-50000 40000-30000 20000 10000-0.0 5.5 2.0 2.5 3.0 3.5 4.0 4.5 5.0 1.5 0.5 1.0 6.0 6.5 min



Test Methods

SOP	Title	Parameters included	Method summary
2010	pH Value of Soils	рН	pH Meter
2030	Moisture and Stone Content of Soils(Requirement of MCERTS)	Moisture content	Determination of moisture content of soil as a percentage of its as received mass obtained at <37°C.
2040	Soil Description(Requirement of MCERTS)	Soil description	As received soil is described based upon BS5930
2120	Water Soluble Boron, Sulphate, Magnesium & Chromium	Boron; Sulphate; Magnesium; Chromium	Aqueous extraction / ICP-OES
2192	Asbestos	Asbestos	Polarised light microscopy / Gravimetry
2450	Acid Soluble Metals in Soils	Metals, including: Arsenic; Barium; Beryllium; Cadmium; Chromium; Cobalt; Copper; Lead; Manganese; Mercury; Molybdenum; Nickel; Selenium; Vanadium; Zinc	Acid digestion followed by determination of metals in extract by ICP-MS.
2490	Hexavalent Chromium in Soils	Chromium [VI]	Soil extracts are prepared by extracting dried and ground soil samples into boiling water. Chromium [VI] is determined by 'Aquakem 600' Discrete Analyser using 1,5-diphenylcarbazide.
2680	TPH A/A Split	Aliphatics: >C5–C6, >C6–C8,>C8–C10, >C10–C12, >C12–C16, >C16–C21, >C21– C35, >C35–C44Aromatics: >C5–C7, >C7–C8, >C8–C10, >C10–C12, >C12–C16, >C16–C21, >C21–C35, >C35–C44	Dichloromethane extraction / GCxGC FID detection
2760	Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) in Soils by Headspace GC-MS	Volatile organic compounds, including BTEX and halogenated Aliphatic/Aromatics.(cf. USEPA Method 8260)*please refer to UKAS schedule	Automated headspace gas chromatographic (GC) analysis of a soil sample, as received, with mass spectrometric (MS) detection of volatile organic compounds.
2800	Speciated Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAH) in Soil by GC-MS	Acenaphthene*; Acenaphthylene; Anthracene*; Benzo[a]Anthracene*; Benzo[a]Pyrene*; Benzo[b]Fluoranthene*; Benzo[ghi]Perylene*; Benzo[k]Fluoranthene; Chrysene*; Dibenz[ah]Anthracene; Fluoranthene*; Fluorene*; Indeno[123cd]Pyrene*; Naphthalene*; Phenanthrene*; Pyrene*	Dichloromethane extraction / GC-MS



Report Information

Key

- U UKAS accredited
- M MCERTS and UKAS accredited
- N Unaccredited
- S This analysis has been subcontracted to a UKAS accredited laboratory that is accredited for this analysis
- SN This analysis has been subcontracted to a UKAS accredited laboratory that is not accredited for this analysis
- T This analysis has been subcontracted to an unaccredited laboratory
- I/S Insufficient Sample
- U/S Unsuitable Sample
- N/E not evaluated
- < "less than"
- > "greater than"

Comments or interpretations are beyond the scope of UKAS accreditation The results relate only to the items tested Uncertainty of measurement for the determinands tested are available upon request None of the results in this report have been recovery corrected All results are expressed on a dry weight basis The following tests were analysed on samples as received and the results subsequently corrected to a dry weight basis TPH, BTEX, VOCs, SVOCs, PCBs, Phenols For all other tests the samples were dried at < 37°C prior to analysis All Asbestos testing is performed at the indicated laboratory Issue numbers are sequential starting with 1 all subsequent reports are incremented by 1

Sample Deviation Codes

- A Date of sampling not supplied
- B Sample age exceeds stability time (sampling to extraction)
- C Sample not received in appropriate containers
- D Broken Container
- E Insufficient Sample (Applies to LOI in Trommel Fines Only)

Sample Retention and Disposal

All soil samples will be retained for a period of 45 days from the date of receipt All water samples will be retained for 14 days from the date of receipt Charges may apply to extended sample storage

If you require extended retention of samples, please email your requirements to:

customerservices@chemtest.com



Report No.:	20-08435-1		
Initial Date of Issue:	23-Mar-2020		
Client	Stantec UK Limited		
Client Address:	3rd Floor 50-60 Station Road Cambridge Cambridgeshire CB1 2JH		
Contact(s):	Oliver Belson		
Project	47179 Comet Way, Hatfield		
Quotation No.:		Date Received:	17-Mar-2020
Order No.:	32280	Date Instructed:	17-Mar-2020
No. of Samples:	1		
Turnaround (Wkdays):	5	Results Due:	23-Mar-2020
Date Approved:	23-Mar-2020		
Approved By:			
Details:	Glynn Harvey, Technical Manager		

Chemtest The right chemistry to deliver results Project: 47179 Comet Way, Hatfield

<u>Results - Soil</u>

Client: Stantec UK Limited	Chemtest Job No.:				20-08435		
Quotation No.:	(Chemtest Sample ID.:					
		Cli	ent Sam	ple ID.:	ES2		
		Sa	WS02				
			Sampl	e Type:	SOIL		
			Тор Dep	oth (m):	2.0		
			Date Sa	ampled:	17-Mar-2020		
Determinand	Accred.	SOP	Units	LOD			
Moisture	Ν	2030	%	0.020	11		
Natural Moisture Content	Ν	2030	%	0.020	13		
Soil Colour	Ν	2040		N/A	Brown		
Other Material	Ν	2040		N/A	Stones		
Soil Texture	Ν	2040		N/A	Clay		
Chromatogram (TPH)	Ν			N/A	See Attached		
Aliphatic TPH >C5-C6	Ν	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Aliphatic TPH >C6-C8	Ν	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Aliphatic TPH >C8-C10	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Aliphatic TPH >C10-C12	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Aliphatic TPH >C12-C16	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Aliphatic TPH >C16-C21	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Aliphatic TPH >C21-C35	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Aliphatic TPH >C35-C44	Ν	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Total Aliphatic Hydrocarbons	Ν	2680	mg/kg	5.0	< 5.0		
Aromatic TPH >C5-C7	Ν	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Aromatic TPH >C7-C8	Ν	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Aromatic TPH >C8-C10	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Aromatic TPH >C10-C12	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Aromatic TPH >C12-C16	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Aromatic TPH >C16-C21	U	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Aromatic TPH >C21-C35	М	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Aromatic TPH >C35-C44	Ν	2680	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Total Aromatic Hydrocarbons	Ν	2680	mg/kg	5.0	< 5.0		
Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons	Ν	2680	mg/kg	10.0	< 10		
Dichlorodifluoromethane	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Chloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Vinyl Chloride	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Bromomethane	М	2760	µg/kg	20	< 20		
Chloroethane	U	2760	µg/kg	2.0	< 2.0		
Trichlorofluoromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
1,1-Dichloroethene	М	2760	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Trans 1,2-Dichloroethene	М	2760	mg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
1,1-Dichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
cis 1,2-Dichloroethene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Bromochloromethane	U	2760	µg/kg	5.0	< 5.0		
Trichloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Tetrachloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		

The right chemistry to deliver results Project: 47179 Comet Way, Hatfield

Client: Stantec UK Limited		20-08435					
Quotation No.:		Chemtest Sample ID.:					
		Clie	ent Sam	ple ID.:	ES2		
		Sa	ocation:	WS02			
			Sampl	e Type:	SOIL		
			Тор Dep	oth (m):	2.0		
			Date Sa	ampled:	17-Mar-2020		
Determinand	Accred.	SOP	Units	LOD			
1,1-Dichloropropene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Benzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
1,2-Dichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	2.0	< 2.0		
Trichloroethene	N	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
1,2-Dichloropropane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Dibromomethane	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Bromodichloromethane	М	2760	µg/kg	5.0	< 5.0		
cis-1,3-Dichloropropene	N	2760	µg/kg	10	< 10		
Toluene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Trans-1,3-Dichloropropene	N	2760	µg/kg	10	< 10		
1,1,2-Trichloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	10	< 10		
Tetrachloroethene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
1,3-Dichloropropane	U	2760	µg/kg	2.0	< 2.0		
Dibromochloromethane	U	2760	µg/kg	10	< 10		
1,2-Dibromoethane	М	2760	µg/kg	5.0	< 5.0		
Chlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane	М	2760	µg/kg	2.0	< 2.0		
Ethylbenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
m & p-Xylene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
o-Xylene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Styrene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Tribromomethane	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Isopropylbenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Bromobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
1,2,3-Trichloropropane	N	2760	µg/kg	50	< 50		
N-Propylbenzene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
2-Chlorotoluene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
4-Chlorotoluene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Tert-Butylbenzene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
Sec-Butylbenzene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
1,3-Dichlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
4-Isopropyltoluene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
1,4-Dichlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
N-Butylbenzene	U	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
1,2-Dichlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		
1,2-Dibromo-3-Chloropropane	U	2760	µg/kg	50	< 50		
1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene	М	2760	µg/kg	1.0	< 1.0		

The right chemistry to deliver results Project: 47179 Comet Way, Hatfield

Client: Stantec UK Limited **Chemtest Job No.:** 20-08435 Quotation No.: Chemtest Sample ID.: 987061 Client Sample ID.: ES2 Sample Location: WS02 Sample Type: SOIL Top Depth (m): 2.0 Date Sampled: 17-Mar-2020 Accred. SOP Units LOD Determinand Hexachlorobutadiene U 2760 µq/kq 1.0 < 1.0 1,2,3-Trichlorobenzene U 2760 µg/kg 2.0 < 2.0 Methyl Tert-Butyl Ether Μ 2760 1.0 µg/kg < 1.0 Ν Naphthalene 2800 mg/kg 0.010 < 0.010 Ν 2800 mg/kg 0.010 < 0.010 Acenaphthylene mg/kg 0.010 Acenaphthene Ν 2800 < 0.010 mg/kg 0.010 Fluorene Ν 2800 < 0.010 Phenanthrene Ν 2800 mg/kg 0.010 < 0.010 Anthracene Ν 2800 mg/kg 0.010 < 0.010 Fluoranthene Ν 2800 mg/kg 0.010 < 0.010 Ν 2800 Pyrene mg/kg 0.010 < 0.010 Ν mg/kg 0.010 < 0.010 Benzo[a]anthracene 2800 Chrysene Ν 2800 mg/kg 0.010 < 0.010 Ν 2800 mg/kg 0.010 < 0.010 Benzo[b]fluoranthene Ν 2800 < 0.010 Benzo[k]fluoranthene mg/kg 0.010 Ν 2800 mg/kg 0.010 < 0.010 Benzo[a]pyrene Ν 2800 mg/kg 0.010 < 0.010 Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)Pyrene mg/kg 0.010 Dibenz(a,h)Anthracene Ν 2800 < 0.010 Benzo[g,h,i]perylene Ν 2800 mg/kg 0.010 < 0.010 Total Of 16 PAH's Ν 2800 mg/kg 0.20 < 0.20 VOC TIC Ν 2760 µg/kg N/A None Detected

TPH Chromatogram on Soil Sample: 987061 <Sample Information> Chemtest
 Sample Name
 : 987061 20-08435

 Data Filename
 : 19 March 2020_19032020_987061 20-08435_099.gcd

 Method Finename
 : TPH 12m Fast OSv2.gcm

 Sample #
 : 50

 Data Acquired
 : 19/03/2020_23:27:53

 Date Acquired
 : 19/03/2020
 The right chemistry to deliver results <Chromatogram> uV 100000 90000 80000 70000 60000-50000 40000-30000

1.5

20000

10000-

0.0

0.5

1.0

1 FID1

6.0

6.5

min

2.0 2.5 3.0 3.5 4.0 4.5 5.0 5.5



Test Methods

SOP	Title	Parameters included	Method summary
2030	Moisture and Stone Content of Soils(Requirement of MCERTS)	Moisture content	Determination of moisture content of soil as a percentage of its as received mass obtained at <37°C.
2040	Soil Description(Requirement of MCERTS)	Soil description	As received soil is described based upon BS5930
2680	TPH A/A Split	Aliphatics: >C5–C6, >C6–C8,>C8–C10, >C10–C12, >C12–C16, >C16–C21, >C21– C35, >C35–C44Aromatics: >C5–C7, >C7–C8, >C8–C10, >C10–C12, >C12–C16, >C16–C21, >C21–C35, >C35–C44	Dichloromethane extraction / GCxGC FID detection
2760	Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) in Soils by Headspace GC-MS	Volatile organic compounds, including BTEX and halogenated Aliphatic/Aromatics.(cf. USEPA Method 8260)*please refer to UKAS schedule	Automated headspace gas chromatographic (GC) analysis of a soil sample, as received, with mass spectrometric (MS) detection of volatile organic compounds.
2800	Speciated Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAH) in Soil by GC-MS	Acenaphthene*; Acenaphthylene; Anthracene*; Benzo[a]Anthracene*; Benzo[a]Pyrene*; Benzo[b]Fluoranthene*; Benzo[ghi]Perylene*; Benzo[k]Fluoranthene; Chrysene*; Dibenz[ah]Anthracene; Fluoranthene*; Fluorene*; Indeno[123cd]Pyrene*; Naphthalene*; Phenanthrene*; Pyrene*	Dichloromethane extraction / GC-MS



Report Information

Key

- U UKAS accredited
- M MCERTS and UKAS accredited
- N Unaccredited
- S This analysis has been subcontracted to a UKAS accredited laboratory that is accredited for this analysis
- SN This analysis has been subcontracted to a UKAS accredited laboratory that is not accredited for this analysis
- T This analysis has been subcontracted to an unaccredited laboratory
- I/S Insufficient Sample
- U/S Unsuitable Sample
- N/E not evaluated
- < "less than"
- > "greater than"

Comments or interpretations are beyond the scope of UKAS accreditation The results relate only to the items tested Uncertainty of measurement for the determinands tested are available upon request None of the results in this report have been recovery corrected All results are expressed on a dry weight basis The following tests were analysed on samples as received and the results subsequently corrected to a dry weight basis TPH, BTEX, VOCs, SVOCs, PCBs, Phenols For all other tests the samples were dried at < 37°C prior to analysis All Asbestos testing is performed at the indicated laboratory Issue numbers are sequential starting with 1 all subsequent reports are incremented by 1

Sample Deviation Codes

- A Date of sampling not supplied
- B Sample age exceeds stability time (sampling to extraction)
- C Sample not received in appropriate containers
- D Broken Container
- E Insufficient Sample (Applies to LOI in Trommel Fines Only)

Sample Retention and Disposal

All soil samples will be retained for a period of 45 days from the date of receipt All water samples will be retained for 14 days from the date of receipt Charges may apply to extended sample storage

If you require extended retention of samples, please email your requirements to:

customerservices@chemtest.com

TABLE SUMMARISING SOIL RESULTS AND HIGHLIGHTING EXCEEDANCES ABOVE SOIL ASSESSMENT CRITERIA COMET WAY, HATFIELD

SOM 1%			Assessme	ent Criteria	WS01	WS02	WS02	WS03	WS04	WS05	WS06	WS06	WS07	WS08	CP01	CP01	CP02
Analyte	Units	LOD	RwoHP	Commercial	0.4	0.8	2.0	0.5	0.20	0.5	0.7	1.9	0.5	0.25	0.25	2.5	0.35
Arsenic*	mg/kg	1	40	640	22	8.4		27	10	9.7	17		13	11	22		10
Cadmium*	mg/kg	0.1	150	410	0.21	0.1		0.26	0.48	0.17	0.21		0.24	0.49	0.18		0.29
Chromium Trivalent	mg/kg		910	8600	25	22		30	28	17	21		24	22	23		24
Chromium Hexavalent*	mg/kg	0.5	21	49	0.5	0.5		0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5		0.52	0.5	0.5		0.5
Copper	mg/kg	0.5	/100	68000	13	11		21	30	22	27		92	35	19		17
Leau	mg/kg	0.5	56	2300	0.1	01		0.1	47	40	0.21		0.2	0.24	0.1		0.1
Nickel	ma/ka	0.1	180	980	25	18		28	26	20	20		27	21	24		23
Selenium	mg/kg	0.2	430	12000	0.2	0.34		0.2	0.27	0.2	0.26		0.2	0.25	0.2		0.21
Zinc	mg/kg	0.5	40000	730000	68	43		89	100	69	60		300	91	79		61
рН	pH Units	4	-	-	10			9.8	8.2		9.3						8.8
>C5 to C6 Aliphatic	mg/kg	1	42	3200	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
>C6 to C8 Aliphatic	mg/kg	1	100	7800	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
>C8 to C10 Aliphatic	mg/kg	1	120	2000	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
	mg/kg	1	1100	59000	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
>C16 to C21 Aliphatic	ma/ka	1	-	-	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	2.9	1	1	1	1
>C21 to C35 Aliphatic	ma/ka	1	-	-	8.3	1	1	1	39	5.1	1	1	61	1	92	1	1
>C16 to C35 Aliphatic	mg/kg	2	65000	1600000	9.3	2	2	2	40	6.1	2	2	63.9	2	93	2	2
>C35 to C44 Aliphatic	mg/kg	1	65000	1600000	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Total Aliphatic C5-C35	mg/kg	5	-	-	8.3	5	5	5	39	10.1	5	5	63.9	5	92	1	1
>C5 to C7 Aromatic	mg/kg	1	370	26000	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
>C/ to C8 Aromatic	mg/kg	1	860	56000	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
>C6 to C10 Aromatic	mg/kg	1	47 250	16000	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
>C12 to C16 Aromatic	ma/ka	1	1800	36000	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
>C16 to C21 Aromatic	ma/ka	1	1900	28000	1	1	1	6.9	1	3	1	1	2.4	1	1	1	1
>C21 to C35 Aromatic	mg/kg	1	1900	28000	380	1	1	170	73	190	1	1	160	1	290	1	1
>C35 to C44 Aromatic	mg/kg	1	1900	28000	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Total Aromatic C5-C35	mg/kg		-	-	380	5	5	176.9	73	193	5	5	162	5	290	5	5
TPH Ali/Aro	mg/kg		-	-	390	10	10	180	110	200	10	10	230	10	380	10	10
Hazard Index - RwoHP	-	-	-	-	0.3104	0.1108	0.1108	0.2028	0.1493	0.2114	0.1108	0.1108	0.1961	0.1108	0.2643	0.1108	0.1108
Hazard Index - Commercial Bonzono*	- ma/ka	-	- 0.80	- 27	0.0151	0.0016	0.0016	0.0078	0.0042	0.0084	0.0016	0.0016	0.0074	0.0016	0.0120	0.0016	0.0016
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	0.001	83	5700	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	6.6	0.001
Toluene	ma/ka	0.001	800	56000	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
M- & P- Xylene	mg/kg	0.001	-	-	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	4.8	0.001
O-Xylene	mg/kg	0.001	-	-	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	1.6	0.001
Total Xylene (M, P & O)	mg/kg	0.002	88	6600	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	6.4	0.002
MTBE	mg/kg		-	-	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
naphthalene	mg/kg	0.01	2.3	190	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.08	0.01	0.12	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.06	0.01	0.01
acenaphthono	mg/kg	0.01	2900	83000	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.17	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.04	0.01	0.08	0.01	0.01
fluorene	mg/kg	0.01	2800	63000	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.09	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.1	0.01	0.01
phenanthrene	mg/kg	0.01	1300	22000	0.14	0.01	0.01	1.1	0.75	0.33	0.01	0.01	0.62	0.01	0.76	0.01	0.26
anthracene	mg/kg	0.01	31000	520000	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.46	0.2	0.1	0.01	0.01	0.16	0.01	0.23	0.01	0.05
fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.01	1500	23000	0.37	0.01	0.01	2.7	1.7	1.4	0.31	0.01	1.4	0.83	1.8	0.1	1.1
pyrene	mg/kg	0.01	3700	54000	0.36	0.01	0.01	2.4	1.5	1.2	0.19	0.01	1.2	0.69	1.5	0.15	0.98
benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	0.01	11	170	0.01	0.01	0.01	1.2	0.58	0.71	0.01	0.01	0.72	0.44	0.71	0.01	0.49
CHIVSENE	mg/kg	0.01	30	350	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.94	0.0 98.0	0.45	0.01	0.01	0.6	0.33	0.59	0.01	0.37
benzo(k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.01	110	1200	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.76	0.00	0.26	0.01	0.01	0.32	0.03	0.36	0.01	0.18
benzo(a)pyrene	ma/ka	0.01	3.2	35	0.01	0.01	0.01	2.5	0.66	1.2	0.01	0.01	0.74	0.65	1.4	0.01	0.81
indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	0.01	45	500	0.01	0.01	0.01	1.4	0.4	0.55	0.01	0.01	0.5	0.53	0.98	0.01	0.44
dibenzo(ah)anthracene	mg/kg	0.01	0.31	3.5	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.22	0.06	0.14	0.01	0.01	0.13	0.04	0.18	0.01	0.04
benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	0.01	360	3900	0.01	0.01	0.01	1.5	0.49	0.52	0.01	0.01	0.5	0.47	0.71	0.01	0.34
Total PAH	mg/kg	0.2	-	-	0.9	0.2	0.2	18	7.9	8.2	0.5	0.2	7.9	4.9	11	0.25	5.9
Coal Tar (Bap as surrogate)"	mg/kg	0.01	5.3	11	0.01	0.01	0.01	2.5	0.66	1.2	0.01	0.01	0.74	0.65	1.4	0.01	0.81
1 2 Dichloroethane	mg/kg	0 002	3.0	270			0 002		0.1			0 002		0.1	0 002		
1.1.1 Trichloroethane (TCA)	ma/ka	0.002	9	660		-	0.001			-		0.001		-	0.002		-
1,1,1,2 Tetrachloroethane	mg/kg	0.002	1.5	110			0.002					0.002			0.002		
Tetrachloroethene (PCE)	mg/kg	0.001	0.18	19			0.001					0.001			0.001		
Trichloroethene (TCE)	mg/kg	0.001	0.017	1.2			0.001					0.001			0.001		
Trichloromethane (Chloroform)	mg/kg	0.001	1.2	99			0.001					0.001			0.001		
Vinyl Chloride (Chloroethene)	mg/kg	0.001	0.00077	0.059		NAD	0.001		NAD	NAD		0.001		NAD	0.001		NAD
Asbestos (Presence of)	IEXT		-	-	NAD	NAD		NAD	NAD	NAD	NAD	Amosite		NAD	NAD	NAD	NAD
Aspestos Analysts Comments	1EX1 0/	0.001	-	-								BOard					
	70	0.001			<u> </u>						1	0.005	1		I	1	

LOM/CIEH S4ULs Copyright Land Quality Management Limited Reproduced with Permission; Publication Number S4UL3202. All Rights Reserved * Category 4 Screening Value @ 6% SOM





Karl Blanke AF Howland Associates Ltd Cordell Works Cordell Road Long Melford Suffolk CO10 9EH



DETS Ltd Unit 1 Rose Lane Industrial Estate Rose Lane Lenham Heath Kent ME17 2JN t: 01622 850410

DETS Report No: 20-07645

Comet Way,	Hatfield
(Comet Way,

Project / Job Ref: 20.095

Order No: KPB/20.095/00/01

Sample Receipt Date: 13/07/2020

Sample Scheduled Date: 13/07/2020

Report Issue Number: 1

Reporting Date: 27/07/2020

Authorised by:

Kevin Old General Manager

Dates of laboratory activities for each tested analyte are available upon request.

Opinions and interpretations are outside the laboratory's scope of ISO 17025 accreditation. This certificate is issued in accordance with the accreditation requirements of the United Kingdom Accreditation Service. The results reported herein relate only to the material supplied to the laboratory. This certificate shall not be reproduced except in full, without the prior written approval of the laboratory.



DETS Ltd Unit 1, Rose Lane Industrial Estate **Rose Lane** Lenham Heath Maidstone Kent ME17 2JN Tel : 01622 850410



Water Analysis Certificate					
DETS Report No: 20-07645	Date Sampled	07/07/20	07/07/20		
AF Howland Associates Ltd	Time Sampled	None Supplied	None Supplied		
Site Reference: Comet Way, Hatfield	TP / BH No	CP02	CP01		
Project / Job Ref: 20.095	Additional Refs	GW1	GW1		
Order No: KPB/20.095/00/01	Depth (m)	15.60	15.50		
Reporting Date: 27/07/2020	DETS Sample No	486328	488178		

Determinand	Unit	RL	Accreditation		(\$)		
pH	pH Units	N/a	IS017025	7.1	7.4		
Total Cyanide	ug/l	< 5	NONE	< 5	< 5		
Complex Cyanide	ug/l	< 5	NONE	< 5	< 5		
Free Cyanide	ug/l	< 5	NONE	< 5	< 5		
Thiocyanate as SCN	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10		
Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC)	mg/l	< 0.1	NONE	4.7	4.9		
Alkalinity	mgCaCO3/I	< 20	NONE	275	315		
Hardness - Total	mgCaCO3/I	< 1	NONE	344	434		
Antimony (dissolved)	ug/l	< 5	IS017025	< 5	< 5		
Arsenic (dissolved)	ug/l	< 5	IS017025	< 5	< 5		
Beryllium (dissolved)	ug/l	< 3	ISO17025	< 3	< 3		
Cadmium (dissolved)	ug/l	< 0.4	ISO17025	< 0.4	< 0.4		
Chromium (dissolved)	ug/l	< 5	IS017025	8	< 5		
Chromium (hexavalent)	ug/l	< 20	NONE	< 20	< 20		
Copper (dissolved)	ug/l	< 5	ISO17025	< 5	< 5		
Lead (dissolved)	ug/l	< 5	IS017025	< 5	< 5		
Mercury (dissolved)	ug/l	< 0.05	IS017025	0.13	< 0.05		
Nickel (dissolved)	ug/l	< 5	ISO17025	< 5	< 5		
Selenium (dissolved)	ug/l	< 5	IS017025	< 5	< 5		
Vanadium (dissolved)	ug/l	< 5	IS017025	< 5	< 5		
Zinc (dissolved)	ug/l	< 2	IS017025	< 2	< 2		
Total Phenols (monohydric)	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10		

Subcontracted analysis ⁽⁵⁾ Insufficient sample ^{1/5} Unsuitable Sample ^{1/5} (\$) samples exceeded recommended holding times



DETS Ltd Unit 1, Rose Lane Industrial Estate Rose Lane Lenham Heath Maidstone Kent ME17 2JN Tel : 01622 850410

Water Analysis Certificate - Speciated PAH													
DETS Report No: 20-07645			Date Sampled	07/07/20	07/07/20								
AF Howland Associates Ltd			Time Sampled	None Supplied	None Supplied								
Site Reference: Comet Way, Hatfield			TP / BH No	CP02	CP01								
Project / Job Ref: 20.095			Additional Refs	GW1	GW1								
Order No: KPB/20.095/00/01			Depth (m)	15.60	15.50								
Reporting Date: 27/07/2020			ETS Sample No	486328	488178								
Determinand	Unit	RL	Accreditation		(\$)								
Naphthalene	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								
Acenaphthylene	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								
Acenaphthene	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								
Fluorene	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								
Phenanthrene	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								
Anthracene	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								
Fluoranthene	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								
Pyrene	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								
Benzo(a)anthracene	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								
Chrysene	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								
Benzo(b)fluoranthene	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								
Benzo(k)fluoranthene	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								
Benzo(a)pyrene	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								
Dibenz(a,h)anthracene	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								
Benzo(ghi)perylene	ug/l	: 0.008	NONE	< 0.008	< 0.008								
Total EPA-16 PAHs	ug/l	< 0.01	NONE	< 0.01	< 0.01								


DETS Ltd Unit 1, Rose Lane Industrial Estate Rose Lane Lenham Heath Maidstone Kent ME17 2JN Tel : 01622 850410

Water Analysis Certifica	ate - TPH CWG Band	led				
DETS Report No: 20-0764	45		Date Sampled	07/07/20	07/07/20	
AF Howland Associates Lt	td		Time Sampled	None Supplied	None Supplied	
Site Reference: Comet W	ay, Hatfield		TP / BH No	CP02	CP01	
Project / Job Ref: 20.095			Additional Refs	GW1	GW1	
Order No: KPB/20.095/00/01			Depth (m)	15.60	15.50	
Reporting Date: 27/07/2	D	ETS Sample No	486328	488178		
Determinand	Unit	RL	Accreditation		(\$)	
Aliphatic >C5 - C6	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10	
Aliphatic >C6 - C8	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10	
Aliphatic >C8 - C10	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10	
Aliphatic >C10 - C12	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10	
Aliphatic >C12 - C16	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10	
Aliphatic >C16 - C21	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10	
Aliphatic >C21 - C34	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10	
Aliphatic (C5 - C34)	ug/l	< 70	NONE	< 70	< 70	
Aromatic >C5 - C7	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10	
Aromatic >C7 - C8	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10	
Aromatic >C8 - C10	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10	
Aromatic >C10 - C12	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10	
Aromatic >C12 - C16	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10	
Aromatic >C16 - C21	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10	
Aromatic >C21 - C35	ug/l	< 10	NONE	< 10	< 10	
Aromatic (C5 - C35)	ug/l	< 70	NONE	< 70	< 70	
Total >C5 - C35	ug/l	< 140	NONE	< 140	< 140	

(\$) samples exceeded recommended holding times



DETS Ltd Unit 1, Rose Lane Industrial Estate Rose Lane Lenham Heath Maidstone Kent ME17 2JN Tel : 01622 850410



Water Analysis Certifica	ate - BTEX / MTBE					
DETS Report No: 20-0764	45		Date Sampled	07/07/20	07/07/20	
AF Howland Associates Lt	:d		Time Sampled	None Supplied	None Supplied	
Site Reference: Comet W	ay, Hatfield	TP / BH No		CP02	CP01	
Project / Job Ref: 20.095			Additional Refs	GW1	GW1	
Order No: KPB/20.095/0		Depth (m)	15.60	15.50		
Reporting Date: 27/07/2	020	D	ETS Sample No	486328	488178	
Determinand	Unit	RL	Accreditation		(\$)	
Benzene	ug/l	< 1	ISO17025	< 1	< 1	
Toluene	ug/l	< 5	ISO17025	< 5	< 5	
Ethylbenzene	ug/l	< 5	ISO17025	< 5	< 5	
p & m-xylene	ug/l	< 10	ISO17025	< 10	< 10	
o-xylene	ug/l	< 5	ISO17025	< 5	< 5	
MTRE	ua/l	< 10	IS017025	< 10	< 10	

(\$) samples exceeded recommended holding times



DETS Ltd Unit 1, Rose Lane Industrial Estate Rose Lane Lenham Heath Maidstone Kent ME17 2JN Tel : 01622 850410



Water Analysis Certificate - Methodology & Miscellaneous Information
DETS Report No: 20-07645
AF Howland Associates Ltd
Site Reference: Comet Way, Hatfield
Project / Job Ref: 20.095
Order No: KPB/20.095/00/01
Reporting Date: 27/07/2020

Matrix	Analysed On	Determinand	Brief Method Description	Method No
Water	UF	Alkalinity	Determination of alkalinity by titration against hydrochloric acid using bromocresol green as the end point	E103
Water	UF	BTEX	Determination of BTEX by headspace GC-MS	E101
Water	F	Cations	Determination of cations by filtration followed by ICP-MS	E102
Water	UF	Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD)	Determination using a COD reactor followed by colorimetry	E112
Water	F	Chloride	Determination of chloride by filtration & analysed by ion chromatography	E109
Water	F	Chromium - Hexavalent	Determination of hexavalent chromium by acidification, addition of 1,5 diphenylcarbazide followed by	E116
Water	UF	Cyanide - Complex	Determination of complex cyanide by distillation followed by colorimetry	E115
Water	UF	Cyanide - Free	Determination of free cyanide by distillation followed by colorimetry	E115
Water	UF	Cyanide - Total	Determination of total cyanide by distillation followed by colorimetry	E115
Water	UF	Cyclohexane Extractable Matter (CEM)	Gravimetrically determined through liquid:liquid extraction with cyclohexane	E111
Water	F	Diesel Range Organics (C10 - C24)	Determination of liquid:liquid extraction with hexane followed by GC-FID	E104
Water	F	Dissolved Organic Content (DOC)	Determination of DOC by filtration followed by low heat with persulphate addition followed by IR dete	E110
Water	UF	Electrical Conductivity	Determination of electrical conductivity by electrometric measurement	E123
Water	F	EPH (C10 – C40)	Determination of liquid:liquid extraction with hexane followed by GC-FID	E104
Mator	F	EPH TEXAS (C6-C8, C8-C10, C10-C12,	Determination of liquid:liquid extraction with hexane followed by GC-FID for C8 to C40. C6 to C8 by	F104
water	Г	C12-C16, C16-C21, C21-C40)	headspace GC-MS	E104
Water	F	Fluoride	Determination of Fluoride by filtration & analysed by ion chromatography	E109
Water	F	Hardness	Determination of Ca and Mg by ICP-MS followed by calculation	E102
Leachate	F	Leachate Preparation - NRA	Based on National Rivers Authority leaching test 1994	E301
Leachate	F	Leachate Preparation - WAC	Based on BS EN 12457 Pt1, 2, 3	E302
Water	F	Metals	Determination of metals by filtration followed by ICP-MS	E102
Water	F	Mineral Oil (C10 - C40)	Determination of liquid:liquid extraction with hexane followed by GI-FID	E104
Water	F	Nitrate	Determination of nitrate by filtration & analysed by ion chromatography	E109
Water	UF	Monohydric Phenol	Determination of phenols by distillation followed by colorimetry	E121
Water	F	PAH - Speciated (EPA 16)	Determination of PAH compounds by concentration through SPE cartridge, collection in dichloromethane followed by GC-MS	E105
Water	F	PCB - 7 Congeners	Determination of PCB compounds by concentration through SPE cartridge, collection in dichlorometha	E108
Water	UF	Petroleum Ether Extract (PEE)	Gravimetrically determined through liquid:liquid extraction with petroleum ether	E111
Water	UF	pH	Determination of pH by electrometric measurement	E107
Water	F	Phosphate	Determination of phosphate by filtration & analysed by ion chromatography	E109
Water	UF	Redox Potential	Determination of redox potential by electrometric measurement	E113
Water	F	Sulphate (as SO4)	Determination of sulphate by filtration & analysed by ion chromatography	E109
Water	UF	Sulphide	Determination of sulphide by distillation followed by colorimetry	E118
Water	F	SVOC	Determination of semi-volatile organic compounds by concentration through SPE cartridge, collection in dichloromethane followed by GC-MS	E106
Water	UF	Toluene Extractable Matter (TEM)	Gravimetrically determined through liquid:liquid extraction with toluene	E111
Water	UF	Total Organic Carbon (TOC)	Low heat with persulphate addition followed by IR detection	E110
Water	F	TPH CWG (ali: C5-C6, C6-C8, C8-C10, C10-C12, C12-C16, C16-C21, C21-C34, aro: C5-C7, C7-C8, C8-C10, C10-C12, C12-C16, C16-C21, C21-C35)	Determination of liquid:liquid extraction with hexane, fractionating with SPE followed by GC-FID for C8 to C35. C5 to C8 by headspace GC-MS	E104
Water	F	TPH LQM (ali: C5-C6, C6-C8, C8-C10, C10-C12, C12-C16, C16-C35, C35-C44, aro: C5-C7, C7-C8, C8-C10, C10-C12, C12-C16, C16-C21, C21-C35, C35-C44)	Determination of liquid:liquid extraction with hexane, fractionating with SPE followed by GC-FID for C8 to C44. C5 to C8 by headspace GC-MS	E104
Water	UF	VOCs	Determination of volatile organic compounds by headspace GC-MS	E101
Water	UF	VPH (C6-C8 & C8-C10)	Determination of hydrocarbons C6-C8 by headspace GC-MS & C8-C10 by GC-FID	E101

Key

F Filtered UF Unfiltered

DETS South Report No:20-07645	Date Sampled	07/07/2020	07/07/2020
	Time Sampled		
Site Reference:Comet Way, Hatfield	TP / BH No	CP02	CP01
Project / Job Ref:20.095	Additional Refs	GW1	GW1
Order No:KPB/20.095/00/01	Depth (m)	15.60	15.50
Reporting Date:27/07/2020	DETS Sample No	486328	488178

Determinand	Unit	RL		
Deviating - Headspace		0	Ok	Ok
рН	pH Units	N/a	7.1	7.4
Total Cyanide	ug/l	< 5	< 5	< 5
Complex Cyanide	ug/l	< 5	< 5	< 5
Free Cyanide	ug/l	< 5	< 5	< 5
Thiocyanate as SCN	ug/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
Dissolved Organic Carbon (DC	mg/l	< 0.1	4.7	4.9
Alkalinity	mgCaCO3	< 20	275	315
Total Hardness	mgCaCO3	< 1	344	434
Antimony (dissolved)	ug/l	< 5	< 5	< 5
Arsenic (dissolved)	ug/l	< 5	< 5	< 5
Beryllium (dissolved)	ug/l	< 3	< 3	< 3
Cadmium (dissolved)	ug/l	< 0.4	< 0.4	< 0.4
Chromium (dissolved)	ug/l	< 5	8	< 5
Hexavalent Chromium	ug/l	< 20	< 20	< 20
Copper (dissolved)	ua/l	< 5	< 5	< 5
Lead (dissolved)	ua/l	< 5	< 5	< 5
Mercury (dissolved)	ua/l	< 0.05	0.13	< 0.05
Nickel (dissolved)	ua/l	< 5	< 5	< 5
Selenium (dissolved)	ua/l	< 5	< 5	< 5
Vanadium (dissolved)	ua/l	< 5	< 5	< 5
Zinc (dissolved)	ua/l	< 2	< 2	< 2
Monohvdric Phenols	ua/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
Naphthalene	ua/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Acenaphthylene	ua/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Acenaphthene	ua/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Fluorene	ua/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Phenanthrene	ua/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Anthracene	ua/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Fluoranthene	ua/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Pyrene	ug/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Benzo(a)anthracene	ug/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Chrysene	ug/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Benzo(b)fluoranthene	ug/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Benzo(k)fluoranthene	ug/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Benzo(a)pyrene	ug/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene	ug/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Di-benzo(a,h)anthracene	ug/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Benzo(ghi)perylene	ug/l	< 0.008	< 0.008	< 0.008
Total EPA-16 PAHs	ug/l	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
TPH CWG - Aliphatic >C5 - C	ug/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
TPH CWG - Aliphatic >C6 - C	ug/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
TPH CWG - Aliphatic >C8 - C	ug/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
TPH CWG - Aliphatic >C10 - 0	ua/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
TPH CWG - Aliphatic >C12 - 0	ua/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
TPH CWG - Aliphatic >C16 - 0	ua/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
TPH CWG - Aliphatic >C21 - 0	ug/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
TPH CWG - Aliphatic >C5 - C	ug/l	< 70	< 70	< 70
TPH CWG - Aromatic >C5 - C	ug/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
TPH CWG - Aromatic >C7 - C	ug/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
TPH CWG - Aromatic >C8 - C	ug/l	< 10	< 10	< 10

TPH CWG - Aromatic >C10 -	ug/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
TPH CWG - Aromatic >C12 -	ug/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
TPH CWG - Aromatic >C16 -	ug/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
TPH CWG - Aromatic >C21 -	ug/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
TPH CWG - Aromatic >C5 - C	ug/l	< 70	< 70	< 70
TPH CWG - Total >C5 - C35	ug/l	< 140	< 140	< 140
Benzene	ug/l	< 1	< 1	< 1
Toluene	ug/l	< 5	< 5	< 5
Ethylbenzene	ug/l	< 5	< 5	< 5
m & p-xylene	ug/l	< 10	< 10	< 10
o-Xylene	ug/l	< 5	< 5	< 5
MTBE	ug/l	< 10	< 10	< 10



Appendix C Geotechnical Laboratory Analysis Results





Contract	Comet Way, Hatfie	ld							
Serial No.	36699_1								
Client: Stantec U	JK Limited		Soil Pro	perty Testing Ltd					
3rd Floor 50-60 Stat Cambridge CB1 2JH	ion Road e		15, 16, 18 Halcy Stukeley Mead Cambridgeshire Tel: 01480 4 Email: <u>enquiries</u> Website: <u>www.soi</u>	yon Court, St Margaret's Way, ows, Huntingdon, e, PE29 6DG 55579 s@soilpropertytesting.com lpropertytesting.com					
Samples Submitted Stantec U	l By: JK Limited		Approved Signator	ies: .C. Garner B.Eng (Hons) FGS Technical Director & Quality Manager					
Samples Labelled: Comet W	'ay, Hatfield		Chairman W. Johnstone Materials Lab Manager V D. Sabnis Operations Manager						
Date Received:	19/03/2020	Samples	s Tested Between:	19/03/2020 and 03/04/2020					
Remarks: For the at Your Refe	ttention of Christoph erence No: 47179	her Radbo	one						
Notes: 1	All remaining samples o unless we are notified t	or remnants to the contra	from this contract will b ary.	e disposed of after 21 days from today,					
2	(a) UKAS - United Kir(b) Opinions and interview	ngdom Accre erpretations	editation Service. s expressed herein are ou	utside the scope of UKAS accreditation.					
3	Tests marked "NOT UKA Schedule for this testing	AS ACCREDI ⁻ g laboratory	DITED" in this test report are not included in the UKAS Accreditation bry.						
4	This test report may nor issuing laboratory.	t be reprodu	uced other than in full ex	ccept with the prior written approval of the					



TEST REPORT

ISSUED BY SOIL PROPERTY TESTING LTD



Contra	act		Comet	Comet Way, Hatfield																			
Serial	No.		36699_	1														Т	ar	get l	Date	;	02/04/2020
Sched	uled	Ву	Stanted	: UK	(Lir	nite	ed															•	
								S	СН	ED	ULI	E O	FL	AB	OR	ATO	OR	ΥΤΙ	EST	S			
Sched	ule R	emarks																					
Bore Hole No.	Туре	Sample Ref.	Top Depth	Top Depth (all (all (all (all (all (all (all (al												Sample Remarks							
CP01	В	1	1.20	1	1	1	1	Í			ĺ												
CP01	В	3	3.10					1															
CP01	В	5	9.70	1	1			1															
CP01	D	10	13.50	1	1	1																	
CP01	U	1	13.90						1	1													
CP01	D	14	18.30					1															
CP02	D	2	1.60	1	1	1																	
CP02	В	2	2.10					1															
CP02	D	6	9.50	1	1	1																	
CP02	В	5	9.80				1																
CP02	U	2	12.50						1	1													
CP02	D	8	13.00	1	1	1																	
CP02	В	10	28.70				1																
WS01	SPT	01	1.20	1	1	1																	
WS01	SPT	02	2.00	1	1	1				l							İ						
WS03	SPT	02	2.00	1	1	1																	
WS04	SPT	01	1.20	1	1	1																	
WS04	SPT	02	2.00	1			1																
WS05	SPT	03	3.00				1																
WS08	SPT	02	2.00	1	1	1	1																
		Totals		11	11	10	6	4	2	2													End of Schedule



DATE ISSUED: 03/04/2020



NOOR Contract Comet Way, Hatfield Serial No. 36699_1 SUMMARY OF WATER CONTENT, LIQUID LIMIT, PLASTIC LIMIT, PLASTICITY INDEX AND LIQUIDITY INDEX Plasti-Liquid-SAMPLE PREPARATION Water Liquid Plastic Borehole Depth Ref Туре city itv Corr'd Ret'd Curing Content Description CLASS Limit Limit Method /Pit No. 0.425mm W/C Time Index Index <0.425mm (m) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (hrs) Firm dark yellowish brown slightly gravelly Wet slightly sandy silty CLAY with rare decayed CP01 1.20 В 1 21.8 39 17 22 0.22 26 (M) 29.5* 25 CI Sieved roots. Gravel is brown, white and grey fine to medium chert. Firm dark grey slightly gravelly slightly Wet CP01 17 0.32 9.70 В 5 20.8 29 12 6 (M) 22.1* 25 sandy silty calcareous CLAY. Gravel is fine CL Sieved to medium chalk and chert. Very stiff dark grey slightly gravelly slightly Wet CP01 13.50 D 10 16.9 48 16 32 0.03 9 (M) 18.6* 24 sandy silty calcareous CLAY. Gravel is fine CI Sieved chalk, and rare fine to medium chert. Firm dark yellowish brown slightly gravelly Wet CP02 1.60 D 2 16.7 36 18 18 -0.07 29 (M) 23.5* 25 slightly sandy silty CLAY. Gravel is fine to CI Sieved medium subangular to rounded chert. Very stiff dark grey slightly gravelly slightly Wet CP02 9.50 D 6 19.3 51 20 31 -0.02 6 (M) 20.5* 24 sandy silty calcareous CLAY. Gravel is fine CH Sieved to medium chalk, and rare chert. Very stiff dark grey slightly gravelly slightly Wet CP02 sandy silty calcareous CLAY. Gravel is fine D 0.00 13 00 8 15.9 47 16 31 12 (M) 18.1* 24 CL Sieved to medium chalk and chert. Firm yellowish brown slightly gravelly Wet WS01 CL/CI 1.20 SPT 01 21.1 35 17 18 0.23 11 (M) 23.7* 24 slightly sandy silty CLAY. Gravel is fine to Sieved medium chert. Firm olive yellow slightly gravelly slightly sandy silty CLAY with occasional yellowish Wet WS01 2.00 SPT 02 12.4 31 13 18 -0.03 43 (M) 21.8* 72 brown mottling. Gravel is brown, black and CL Sieved white fine to medium angular to subangular chert. Method Of Preparation: BS EN ISO: 17892-1: 2014 & BS 1377: Part 2:1990:4.2 Method of Test: BS EN ISO: 17892-1: 2014 & BS1377:Part 2:1990:3.2, 4.4 U = Undisturbed, L = Liner, B = Bulk, D = Disturbed, J = Jar, W = Water, SPT = Split Spoon Sample, C = Core Cutter Type of Sample Key: Comments: *Corrected water content assume material greater than 0.425mm is non-porous. See BS1377: Part 2: 1990 Clause 3 Note 1.

Ret'd 0.425mm: (A) = Assumed, (M) = Measured

Table Notation:



DATE ISSUED: 03/04/2020



Contract **Comet Way, Hatfield** Serial No. 36699_1 SUMMARY OF WATER CONTENT, LIQUID LIMIT, PLASTIC LIMIT, PLASTICITY INDEX AND LIQUIDITY INDEX Plasti-Liquid-SAMPLE PREPARATION Plastic Water Liquid Borehole Depth Ref. Туре city ity Ret'd Corr'd Curing CLASS Content Description Limit Limit Method /Pit No. 0.425mm W/C Time Index Index <0.425mm (m) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (hrs) Black, brown and white fine to coarse Wet angular to subangular chert GRAVEL and WS03 2.00 SPT 02 8.8 23 12 11 -0.29 59 (M) 21.6* 24 CL Sieved olive yellow slightly clayey sand with rare orange mottling, and firm clayey lumps. Firm yellowish brown slightly gravelly Wet WS04 1.20 SPT 01 22.3 0.22 6 (M) 23.7* CL 34 19 15 25 slightly sandy silty CLAY. Gravel is fine to Sieved medium chert. Stiff yellowish brown slightly gravelly slightly sandy silty CLAY with occasional Wet WS08 2.00 SPT 02 11.1 29 13 16 -0.12 58 (M) 26.4* 24 CL Sieved medium and coarse sand pockets. Gravel is fine to medium angular chert. Method Of Preparation: BS EN ISO: 17892-1: 2014 & BS 1377: Part 2:1990:4.2 Method of Test: BS EN ISO: 17892-1: 2014 & BS1377:Part 2:1990:3.2, 4.4 Type of Sample Key: U = Undisturbed, L = Liner, B = Bulk, D = Disturbed, J = Jar, W = Water, SPT = Split Spoon Sample, C = Core Cutter Comments: *Corrected water content assume material greater than 0.425mm is non-porous. See BS1377: Part 2: 1990 Clause 3 Note 1. Table Notation: Ret'd 0.425mm: (A) = Assumed, (M) = Measured











Contract		Come	t Way, H	atfield													
Serial No.		36699)_1														
		DET			ATER C		ENT, L	QUID			AST		IIT AN	D			
Borehole / Pit No.	Deptl	h!	Sample	Water Content		ASTICI	ΤΥ ΙΝΙ	DEX A	ription	ΙΟΠΥ	IND	EX		Re	mark	s	
	m	Туре	Referenc	e (W) %	──												
CP01	1.20	В	1	21.8	Firm dark rare deca chert.	yellowis yed root	sh brown s. Gravel	slightly g is brown	ravelly slight ،, white and و	tly sandy grey fine	silty CL to med	AY with ium					
PREPARATION Liquid										Limi	t				39	%	
Method of	f prep	aratior	۱		Wet	sieved	d over	0.425r	nm sieve	Plasti	c Lim	it				17	%
Sample re ^r	tained	0.425	mm sieve	(Meas	ured)				<mark>26</mark> %	Plasti	city Ir	ndex				22	%
Corrected	water	⁻ conte	nt for mai	erial passin	g 0.425r	nm		2	9.5 %	Liquic	lity In	dex				0.22	
Sample re	tained	2mm	sieve	(Meas	ured)				20 %	NHBC	Mod	lified (l'p)			16	%
Curing tim	e		2	5 hrs	Clay	Clay Content Not analysed					Derived Activity				Not analysed		
C=CLAY Plasticity I % (Ip) M=SILT	Index	70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 0		CL CL ML 20 30	CI × MI 40	50	СН МН 60	70	CV MV 80 Plastici	90	CE ME 100 3355930	110 : 2015: F	120	Lic	Low Medium High	. NHBC Volume Change Potential	/ /
Method of I Method of ⁻ Type of San Comments:	Prepara Test: nple Ke	ation: ²y:	BS EN ISC BS EN ISC U=Undistu Corrected v Volume Ch Note: Mod): 17892-1: 2): 17892-1: 2 Irbed, B=Bulk vater content a ange Potential ified Plasticity	2014 & E 2014 & E ., D=Distu assume m : NHBC Sta Index I'p =	BS 137 BS 137 Irbed, I aterial { andards : Ip x (%	'7: Part '7: Part J=Jar, W greater t Chapte less tha	: 2: 19 t 2: 19 /=Wate han 0.4 r 4.2 Un n 425m	90: 4.2 90: 3.2, 4 er, SPT=Spl 25mm non- modified P icrons/100	I.4, 5.3 lit Spoo -porous lasticity)	, 5.4 on Sam . See B Index	nple, C \$1377:	=Core C Part2: 1	utter 990 Cl	ause 3	Note 1	1





Contract		Come	t Way, H	atfield									
Serial No.		36699)_1										
		DFT	FRMINA		/ATFR C(ONTENT, L		AND PLASTIC LIMI)			
		66.	D	ERIVATION		STICITY IN	DEX AND LIQ			,			
Borehole	Dentl		Sample	Water									
/ Pit No.	Depti	` <u> </u>	Jampie	Content			Description			Remarks			
 	m	Туре	Referenc	.e (W) %									
CP01	9.70	В	5	20.8	Firm dark g Gravel is fir	rey slightly grav re to medium ch	relly slightly sandy sin halk and chert.	Ity calcareous CLAY.					
			29 %										
Method of	i prepa	aratior	 I		Wet s	ieved over	0.425mm sieve	e Plastic Limit		17 %			
Sample ret	tained	0.425	mm sieve	(Meası	ured)		6 %	Plasticity Index		12 %			
Corrected [.]	water	conte	nt for ma	terial passin	g 0.425m	m	22.1 %	Liquidity Index		0.32			
Sample ret	tained	2mm	sieve	(Meası	ured)		3 %	NHBC Modified (I'	p)	11 %			
Curing time	e		2	25 hrs	Clay (Content	19 %	Derived Activity		0.63			
	ſ									1			
		/0		CL		СН							
		60						CE					
										entia			
		50								Poté H			
										nge			
Plasticity II	ndex	40								Cha			
/0										a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a			
(Ip)		30								1ediu Vol			
										HBC ≤			
		20				1				Z Z			
		_		×									
		10											
M=SILT				ML	мі	мн	MV	ME					
		0	10	20 30	40	50 60	70 80	90 100 110	120	Liquid Limit %			
	L						Plastic	city Chart BS5930: 2015: Fig	gure 8	l			
Method of F	Prepar	ation:	BS EN ISC): 17892-1: 7	2014 & B	S 1377: Par	t 2: 1990: 4.2						
Method of 7	Fest:		BS EN ISC): 17892-1: 7	2014 & B!	S 1377: Par	t 2: 1990: 3.2,	4.4, 5.3, 5.4					
Type of Sam	າple Ke	ey:	U=Undistı	urbed, B=Bulk	, D=Distur	bed, J=Jar, W	√=Water, SPT=Sp	plit Spoon Sample, C=0	Core Cu	tter			
Comments:			Corrected v	water content a	assume mat	terial greater t	than 0.425mm noi	n-porous. See BS1377: P	art2: 199	90 Clause 3 Note 1			
			Note: Mod	lified Plasticity I	ndex l'p = l	p x (% less that	in 425microns/100	D)					





Contract		Come	t Way, Ha	tfield										
Serial No.		36699)_ 1											
		DET	ERMINAT	ION OF W	ATER CO	NTENT, L	IQUID I DEX AN	_IMIT A	ND PLAST	IC LIM	IT ANI)		
Borehole / Pit No.	Deptł		jample	Water Content			Descrip	otion				Remark	(S	
CP01	13.50) D	10	16.9	Very stiff dar Gravel is fine	rk grey slightly e chalk, and rar	gravelly sli re fine to m	ghtly sandy redium che	v silty calcareou rt.	is CLAY.				
PREPARATION Liquid Limit												48 9	%	
Method of preparation Wet sieved over 0.425mm sieve Plastic Limit												16 9	%	
Sample ret	tained	0.425	mm sieve	(Meası	ured)			<mark>9</mark> %	Plasticity I	ndex			32 9	%
Corrected	water	conte	nt for mate	erial passing	g 0.425mr	n	18	.6 %	Liquidity l	ndex			0.03	
Sample ret	tained	2mm	sieve	(Meası	ured)			4 %	NHBC Mo	dified (l'p)		29	%
Curing tim	e		24	l hrs	Clay C	ontent	ed	Derived A	ctivity	Not analysed				
C=CLAY Plasticity I % (Ip) M=SILT	ndex	70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 0	10	CL ML 20 30	CI MI 40 5	CH MH 50 60	70	CV MV 80 Plasticit	CE ME 90 100 y Chart BS5930	110 D: 2015: Fi	120	Lidium High	NHBC Volume Change Potential	
Method of F Method of T Type of Sam Comments:	Prepara Test: nple Ke	ation: Y:	BS EN ISO BS EN ISO U=Undistur Corrected w Volume Cha Note: Modif	17892-1: 2 17892-1: 2 bed, B=Bulk ater content a nge Potential: ied Plasticity I	2014 & BS 2014 & BS , D=Disturb assume mate NHBC Stand ndex I'p = Ip	1377: Part 1377: Part ped, J=Jar, W erial greater t dards Chapte x (% less tha	t 2: 199(t 2: 199(V=Water, than 0.42! r 4.2 Unm in 425mic	D: 4.2 D: 3.2, 4. , SPT=Spl 5mm non- nodified Pl rons/100)	.4, 5.3, 5.4 it Spoon Sar porous. See I asticity Index	nple, C= 351377: I	-Core Cu Part2: 19	utter 190 Clause 3	3 Note 1	





Contract		Comet Way, Hatfield															
Serial No.		36699)_1														
		DET	ERMINATI	ION OF W	/ATER C	CONTE ASTICI	ENT, LI) LIMIT A	<u>ND P</u>	'LAST Y IND		1IT AN	ND			
Borehole / Pit No.	Deptł	1	Sample	Water Content				Desci	ription						Remark	s	
CP02	1.60	D	2	(W) %	Firm dark Gravel is 1	yellowis fine to m	sh brown Iedium su	slightly { Jbangula	gravelly slight ar to rounded	tly sand [.] I chert.	y silty Cl	_AY.					
			P	REPARATI	ON					Liqui	d Lim	it				36	%
Method o ^r	f prepa	aratior	۱		Wet	sieved	d over	0.425	mm sieve	Plast	ic Lim	it				18	%
Sample retained 0.425mm sieve (Measured) 29 % Plasticity Index												18	%				
Corrected water content for material passing 0.425mm 23.5 % Liquidity Index -0.07																	
Sample retained 2mm sieve(Measured)25 %NHBC Modified (I'p)13												13	%				
Curing time 25 hrs Clay Content Not analysed Derived Activity Not analyse												nalysed					
C=CLAY Plasticity I % (Ip) M=SILT	Index	70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 0		CL ML 20 30	CI MI 40	50	CH MH 60	70	CV MV 80 Plastici	90	CE ME 100	110	120		Lidning High	Stimi: Stimic Change Potential	%
Method of I Method of ⁷ Type of San Comments:	Prepara Test: nple Ke :	ation: :y:	BS EN ISO: BS EN ISO: U=Undisturk Corrected wa Volume Chan Note: Modifie	17892-1: 2 17892-1: 2 oed, B=Bulk iter content a ige Potential: ed Plasticity	2014 & F 2014 & F 2014 & F ., D=Distu assume m : NHBC Sta Index I'p =	BS 137 BS 137 Irbed, J aterial g andards : Ip x (%	'7: Parl '7: Parl J=Jar, W greater t Chapte less tha	t 2: 19 t 2: 19 /=Wate :han 0.4 r 4.2 Ur n 425m	90: 4.2 90: 3.2, 4 er, SPT=Spl 125mm non- 1modified Pl 1icrons/100	It Spo -porou lasticity	3, 5.4 on San s. See E y Index	nple, C 3S1377:	=Core (Part2: 2	Cutt 1990	er) Clause 3	Note 1	L





Contract		Comet Way, Hatfield															
Serial No.		36699)_1														
		DET		ION OF W	ATER C		NT, LI		D LIMIT A		ASTI IND	C LIN FX	1IT AN	ND			
Borehole / Pit No.	Depth m		Sample	Water Content (W) %				Desci	ription						Remark	S	
CP02	9.50	D	6	19.3	Very stiff o Gravel is fi	dark grey ine to m	γ slightly edium ch	gravelly nalk, and	slightly sand I rare chert.	y silty cal	careou	s CLAY.					
			P	REPARATI	ON					Liquic	l Limi	t				51	%
Method of	f prepa	aratior	1		Wet	sieved	lover	0.425	mm sieve	Plasti	c Lim	it				20	%
Sample retained 0.425mm sieve (Measured) 6 % Plasticity Index												31	%				
Corrected water content for material passing 0.425mm 20.5 % Liquidity Index -0.02											-0.02						
Sample re	ample retained 2mm sieve (Measured) 3 % NHBC Modified (I'p)											29	%				
Curing tim	ing time 24 hrs Clay Content Not analysed Derived Activity Not analysed																
C=CLAY Plasticity I % (Ip) M=SILT	Index	70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 0		CL ML 20 30	CI MI 40	50	CH MH 60	70	CV MV 80 Plastici	90 ty Chart	CE ME 100 BS55930	110	120		Lidium High	NHBC Volume Change Potential	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
Method of I Method of ⁻ Type of San Comments:	Prepara Test: nple Ke	ation:	BS EN ISO: BS EN ISO: U=Undisturl Corrected wa Volume Chan Note: Modifi	17892-1: 2 17892-1: 2 bed, B=Bulk iter content a ige Potential: ed Plasticity I	2014 & E 2014 & E , D=Distu assume ma NHBC Sta ndex I'p =	3S 137 3S 137 Irbed, J aterial g Indards Ip x (%	7: Part 7: Part =Jar, W greater t Chapter less tha	t 2: 19 t 2: 19 /=Wate han 0.4 r 4.2 Ur n 425m	990: 4.2 990: 3.2, 4 er, SPT=Sp 125mm non modified P hicrons/100)	4, 5.3 lit Spoc -porous lasticity	, 5.4 on San . See B Index	וףו <i>ב,</i> C S1377:	=Core (Part2: 1	Cutt 1990	er) Clause 3	Note 1	L





Contract	1	Come	t Way, Ha	atfield										
Serial No.		36699	_1											
		DET	ERMINA	TION OF W	ATER CO	ONTENT,		D LIMIT A	ND PLAST	IC LIM	IT ANI)		
Borehole / Pit No.	Depth m		Sample	Water Content			Desc	ription				Remark	S	
CP02	13.00	D	8	15.9	Very stiff d Gravel is fi	ark grey slight ne to medium	tly gravelly chalk and	y slightly sand I chert.	y silty calcareou	s CLAY.				
1				PREPARATI	ON				Liquid Lim	it			47	%
Method of	f prepa	aration)		Wet s	sieved ove	er 0.425	mm sieve	Plastic Lim	it			16	%
Sample retained 0.425mm sieve(Measured)12 %Plasticity Index												31	%	
Corrected	prrected water content for material passing 0.425mm 18.1 % Liquidity Index											0.00		
Sample ret	le retained 2mm sieve (Measured) 7 % NHBC Modified (I'p)												27	%
Curing time	time 24 hrs Clay Content Not analysed Derived Activity Not an											alysed		
C=CLAY Plasticity I % (Ip) M=SILT	ndex	70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 0	10	CL	CI MI 40	CH	70	CV MV 80 Plastici	CE	110 2: 2015: F	120	Liquid I	NHBC Volume Change Potential	6
Method of F Method of T Type of Sam Comments:	Prepara Fest: Iple Ke	ation: y:	BS EN ISO BS EN ISO U=Undistu Corrected v Volume Cha Note: Modi): 17892-1: 2): 17892-1: 2 (rbed, B=Bulk vater content a ange Potential: fied Plasticity I	2014 & B 2014 & B :, D=Distur assume ma : NHBC Star Index I'p = 1	S 1377: Pa S 1377: Pa rbed, J=Jar, iterial greate ndards Chap Ip x (% less t	art 2: 19 art 2: 19 W=Wat er than 0. ter 4.2 U han 425n	990: 4.2 990: 3.2, 4 er, SPT=Spl 425mm non- nmodified Pl nicrons/100)	.4, 5.3, 5.4 lit Spoon Sar porous. See E lasticity Index	nple, C= 3\$1377:	-Core Cu Part2: 19	utter 190 Clause 3	Note 1	





Contract		Come	met Way, Hatfield														
Serial No.		36699)_1														
		DET	ERMINAT	ION OF W	/ATER (I OF PL/		ENT, LI) LIMIT A		LAST Y IND	IC LIN EX	IIT AN	ID			
Borehole / Pit No.	Deptł		Sample	Water Content				Desci	ription					F	Remark	S	
WS01	1.20	SPT	01	21.1	Firm yello fine to mo	owish bro edium ch	own slight nert.	tly grave	Ily slightly sa	ndy silty	CLAY. (Gravel is					
			P	REPARATI	ON					Liqui	d Lim	it				35	%
Method of	f prepa	aratior	<u> </u>		Wet	sieved	d over	0.425r	mm sieve	Plast	ic Lim	it				17	%
Sample retained 0.425mm sieve(Measured)11 %Plasticity Index														18	%		
Corrected	prrected water content for material passing 0.425mm 23.7 % Liquidity Index														0.23		
Sample re	mple retained 2mm sieve (Measured) 7 % NHBC Modified (I'p)													16	%		
Curing tim	g time 24 hrs Clay Content Not analysed Derived Activity													Not an	alysed		
C=CLAY Plasticity I % (Ip) M=SILT	Index	70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 0		CL	CI MI 40	50	CH MH 60	70	CV MV 80 Plastici	90 ty Chart	CE ME 100 BS5930	110 12015: F	120		T pinbi Pigh		%
Method of I Method of ⁷ Type of San Comments:	Prepara Test: nple Ke :	ation: יy:	BS EN ISO: BS EN ISO: U=Undisturk Corrected wa Volume Chan Note: Modifi	17892-1: 2 17892-1: 2 bed, B=Bulk iter content a ige Potential: ed Plasticity I	2014 & I 2014 & I :, D=Distu assume m : NHBC Sta Index I'p =	BS 137 BS 137 urbed, . aterial andards = Ip x (%	77: Part 77: Part J=Jar, W greater t Chapter less tha	: 2: 19 t 2: 19 /=Wate :han 0.4 r 4.2 Un n 425m	90: 4.2 90: 3.2, 4 er, SPT=Spl 125mm non- 1modified P 11crons/100	I.4, 5.3 lit Spo -porou: lasticity	3, 5.4 on San s. See E i Index	nple, C S1377:	=Core (Part2: 1	Cutte 1990	er Clause 3	Note 1	L





Contract		Come	t Way, F	Hatfiel	d													
Serial No.		36699	<u>}_1</u>															
		DET	ERMIN/			ATER (ENT, L ITY IN		D LIMIT /		PLAST			١D			
Borehole / Pit No.	Deptł m	n s Type	Sample Referen	W Cor Ice (V	/ater ntent V) %		<u>10110</u>		Desc	cription	0121					Remark	.S	
WS01	2.00	SPT	02	1	12.4	Firm olive occasiona fine to m	e yellow al yellow edium a	slightly gi ish browr ngular to	ravelly s n mottli subang	slightly sandy ing. Gravel is ;ular chert.	/ silty CL brown,	.AY with black and	1 white					
				PREP/	ARATI	ON					Liqu	uid Lim	it				31	%
Method of	f prep	aratior	۱			Wet	sieve	d over	0.425	5mm siev	e Plas	stic Lim	it				13	%
Sample re	tained	0.425	mm sieve	e (Meası	ured)				43 %	Plas	sticity I	ndex				18	%
Corrected water content for material passing 0.425mm 21.8 % Liquidity Index -0.0											-0.03							
Sample retained 2mm sieve (Measured)									28 %	NH	BC Mod	dified (l'p)			10	%	
Curing tim	е			72 hrs		Clay	[,] Conte	ent	Not ana	alysed	Der	ived Ac	ctivity			Not an	alysed	
C=CLAY Plasticity I % (Ip) M=SILT	Index	70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 0		20	CL × ML 30	CI MI 40	50	CH MH 60	70	CV MV 80 Plasti	90 city Cha	CE ME 100	110): 2015: F	120 igure 8		Low Medium High	s time Change Potential	%
Method of I Method of ⁷ Type of San Comments:	Indext of the second																	





Contract		Come	t Way, Ha	t Way, Hatfield													
Serial No.		36699)_1														
		DET			ATER C		NT. L') LIMIT A		LAST			D			
			DE	RIVATION	OF PL	ASTICI	TY IN	DEX A	ND LIQU	JIDIT	Y IND	EX		-			
Borehole / Pit No.	Deptl	n s	Sample	Water Content				Desc	ription					Re	emark	S	
	m	Туре	Reference	(W) %	<u> </u>												
WS03	2.00	SPT	02	8.8	Black, brow GRAVEL au and firm c	wn and w nd olive y clayey lum	/hite fine /ellow sl nps.	e to coar ightly cla	rse angular to ayey sand wit	o subang th rare o	ular che range m	ert Iottling,					
			F	PREPARATI	ON					Liqui	d Limi	t				23	%
Method of	f prep	aratior	1		Wet	sieved	over	0.425	mm sieve	Plast	ic Lim	it				12	%
Sample retained 0.425mm sieve (Measured) 59 % Plasticity Index													11	%			
Corrected water content for material passing 0.425mm 21.6 % Liquidity Index													-0.29				
Sample retained 2mm sieve (Measured) 40 % NHBC Modified (I'p)										l'p)			5	%			
Curing time 24 hrs Clay Content Not analysed Derived Activity													Not an	alysed			
	[7	-	-	-
C=CLAY		70		СІ	CL		СН		CV.		CE						I
		60														_	I
															ligh	entia	I
		50													–	: Pot	I
Plasticity %	Index	40				_										e Change	I
(Ip)		30													Medium	3C Volum	I
		20				$\left \right $	_			_					2	NHE	I
				Y											Γον		I
NA CULT		10															
M=SIL1		0		ML	MI		MH		MV		ME						
		0	10	20 30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100	110	120	Li	quid L	imit %	6
									Plastici	ty Chart	BS5930	: 2015: F	igure 8	_			
Method of	Prepar	ation:	BS EN ISO:	. 17892-1:2	2014 & E	3S 1377	7: Part	t 2: 19	90: 4.2								
Method of	Test:		BS EN ISU:	: 17892-1: 2	2014 & E	35 13/	7: Part	t 2: 19	90: 3.2, 4	4, 5.:	3, 5.4		Cara C	···++~·	-		
Comments:	ethod of Test:BS EN ISO: 17892-1: 2014 & BS 1377: Part 2: 1990: 3.2, 4.4, 5.3, 5.4pe of Sample Key:U=Undisturbed, B=Bulk, D=Disturbed, J=Jar, W=Water, SPT=Split Spoon Sample, C=Core Cutteromments:Corrected water content assume material greater than 0.425mm non-porous. See BS1377: Part2: 1990 Clause 3 Note 1Volume Change Potential: NHBC Standards Chapter 4.2 Unmodified Plasticity IndexNote: Modified Plasticity Index I'p = Ip x (% less than 425microns/100)																





Contract	(Come	t Way, H	atfield													
Serial No.	:	36699	_1											_			
		DET	ERMINA D	TION OF W	JATER C		T, LIC / IND		LIMIT A		LAST / IND	IC LIN FX		ND			
Borehole / Pit No.	Depth m	Type	ample Referenc	Water Content e (W) %				Desci	ription			<u> </u>			Remark	S	
WS04	1.20	SPT	01	22.3	Firm yello fine to me	wish browr edium chert	n slightly	y grave	lly slightly sa	ndy silty	CLAY. (Gravel is					
				PREPARATI	ION					Liqui	d Limi	t				34	%
Method of	prepa	aration			Wet	sieved o	over 0	.425r	mm sieve	Plast	ic Lim	it				19	%
Sample retained 0.425mm sieve(Measured)6 %Plasticity Index15 %											%						
Corrected v	prrected water content for material passing 0.425mm 23.7 % Liquidity Index 0.22																
Sample ret	ained	2mm :	sieve	(Meas	ured)				4 %	NHB	CMod	lified	(l'p)			14	%
Curing time	e		2	5 hrs	Clay	Content	No	ot anal	ysed	Deriv	ved Ac	tivity			Not an	alysed	
C=CLAY Plasticity II % (Ip) M=SILT	ndex	70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 0	10	CL	CI MI 40	50 C	СН ИН 60	70	CV MV 80 Plastici	90 ty Chart	CE ME 100 BS5930	110	120 Figure 8		Low Medium High	NHBC Volume Change Potential	6
Method of P Method of T Type of Sam Comments:	Prepara Fest: Iple Ke	ition: y:	BS EN ISC BS EN ISC U=Undistu Corrected v Volume Cha Note: Modi): 17892-1:): 17892-1: Irbed, B=Bulk water content ange Potential ified Plasticity	2014 & E 2014 & E <, D=Distu assume ma l: NHBC Sta Index I'p =	3S 1377: 3S 1377: Irbed, J=J aterial gre Indards Ch Ip x (% les	Part Part ar, W= ater th apter ss than	2: 19 2: 19 =Wate an 0.4 4.2 Un 425m	90: 4.2 90: 3.2, 4 er, SPT=Spl .25mm non- imodified Pl icrons/100)	4, 5.3 lit Spo -porous lasticity	3, 5.4 on San s. See B r Index	nple, C S1377	C=Core Part2:	Cutt 1990	ter) Clause 3	Note 1	L





Contract		Come	t Way, Ha	tfield									
Serial No.		36699)_1										
		DET	ERMINAT	ION OF W	ATER C	ONTENT,) LIMIT A	ND PLAST	IC LIM	IT AND)	
Borehole / Pit No.	Depth m		Sample Reference	Water Content (W) %			Desc	ription	-	_		Remark	S
WS08	2.00	SPT	02	11.1	Stiff yellow occasional angular ch	vish brown slig I medium and o Iert.	htly grave; coarse san	Ily slightly san	ndy silty CLAY w avel is fine to m	ith nedium			
			P	REPARATI	ON				Liquid Lim	it			29 %
Method of	f prepa	aration	1		Wet	sieved ove	r 0.425	mm sieve	Plastic Lim	it			13 %
Sample retained 0.425mm sieve (Measured) 58 % Plasticity Index												16 %	
Corrected water content for material passing 0.425mm 26.4 % Liquidity Index -0.12											-0.12		
Sample ref	Sample retained 2mm sieve (Measured) 39 % NHBC Modified (I'p)											7 %	
Curing tim	ng time 24 hrs Clay Content Not analysed Derived Activity Not anal												alysed
C=CLAY Plasticity I % (Ip) M=SILT	Index	70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 0		CL X ML 20 30	CI MI 40	CH	70	CV MV 80 Plasticit	CE ME 90 100	110 2: 2015: Fi	120 gure 8	Liquid I	NHBC Volume Change Potential
Method of I Method of ⁻ Type of San Comments:	Prepara Test: nple Ke	ation: y:	BS EN ISO: BS EN ISO: U=Undistur Corrected wa Volume Char Note: Modifi	17892-1: 2 17892-1: 2 bed, B=Bulk iter content a ige Potential: ed Plasticity I	2014 & B 2014 & B ., D=Distur assume ma : NHBC Sta index I'p =	IS 1377: Pa IS 1377: Pa rbed, J=Jar, aterial greate ndards Chapt Ip x (% less th	1rt 2: 19 art 2: 19 W=Wat r than 0.4 ter 4.2 Ui han 425m	990: 4.2 990: 3.2, 4 er, SPT=Spl 425mm non- nmodified Pl nicrons/100)	.4, 5.3, 5.4 lit Spoon Sar porous. See E lasticity Index	nple, C= 3\$1377: F	Core Cu Part2: 19	utter 190 Clause 3	Note 1





























Contrac	t	Comet Way, Hatfield										
Serial N	0.	36699	ə_1									
	DETERM	1INAT	ION OF D	ENSITY	, WAT	ER COI	NTENT A		DRAINE	D SHE	AR STR	ENGTH IN TRIAXIAL
			CON	/ PRESS	ION W	ITHOU	T MEAS	URMEN	T OF P	ORE PR	ESSUR	E
Borehole	Depth	-		Water Content	Bulk Density	Dry Density	Lateral Pressure	Deviator Stress	Shear Stress	Mohrs Ana	s Circle Ivsis	
/Pit No.	(m)	туре	Reference	(%)	(Mg/m ³)	(Mg/m ³)	(kPa)	(kPa)	(kPa)	Cu (kPa)	Ø degrees	Description
CP01	14.02	U	1	15.8	2.16	1.87	282	624	312			Hard (extremely high strength) dark greyish brown slightly gravelly slightly sandy silty calcareous CLAY. Gravel is fine to medium chert and chalk.
CP02	12.61	U	2	15.7	2.22	1.92	250	574	287			Very stiff (very high strength) dark greyish brown slightly gravelly slightly sandy silty calcareous CLAY. Gravel is fine to medium chert and chalk.
Method of Method of	Preparation Test:	:	BS 1377: Par BS 1377: Par	t 1: 1990: 1 t 2: 1990:3	7.4.2 & 8, 1 Determin	Part 2: 199 ation of M	0: 7.2, Part loisture Con	7: 1990: 8.3 tent, Part2:	1990:7 De	terminatio	n of Densi	ty, Part 7: 1990: 8 Undrained Shear
Type of San	nple Key:		Strenth, 9 M U = Undistur	ultistage Lo bed, B = Bu	oading ulk, D = Dis	turbed, J =	= Jar, W = W	ater, SPT =	Split Spoor	n Sample, C	: = Core Cu	tter
Comments: Remarks to	Include:		Sample distu drying tempe	irbance, los erature if n	ss of moist <u>ot 105</u> -110	ure, variat 0°C	ion from tes	st procedure	e, location	and origin	of test spe	cimen within original sample, oven



TEST REPORT

DATE ISSUED: 03/04/2020



Contract **Comet Way, Hatfield** Serial No. 36699 1 DETERMINATION OF UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH IN TRIAXIAL COMPRESSION WITHOUT MEASUREMENT **OF PORE PRESSURE** Borehole Depth (m) Type Reference Description Remarks /Pit No. Hard (extremely high strength) dark greyish brown slightly gravelly CP01 13.90 U 1 slightly sandy silty calcareous CLAY. Gravel is fine to medium chert and chalk. **Initial Specimen** Height Diameter Weight Water Content **Bulk Density** Dry Density Depth of (Mg/m³) (Mg/m³) (mm) (mm) (g) (%) Top of Specimen 199.1 102.8 3573 15.8 1.87 (m) 2.16 14.02 TEST INFORMATION Rate of Strain 1.9 % per Min **Rubber Membrane Thickness** 0.6 mm 700 600 Measured Deviator Stress (kPa) 500 400 300 200 100 0 2 0 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 Strain (%) Stress Corrections (kPa) Mohrs Circle Analysis Corrected Max. Measured Cell Shear Stress Cu, Specimen at failure Strain at Failure Pressure, σ3 Deviator Stress, ½(σ1-σ3)f Rubber Cu PHI (%) **Piston Friction** (σ1-σ3)f (kPa) (kPa) (kPa) Membrane (kPa) (degrees) 20.1 624 282 2.3 ١ 312 Method of Preparation: BS 1377: Part 1: 1990 BS 1377: Part 7: 1990: 8 Definitive Method, 1990: 9 Multi-stage loading Method of Test: Type of Sample Key: U = Undisturbed, B = Bulk, D = Disturbed, J = Jar, W = Water, SPT = Split Spoon Sample, C = Core Cutter Comments: **Tested in Vertical Condition** UKAS Calibration - loads from 0.2 to 10kN Remarks to Include: Sample disturbance, loss of moisture, variation form test procedure, location and origin of test specimen within original sample, oven drying temperature if not 105-110°C



TEST REPORT

DATE ISSUED: 03/04/2020



Contract **Comet Way, Hatfield** Serial No. 36699 1 DETERMINATION OF UNDRAINED SHEAR STRENGTH IN TRIAXIAL COMPRESSION WITHOUT MEASUREMENT **OF PORE PRESSURE** Borehole Depth (m) Type Reference Description Remarks /Pit No. Very stiff (very high strength) dark greyish brown slightly gravelly CP02 12.50 U 2 slightly sandy silty calcareous CLAY. Gravel is fine to medium chert and chalk. **Initial Specimen** Height Diameter Weight Water Content **Bulk Density** Dry Density Depth of (Mg/m³) (Mg/m³) (mm) (mm) (g) (%) Top of Specimen 155.2 102.5 2841 15.7 2.22 1.92 (m) 12.61 TEST INFORMATION Rate of Strain 1.8 % per Min **Rubber Membrane Thickness** 0.6 mm 700 600 Measured Deviator Stress (kPa) 500 400 300 200 100 0 2 0 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 Strain (%) Stress Corrections (kPa) Mohrs Circle Analysis Corrected Max. Measured Cell Shear Stress Cu, Specimen at failure Strain at Failure Pressure, σ3 Deviator Stress, ½(σ1-σ3)f Rubber Cu PHI (%) **Piston Friction** (σ1-σ3)f (kPa) (kPa) (kPa) Membrane (kPa) (degrees) 20.0 250 2.3 ١ 574 287 Method of Preparation: BS 1377: Part 1: 1990 BS 1377: Part 7: 1990: 8 Definitive Method, 1990: 9 Multi-stage loading Method of Test: Type of Sample Key: U = Undisturbed, B = Bulk, D = Disturbed, J = Jar, W = Water, SPT = Split Spoon Sample, C = Core Cutter Comments: **Tested in Vertical Condition** UKAS Calibration - loads from 0.2 to 10kN Remarks to Include: Sample disturbance, loss of moisture, variation form test procedure, location and origin of test specimen within original sample, oven drying temperature if not 105-110°C



TEST REPORT ISSUED BY SOIL PROPERTY TESTING LTD DATE ISSUED: 03/04/2020



Contract **Comet Way, Hatfield** Serial No. 36699 1 DETERMINATION OF THE ONE-DIMENSIONAL CONSOLIDATION PROPERTIES Specimen Water Borehole/ Depth Remarks Ref. Depth (m) and Content Description Туре Pit No. (m) Orientation (%) Hard (extremely high strength) dark greyish brown CP01 13.90 13.95 U 1 16.8 slightly gravelly slightly sandy silty calcareous CLAY. Gravel is fine to medium chert and chalk. Horizontal Change in Μv Increment Load Void Cv Temp Corrected **Initial Conditions** Height (kN/m^2) Ratio (m^2/yr) (m^2/MN) Cv No. (°C) (mm) Height 18.73 280 0.494 mm 1 0.339 21 Diameter mm 50.01 2 560 0.691 0.465 0.99 0.07 21 0.96 21 Wet Weight 79.06 3 1120 1.189 0.425 0.05 0.36 0.37 g Water Content 16.8 4 % 280 0.982 0.441 0.01 21 **Bulk Density** 2.15 Mg/m³ Particle Density Assumed 2.80 Voids Ratio 0.521 Degree of Saturation 90 % Swelling Pressure kN/m² 280 Dry Density 1.84 Mg/m³ 0.540 0.520 0.500 Voids Ratio 0.480 0.460 0.440 0.420 0.400 10 100 1000 10000 1 Log of Pressure (kN/m²) Method of Preparation: BS 1377: Part 5: 1990: 3.3 & 3.4 Method of Test: BS 1377: Part 5: 1990: 3.5 Method of Time Fitting Used: Square root Type of Sample Key: U = Undisturbed, B = Bulk, D = Disturbed, J = Jar, W = Water, SPT = Split Spoon Sample, C = Core Cutter Comments: Remarks to Include: Sample disturbance, loss of water, variation from test procedure, location and origin of test specimen within original sample, oven drying temperature if not 105-110 °C.



TEST REPORT ISSUED BY SOIL PROPERTY TESTING LTD DATE ISSUED: 03/04/2020



Contract **Comet Way, Hatfield** Serial No. 36699 1 DETERMINATION OF THE ONE-DIMENSIONAL CONSOLIDATION PROPERTIES Specimen Water Borehole/ Depth Remarks Ref. Depth (m) and Content Description Туре Pit No. (m) Orientation (%) Very stiff (very high strength) dark greyish brown CP02 12.50 2 12.53 U 17.1 slightly gravelly slightly sandy silty calcareous CLAY. Gravel is fine to medium chert and chalk. Horizontal Change in Μv Increment Load Void Cv Temp Corrected **Initial Conditions** Height (kN/m^2) Ratio (m^2/yr) (m^2/MN) Cv No. (°C) (mm) Height 18.70 250 0.501 mm 1 0.278 21 Diameter mm 50.00 2 500 0.543 0.479 0.49 0.06 21 0.47 21 Wet Weight 78.68 3 1000 1.005 0.442 0.05 0.32 0.33 g Water Content 17.1 4 % 250 0.807 0.458 0.02 21 2.14 **Bulk Density** Mg/m³ Particle Density Assumed 2.79 Voids Ratio 0.524 Degree of Saturation 91 % Swelling Pressure kN/m² 250 Dry Density 1.83 Mg/m³ 0.530 e。 0.520 0.510 0.500 Voids Ratio 0.490 0.480 0.470 0.460 Q 0.450 0.440 0.430 10 100 1000 10000 1 Log of Pressure (kN/m²) Method of Preparation: BS 1377: Part 5: 1990: 3.3 & 3.4 Method of Test: BS 1377: Part 5: 1990: 3.5 Method of Time Fitting Used: Square root Type of Sample Key: U = Undisturbed, B = Bulk, D = Disturbed, J = Jar, W = Water, SPT = Split Spoon Sample, C = Core Cutter Comments: Remarks to Include: Sample disturbance, loss of water, variation from test procedure, location and origin of test specimen within original sample, oven drying temperature if not 105-110 °C.



TEST REPORT

ISSUED BY SOIL PROPERTY TESTING LTD DATE ISSUED: 03/04/2020

Contract: Comet Way, Hatfield

Serial No: **36699_1**

	D	ETER	MINATIO	ON OF T	THE SU	LPHAT	E CON	JTENT A	ND pH OF SOIL AND GROUNDWATE	R
	Г ^г	S -	ample	Conc. of S	oluble SO3	Calc'd	Ι	% Sample		
Borehole	Depth	Ja	mpie	Water	Ground	Conc. Of	рН	Passing	Description	Remarks
/ Pit No.	(m)	Туре	Ref.	Soluble 2:1 (g/L)	Water (g/L)	SO4 (g/L)	Value	2mm Sieve		nemana
CP01	1.20	В	1	0.07		0.08	7.1	80	Firm dark yellowish brown slightly gravelly slightly sandy silty CLAY with rare decayed roots. Gravel is brown, white and grey fine to medium chert.	
CP02	9.80	В	5	0.28		0.34	7.0	88	Stiff dark grey slightly gravelly slightly sandy calcareous CLAY. Gravel is fine to coarse chalk, and chert.	
CP02	28.70	В	10	0.02		0.03	7.1	0	Intact white CHALK fragments of fine to coarse gravel size with occasional black angular flint gravel and rare structureless chalk.	Chalk crushed to pass 2mm sieve
WS04	2.00	SPT	02	0.04		0.04	7.1	72	Firm olive yellow slightly gravelly slightly sandy CLAY with occasional grey and orange mottling. Gravel is fine to medium angular to subangular chert.	
WS05	3.00	SPT	03	<0.01		<0.01	7.2	88	Olive yellow gravelly fine to medium SAND. Gravel is fine to medium angular to subangular chert.	
WS08	2.00	SPT	02	0.01		0.02	6.9	61	Stiff yellowish brown slightly gravelly slightly sandy silty CLAY with occasional medium and coarse sand pockets. Gravel is fine to medium angular chert.	
Method of P	reparatio	n:	BS1377: Par	rt 1: 2016: '	8.5, BS137	7: Part 3: 1	1990: 5.	3 Soil/Water	Extract, 5.4 Groundwater	
Method of T	est:		BS1377: Par	rt 3: 1990: !	5.5					
Type of Sam	ple Key:		U= Undistur	rbed, B= Bu	ilk, D= Dist	urbed, J= J	lar, W= \	Water, SPT=	Split Spoon Sample, C= Core Cutter	
Comments. Remarks to I	Include:		Sample dist	AS accreui	t ea	ture varia	tion fro	m test proce	dure location and origin of test specimen within origin	nal sample. Oven
itematiks to i	neiduc.		drving temr	perature if	not 105-11	LOC.		in test proces		iai sample. Oven



Appendix D Ground Gas Monitoring Records

RECORD SHEET - GAS MONITORING

	Stantec
--	---------

Job Title	Comet Way, Hatfield
Job No	47179
Date	20.3.2020
Operator	C Radbone

		Instrument (type/serial no)				GAS D	ATA GEM SEB	IES 436			
				/				0,10 5		120 100			
Atmospheric	Time	- 48 hrs	- 24 hrs	0	+ 24 hrs	+ 48 hrs		Comment	+/-48hrs	and +/-24hrs d	ata has been obta	ined from	
Pressure	mbar			1023				Comment		timean	ddate.com		
Ground conditi	ons						Dry						
Weather						Cold, clear							
Borehole ident	fication and	construction						CP01					
Comment/Cond	lition												
Start time with pump time (minutes)	Flow	Differential Pressure (Pa)	CO2	02 (%v/v)	CH4 (%I EL)	CH4	H2S	C6H14	CO	PID (ppm)	Groundwater Level	Depth to base (mBGL)	
0.5	0.0	0.0	0.2	19.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0		(IIIBGL)	
1	0.0	0.0	0.2	18.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	10.50	00.00	
1.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	17.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	13.59	20.00	
2	0.0	0.0	0.0	16.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	10.0	1.0			
Borehole ident	fication and	construction						CP02					
Comment/Cond	lition												
Start time	Flow	Differential	CO2	Ö2	CH4	CH4	H2S	C6H14	CO	PID	Groundwater	Depth	

Start time	Flow	Differential	CO2	O2	CH4	CH4	H2S	C6H14	CO	PID	Groundwater	Depth
with pump time		Pressure									Level	to base
(minutes)	(l/hr)	(Pa)	(%v/v)	(%v/v)	(%LEL)	(%v/v)	(mqq)	(%)	(mqq)	(mqq)	Level (mBGL)	(mBGL)
0.5	0.0	0.0	0.4	19.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0		
1	0.0	0.0	0.6	18.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	15.00	20.00
1.5	0.0	0.0	0.7	18.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	15.25	20.00
2	0.0	0.0	0.7	18.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0		

Borehole ident	ification and	construction						WS01						
Comment/Cond	Comment/Condition													
Start time with pump time (minutes)	Flow (l/hr)	Differential Pressure (Pa)	CO2 (%v/v)	O2 (%v/v)	CH4 (%LEL)	CH4 (%v/v)	H2S (ppm)	C6H14 (%)	CO (ppm)	PID (ppm)	Groundwater Level Level (mBGL)	Depth to base (mBGL)		
0.5	-0.4	-1.0	0.6	19.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0				
1	-0.4	-1.0	0.8	18.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	Dry	E 00		
1.5	-0.3	-1.0	0.9	18.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	Dry	5.00		
2	-0.4	-1.0	0.9	18.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0]			

Borehole ident	ification and	construction				WS02							
Comment/Cond	Comment/Condition												
Start time with pump time (minutes)	Flow (l/hr)	Differential Pressure (Pa)	CO2 (%v/v)	O2 (%v/v)	CH4 (%LEL)	CH4 (%v/v)	H2S (ppm)	C6H14 (%)	CO (maa)	PID (maa)	Groundwater Level Level (mBGL)	Depth to base (mBGL)	
0.5	-0.4	-2.0	0.8	18.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0			
1	-0.4	-2.0	0.2	19.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	Dry		
1.5	-0.4	-2.0	0.2	19.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	Diy		
2	-0.4	-2.0	0.2	20.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0			

N.B: Where measured gas concentration is shown to be '0.0' this indicates the actual concentration is below the limit of detection for the gas monitoring equipment

Typed By: JC

Date

RECORD SHEET - GAS MONITORING

Job Title	Comet Way, Hatfield
Job No	47179
Date	20.03.2020
Operator	C Radbone

Borehole identi	ification and	construction			WS04							
Comment/Cond	dition				Unable to access borehole, parked car on top of cover							
Start time Flow with pump time (minutes) (l/hr)		Differential Pressure (Pa)	CO2 (%v/v)	O2 (%v/v)	CH4 (%LEL)	CH4 (%v/v)	H2S (ppm)	C6H14 (%)	CO (ppm)	PID (ppm)	Groundwater Level Level (mBGL)	Depth to base (mBGL)
											-	

Borehole ident	ification and	construction	l					WS05					
Comment/Cond	Comment/Condition												
Start time with pump time (minutes)	Flow (l/hr)	Differential Pressure (Pa)	CO2 (%v/v)	O2 (%v/v)	CH4 (%LEL)	CH4 (%v/v)	H2S (ppm)	C6H14 (%)	CO (ppm)	PID (ppm)	Groundwater Level Level (mBGL)	Depth to base (mBGL)	
0.5	-0.2	-2.0	0.1	18.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0			
1	-0.2	-2.0	0.1	19.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	4.05	E 00	
1.5	-0.2	-2.0	0.1	19.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	4.95	5.00	
2	-0.2	-2.0	0.1	20.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.0			

Borehole identi	ification and	construction						WS06						
Comment/Cond	Comment/Condition													
Start time with pump time (minutes)	Flow (l/hr)	Differential Pressure (Pa)	CO2 (%v/v)	O2 (%v/v)	CH4 (%LEL)	CH4 (%v/v)	H2S (ppm)	C6H14 (%)	CO (maa)	PID (ppm)	Groundwater Level Level (mBGL)	Depth to base (mBGL)		
0.5	-0.2	-2.0	0.4	19.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	10.0	1.0				
1	-0.2	-2.0	0.4	19.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	10.0	1.0	Dry	F 00		
1.5	-0.2	-2.0	0.5	19.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	10.0	1.0	Dry	5.00		
2	-0.2	-2.0	0.4	19.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	10.0	1.0				

Borehole identi	3orehole identification and construction												
Comment/Condition													
Start time	Flow	Differential	CO2	O2	CH4	CH4	H2S	C6H14	CO	PID	Groundwater	Depth	
with pump time (minutes)	(l/hr)	Pressure (Pa)	(%v/v)	(%v/v)	(%LEL)	(%v/v)	(mqq)	(%)	(mqq)	(mqq)	Level Level (mBGL)	to base (mBGL)	
											-		

N.B: Where measured gas concentration is shown to be '0.0' this indicates the actual concentration is below the limit of detection for the gas monitoring equipment

Typed By: JC

04.12.2019 Checked By:

Date

Date



Appendix E Stantec Methodology for the Assessment of Potentially Contaminated Land
1 INTRODUCTION

This document defines the approach adopted by Stantec in relation to the assessment of land contamination in England. The aim is for the approach to (i) be systematic and objective, (ii) provide for the assessment of uncertainty and (iii) provide a rational, consistent, transparent framework.

When preparing our methodology, we have made reference to various technical guidance documents and legislation referenced in Section 7 of which the principal documents are (i) Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance (Defra 2012), (ii) online guidance Land Contamination: Risk Management (LC:RM) accessed from GOV.UK which replaced the Contaminated Land Research (CLR) Report 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Contamination CLR 11 (EA 2004), (iii) Contaminated land risk assessment: A guide to good practice (C552) (CIRIA 2001) (iv) National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019) (v) BS 10175 Investigation of potentially contaminated sites - Code of Practice (BSI 2017) and (vi) The series of British Standards on Soil Quality BS 18400.

2 DEALING WITH LAND CONTAMINATION

Government policy on land contamination aims to prevent new contaminated land from being created and promotes a risk-based approach to addressing historical contamination. For historical contamination, regulatory intervention is held in reserve for land that meets the legal definition and cannot be dealt with through any other means, including through planning. Land is only considered to be *"contaminated land"* in the legal sense if it poses an unacceptable risk.

UK legislation on contaminated land is principally contained in Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act, 1990 (which was inserted into the 1990 Act by section 57 of the Environment Act 1995). Part 2A was introduced in England on 1 April 2000 and provides a risk-based approach to the identification and remediation of land where contamination poses an unacceptable risk to human health or the environment.

The Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (CLR 11), were developed to provide the technical framework for applying a risk management process when dealing with land affected by contamination. The process involves identifying, making decisions on, and taking appropriate action to deal with land contamination in a way that is consistent with government policies and legislation within the UK. The approach, concepts and principles for land contamination management promoted by LC:RM (and its predecessor CLR 11) are applied to the determination of planning applications. Other legislative regimes may also provide a means of dealing with land contamination issues, such as the regimes for waste, water, environmental permitting, and environmental damage. Further, the law of statutory nuisance may result in contaminants being unacceptable to third parties whilst not attracting action under Part 2A or other environmental legislation.

2.1 Part 2A

The Regulations and Statutory Guidance that accompanied the Act, including the Contaminated Land (England) Regulations 2006, has been revised with the issue of The Contaminated Land (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012 (SI 2012/263) and the Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance for England 2012.

Part 2A defines contaminated land as "land which appears to the Local Authority in whose area it is situated to be in such a condition that, by reason of substances in, on or under the land that significant harm is being caused, or there is a significant possibility that such significant harm (SPOSH) could be caused, or significant pollution of controlled waters is being caused, or there is a significant possibility of such pollution (SPOSP) being caused".

Harm is defined as "harm to the health of living organisms or other interference with the ecological systems of which they form part, and in the case of man, includes harm to his property".

Part 2A provides a means of dealing with unacceptable risks posed by land contamination to human health and the environment, and under the guidance enforcing authorities should seek to find and deal with such land. It states that "under Part 2A the starting point should be that land is not contaminated land unless there is reason to consider otherwise. Only land where unacceptable risks are clearly identified, after a risk assessment has been undertaken in accordance with the Guidance, should be considered as meeting the Part 2A definition of contaminated land". Further, the guidance makes it clear that "regulatory decisions should be based on what is reasonably likely, not what is hypothetically possible".

The overarching objectives of the Government's policy on contaminated land and the Part 2A regime are:

- "(a) To identify and remove unacceptable risks to human health and the environment.
- (a) To seek to ensure that contaminated land is made suitable for its current use.
- (b) To ensure that the burdens faced by individuals, companies and society as a whole are proportionate, manageable and compatible with the principles of sustainable development".

The enforcing authority may need to decide whether and how to act in situations where decisions are not straight forward, and where there is uncertainty. "In so doing, the authority should use its judgement to strike a reasonable balance between: (a) dealing with risks raised by contaminants in land and the benefits of remediating land to remove or reduce those risks; and (b) the potential impacts of regulatory intervention including financial costs to whoever will pay for remediation, health and environmental impacts of taking action, property blight, and burdens on affected people".

The authority is required to "take a precautionary approach to the risks raised by contamination, whilst avoiding a disproportionate approach given the circumstances of each case". The aim is "that the regime produces net benefits, taking account of local circumstances".

The guidance recognises that "normal levels of contaminants in soils should not be considered to cause land to qualify as contaminated land, unless there is a particular reason to consider otherwise". Normal levels are guoted as:

- *"a) natural presence of contaminants'* such as from underlying geology *'that have not* been shown to pose an unacceptable risk to health and the environment
- *b)* ...low level diffuse pollution, and common human activity..."

Similarly the guidance states that significant pollution or significant possibility of significant pollution of controlled waters is required for land to be considered contaminated and the "fact that substances are merely entering water" or "where discharge from land is not discernible at a location immediately downstream" does not constitute contaminated land.

To help achieve a more targeted approach to identifying and managing contaminated land in relation to the risk (or possibility) of harm to human health, the revised Statutory Guidance presented a new four category system for considering land under Part 2A, ranging from Category 4, where there is no risk that land poses a significant possibility of significant harm (SPOSH), or the level of risk is low, to Category 1, where the risk that land poses a significant possibility of significant harm (SPOSH) is unacceptably high.

For land that cannot be readily placed into Categories 1 or 4 further assessment is required. If there is sufficient concern that the risks could cause significant harm or have the significant possibility of significant harm the land is to be placed into Category 2. If the concern is not met land is considered Category 3.

The technical guidance clearly states that the currently published Soil Guidance Values (SGV's) and Generic Assessment Criteria (GAC's)

represent "cautious estimates of level of contaminants in soils" which should be considered "no risk to health or, at most, a minimal risk". These values do not represent the boundary between categories 3 and 4 and "should be considered to be comfortably within Category 4".

At the end of 2013 technical guidance in support of Defra's revised Statutory Guidance (SG) was published and then revised in 2014 (CL: AIRE 2014) which provided:

- A methodology for deriving C4SLs for four generic land-uses comprising residential, commercial, allotments and public open space; and
- A demonstration of the methodology, via the derivation of C4SLs for six substances – arsenic, benzene, benzo(a)pyrene, cadmium, chromium (VI) and lead.

For controlled waters, the revised Statutory Guidance states that the following types of pollution should be considered to constitute significant pollution of controlled waters:

- "(a) Pollution equivalent to "environmental damage" to surface water or groundwater as defined by The Environmental Damage (Prevention and Remediation) Regulations 2009, but which cannot be dealt with under those Regulations.
- (b) Inputs resulting in deterioration of the quality of water abstracted, or intended to be used in the future, for human consumption such that additional treatment would be required to enable that use.
- (c) A breach of a statutory surface water Environment Quality Standard, either directly or via a groundwater pathway.
- (d) Input of a substance into groundwater resulting in a significant and sustained upward trend in concentration of contaminants (as defined in Article 2(3) of the Groundwater Daughter Directive (2006/118/EC)".

The guidance also states that, in some circumstances, significant concentrations at a compliance point (in groundwater or surface water) may constitute pollution of controlled waters.

As with SPOSH for human health, the revised Statutory Guidance presents a four-category system for Significant Pollution of controlled waters. Category 1 covers land where there is a strong and compelling case for SPOSP, for example where significant pollution would almost certainly occur if no action was taken to avoid it. Category 4 covers land where there is no risk or the risk is low, for example, where the land contamination is having no discernible impact on groundwater or surface water quality. Category 2 is for land where the risks posed

to controlled waters are not high enough to consider the land as Category 1 but nonetheless are of sufficient concern to constitute SPOSP, Category 3 is for land where the risks posed to controlled waters are higher than low but not of sufficient concern to constitute SPOSP.

2.2 Planning

The Local Planning Authority (LPA) is responsible for the control of development, and in doing so it has a duty to take account of all material considerations, including contamination.

The principal planning objective is to ensure that any unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical environment from the contaminated condition of the land are identified so that appropriate action can be considered and taken to address those risks.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019), includes the following.

Paragraph 118 states that planning policies and decisions should "(c) give substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements for homes and other identified needs, and support appropriate opportunities to remediate despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated or unstable land."

Paragraph 179 states "Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner".

Paragraph 170 states "planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by:

- (e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air and water quality, taking into account relevant information such as river basin management plans; and
- (f) remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land, where appropriate."

Paragraph 178 describes the policy considerations the Government expects LPA's to have in regard to land affected by contamination when preparing policies for development plans and in taking decisions on applications.

Paragraph 178 states "planning policies and decisions should ensure that:

- (a) a site is suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground conditions and any risks arising from land instability and contamination. This includes risks arising from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, and any proposals for mitigation including land remediation (as well as potential impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation);
- (b) after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990; and
- c) adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is available to inform these assessments."

Paragraph 183 states "The focus of planning policies and decisions should be on whether proposed development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of processes or emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes). Planning decisions should assume that these regimes will operate effectively. Equally, where a planning decision has been made on a development, the planning issues should not be revisited through the permitting regimes operated by pollution control authorities."

The Glossary in Annex 2 provides the following:

Brownfield land registers: Registers of previously developed land that local planning authorities consider to be appropriate for residential development, having regard to criteria in the Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Registers) Regulations 2017. Local planning authorities will be able to trigger a grant of permission in principle for residential development on suitable sites in their registers where they follow the required procedures.

Competent person (to prepare site investigation information): A person with a recognised relevant qualification, sufficient experience in dealing with the type(s) of pollution or land instability, and membership of a relevant professional organisation.

Previously developed land: Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: land that is or was last occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill, where provision for restoration has been made through development management procedures: land in built-up areas such as residential gardens. parks, recreation grounds and allotments; and land that was previously developed but where the remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape.

Site investigation information: Includes a risk assessment of land potentially affected by contamination, or ground stability and slope stability reports, as appropriate. All investigations of land potentially affected by contamination should be carried out in accordance with established procedures (such as BS10175 Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites – Code of Practice).

Stantec adopt the principle that a Preliminary Investigation (Desk Study and Site Reconnaissance) and Preliminary Risk Assessment (see below) is the minimum assessment requirement to support a planning application.

The level at which contamination is deemed to be unacceptable, or, gives rise to adverse effects under a planning context has not been identified but is envisaged to be more precautionary than the level required to determine land as contaminated under Part 2A.

2.3 Building Control

The building control department of the local authority or private sector approved inspectors are responsible for the operation and enforcement of the Building Regulations (DCLG 2010) to protect the health, safety and welfare of people in and around buildings. Approved Document C requires the protection of buildings and associated land from the effects of contamination, to be applied (nonexclusively) in all changes of use from commercial or industrial premises, to residential property.

3 APPROACH

As with CLR11 the guidance given in LC:RM presents three stages of risk management: -

- (a) Stage 1 Risk Assessment;
- (b) Stage 2 Options Appraisal; and
- (c) Stage 3 Remediation.

Each stage has three tiers. The three tiers of Stage 1 Risk Assessment are: -

- Tier 1 Preliminary Risk Assessment (PRA) first tier of RA that develops the outline conceptual model (CM) and establishes whether there are any potentially unacceptable risks.
- Tier 2 Generic Quantitative Risk Assessment (GQRA) - carried out using generic assessment criteria and assumptions to estimate risk.
- Tier 3 Detailed Quantitative Risk Assessment (DQRA) - carried out using detailed site-specific information to generate Site Specific Assessment Criteria (SSAC) as risk evaluation criteria.

For each tier of a Stage 1 - Risk Assessment you must:

- 1. Identify the hazard establish contaminant sources.
- Assess the hazard use a source-pathwayreceptor (S-P-R) pollutant linkage approach to find out if there is the potential for unacceptable risk.
- 3. Estimate the risk predict what degree of harm or pollution might result and how likely it is to occur.
- 4. Evaluate the risk decide whether a risk is unacceptable.

A Stantec Preliminary Investigation report normally comprises a desk study, walkover site reconnaissance and preliminary risk assessment (PRA). The project specific proposal defines the actual scope of work which might include review of ground investigation data in which case the report includes a GQRA.

Risk estimation involves identifying the magnitude of the potential consequence (taking into account both the potential severity of the hazard and the sensitivity of the receptor) and the magnitude of the likelihood i.e. the probability (taking into account the presence of the hazard and the receptor and the integrity of the pathway). This approach is promoted in current guidance such as R&D 66 (NHBC 2008).

For a PRA, Stantec's approach is that if a pollution linkage is identified then it represents a potentially unacceptable risk which either (1) remediation / direct risk management or (2) progression to further tiers of risk assessment (GQRA and GQRA) requiring additional data collection and enabling refinement of the CM using the site specific data.

4 IDENTIFICATION OF POLLUTANT LINKAGES AND DEVELOPMENT OF A CONCEPTUAL MODEL (CM)

For all Tiers of a Stage 1 Risk Assessment, the underlying principle to ground condition assessment is the identification of *pollutant linkages* in order to evaluate whether the presence of a source of contamination could potentially lead to harmful consequences. A pollutant linkage consists of the following three elements: -

- A source/hazard a substance or situation which has the potential to cause harm or pollution;
- A pathway a means by which the hazard moves along / generates exposure; and
- A receptor/target an entity which is vulnerable to the potential adverse effects of the hazard.

The *Conceptual Model* identifies the types and locations of potential contaminant sources/hazards and potential receptors and potential migration/transportation pathway(s). The CM is refined through progression to further tiers of risk assessment (GQRA and GQRA) requiring additional data collection.

4.1 Hazard Identification

A hazard is a substance or situation that has the potential to cause harm. Hazards may be chemical, biological or physical.

In a PRA the potential for hazards to be present is determined from consideration of the previous or ongoing activities on or near to the site in accordance with the criteria presented in the **Table 1**.

Based on the land use information Contaminants of Potential Concern (COPC) are identified. The COPC direct the scope of the collection of sitespecific data and the analytical testing selected for subsequent Tiers.

At Tier 2 the site-specific data is evaluated using appropriate published assessment criteria (refer to Stantec document entitled Rationale for the Selection of Evaluation Criteria for a Generic Quantitative Risk Assessment (GQRA)). In general, published criteria have been developed using highly conservative assumptions and therefore if the screening criterion is not exceeded (and if enough samples from appropriate locations have been analysed) then the COPC is eliminated as a potential Hazard. It should be noted that exceedance does not necessarily indicate that a site is contaminated and/or unsuitable for use only that the COPC is retained as a potential Hazard. Published criteria are generated using models based on numerous and complex assumptions. Whether or not these assumptions are appropriate or sufficiently protective requires confirmation on a project by project basis. Manipulation of the default assumptions would normally form part of a Tier 3 Detailed Quantitative Risk Assessment (DQRA).

When reviewing or assessing site specific data Stantec utilise published guidance on comparing contamination data with a critical concentration (CL:AIRE/CIEH 2008) which presents a structured

Page 5 of 12 Revision 13.3 January 2020 process for employing statistical techniques for data assessment purposes.

4.2 Receptor and Pathway Identification

For all Tiers the potential receptors (for both on site and adjoining land) that will be considered are:

- Human Health including current and future occupiers, construction and future maintenance workers, and neighbouring properties/third parties;
- Ecological Systems; ¹
- Controlled Waters ² Under section 78A(9) of Part 2A the term "pollution of controlled waters" means the entry into controlled waters of any poisonous, noxious or polluting matter or any solid waste matter. The term "controlled waters" in relation to England has the same meaning as in Part 3 of the Water Resources Act 1991, except that "ground waters" does not include waters contained in underground strata but above the saturation zone.
- Property Animal or Crop (including timber; produce grown domestically, or on allotments, for consumption; livestock; other owned or domesticated animals; wild animals which are the subject of shooting or fishing rights); and
- Property Buildings (any structure or erection, and any part of a building including any part below ground level, but does not include plant or machinery comprised in a building, or buried services such as sewers, water pipes or electricity cables including archaeological sites and ancient monuments).

If a receptor is taken forward for further assessment it will be classified in terms of its sensitivity, the criteria for which are presented in **Table 2**. Table 2 has been generated using descriptions of environmental receptor importance/value given in various guidance documents including R&D 66 (NHBC 2008), EA 2017 and Transport Analysis Guidance (based on DETR 2000). Human health and buildings classifications have been generated by Stantec using the attribute description for each class. Surface water sensitivity is classified using the Water Framework Directive (WFD) status for the River Basin obtained from: https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchmentplanning/

without such a survey a Land Contamination risk assessment may conclude that the identification of potential ecological receptors is inconclusive (refer to Stantec Specification for a Preliminary Investigation (Desk Study and Site Reconnaissance).

¹ International or nationally designated sites (as defined in the statutory guidance (Defra Circular 04/12)) *"in the local area"* will be identified as potential ecological receptors. A search radius of 1, 2 or 5km will be utilised depending on the site-specific circumstances (see also pathway identification). The Environment Agency has published an ecological risk assessment framework (EA 2008) which promotes (as opposed to statutorily enforces) consideration of additional receptors to include locally protected sites and protected or notable species. These additional potential receptors will only be considered if a Phase 1 habitat survey, undertaken in accordance with guidance (JNCC 1993), is commissioned and the data provided to Stantec. It should be noted that

² The definition of "pollution of controlled water" was amended by the introduction of Section 86 of the Water Act 2003. For the purposes of Part 2A groundwater does not include waters above the saturated zone and our assessment does not therefore address perched water other than where development causes a pathway to develop.

The exposure pathway and modes of transport that will be considered are presented in **Table 3**.

4.3 Note regarding Ecological Systems

The Environment Agency (EA) has developed an ecological risk assessment framework which aims to provide a structured approach for assessing the risks to ecology from chemical contaminants in soils (EA 2008). In circumstances where contaminants in water represent a potential risk to aquatic ecosystems then risk assessors will need to consider this separately.

The framework consists of a three-tiered process: -

- Tier 1 is a screening step where the site soils chemical data is compared to a soil screening value (SSV)
- Tier 2 uses various tools (including surveys and biological testing) to gather evidence for any harm to the ecological receptors
- Tier 3 seeks to attribute the harm to the chemical contamination

Tier 1 is preceded by a desk study to collate information about the site and the nature of the contamination to assess whether pollutant linkages are feasible. The framework presents ten steps for ecological desk studies and development of a conceptual model as follows.

- 1. Establish Regulatory Context
- 2. Collate and Assess Documentary Information
- 3. Summarise Documentary Information
- 4. Identify Contaminants of Potential Concern
- 5. Identify Likely Fate Transport of Contaminants
- 6. Identify Potential Receptors of Concern
- 7. Identify Potential Pathways of Concern
- 8. Create a Conceptual Model
- **9.** Identify Assessment and Measurement Endpoints
- **10**. Identify Gaps and Uncertainties

The information in a standard PRA report covers Steps 1 to 4 inclusive. Step 5 considers fate and transport of contaminants and it should be noted that our standard report adopts a simplified approach considering only transport mechanisms. A simplified approach has also been adopted in respect of Steps 6 and 7 receptors (a detailed review of the ecological attributes has not been undertaken) and pathways (a food chain assessment has not been undertaken). Step 9 is outside the scope of our standard PRA report.

It should be noted that the PRA report will present an assessment for ecological systems (where identified as a receptor for a land contamination assessment) considering the viability of the mode of transport given the site-specific circumstances and not specific pathways. The PRA may conclude that the risk to potential ecological receptors is inconclusive.

4.4 Note regarding controlled waters

Controlled waters are rivers, estuaries, coastal waters, lakes and groundwaters, but not perched waters.

The EU Water Framework Directive (WFD) 2000/60/EC provides for the protection of subsurface, surface, coastal and territorial waters through a framework of river basin management. The EU Updated Water Framework Standards Directive 2014/101/EU amended the EU WFD to update the international standards therein; it entered into force on 20 November 2014 with the requirements for its provisions to be transposed in Member State law by 20 May 2016. Other EU Directives in the European water management framework include:

- the EU Priority Substances Directive 2013/39/EU;
- EU Groundwater Pollutants Threshold Values Directive 2014/80/EU amending the EU Groundwater Directive 2006/118/EC; and
- EU Biological Monitoring Directive 2014/101/EU.

The Ground Water Daughter Directive (GWDD) was enacted by the Groundwater Regulations (2009), which were subsumed by the Environmental Permitting Regulations (2010) which provide essential clarification including on the four objectives specifically for groundwater quality in the WFD: -

Achieve 'Good' groundwater chemical status by 2015, commonly referred to as 'status objective'; Achieve Drinking Water Protected Area Objectives;

Implement measures to reverse any significant and sustained upward trend in groundwater quality, referred to as 'trend objective'; and

Prevent or limit the inputs of pollutants into groundwater, commonly referred to as 'prevent or limit' objectives

The Water Act 2003 (Commencement No.11) Order 2012 amends the test for 'contaminated land' which relates to water pollution so that pollution of controlled waters must now be "significant" to meet the definition of contaminated land.

The Water Framework Directive (WFD) requires the preparation, implementation and review of River Basin Management Plans (RBMP) on a sixyear cycle. River basins are made up of lakes, rivers, groundwaters, estuaries and coastal waters, together with the land they drain. River Basin Districts (RBD) and the WFD Waterbodies that they comprise are important spatial management units, regularly used in catchment management studies. River Basin Management Plans (RBMP) have been developed for the 11 River Basin Districts in England and Wales.

These were released by Defra in 2009 (Defra 2009) and updated in 2015.

These RBMP's establish the current status of waters within the catchments of the respective Districts and the current status of adjoining waters identified. As part of a Tier 2 risk assessment water quality data is screened against the WFD assessment criteria. Comparison with the RBMP's current status of waters for the catchment under consideration would form part of a Tier 3 assessment.

5 RISK ESTIMATION

Risk estimation classifies what degree of harm might result to a receptor (defined as consequence) and how likely it is that such harm might arise (probability).

At Tier 1 the consequence classification is generated by multiplying the hazard classification score and the receptor sensitivity score. This approach follows that presented in the republished R&D 66 (NHBC 2008).

The criteria for classifying probability are set out in **Table 4** and have been taken directly from Table 6.4 CIRIA C552 (CIRIA 2001). Probability considers the integrity of the exposure pathway.

The consequence classifications detailed in **Table 5** have been adapted from Table 6.3 presented in C552 and R&D 66 (Annex 4 Table A4.3).

The Tier 1 risk classification is estimated for each pollutant linkage using the matrix given in **Table 6** which is taken directly from C552 (Table 6.5).

Subsequent Tiers refine the CM through retention or elimination of potential hazards and pollutant linkages.

6 RISK EVALUATION

Evaluation criteria are the parameters used to judge whether harm or pollution needs further assessment or is unacceptable. The evaluation criteria used will depend on:

- the reasons for doing the RA and the regulatory context such as Part 2A or planning;
- the CM and pollutant linkages present;
- any criteria set by regulators;
- any advisory requirements such as from Public Health England;
- the degree of confidence and precaution required;
- the level of confidence required to judge whether a risk is unacceptable;
- how you've used or developed more detailed assessment criteria in the later tiers of RA;
- the availability of robust scientific data;
- how much is known for example, about the pathway mechanism and how the contaminants affect receptors; and

 any practical reasons such as being able to measure or predict against the criteria.

In order to put the Tier 1 risk classification into context the likely actions are described in **Table 7** which is taken directly from Table 6.6 of C552 (CIRIA 2001).

REFERENCES

BSI 2017 BS 10175:2011+A2:2017 Investigation of potentially contaminated sites - Code of Practice

BSI 2019 BS 8485:2015+A1:2019 Code of practice for the design of protective measures for methane and carbon dioxide ground gases for new buildings

CIRIA 2001: Contaminated land risk assessment – a guide to good practice C552.

CIRIA 2008: Assessing risks posed by hazardous ground gases to buildings C655

CL: AIRE/EIH 2008 Guidance on Comparing Soil Contamination Data with a Critical Concentration. Published by Contaminated Land: Applications in Real Environments (CL: AIRE)

CL: AIRE 2013 SP1010 – Development of Category 4 Screening Levels for Assessment of Land Affected by Contamination. Final Project Report published by Contaminated Land: Applications in Real Environments (CL: AIRE) 20th December 2013

DCLG 2010 Building Regulations 2010 Approved Document C Site preparation and resistance to contaminants and moisture.

DETR 2000 Methodology for Multi Modal Studies. Volume 2 Section 4. The Environmental Objective.

DEFRA 2012 Environmental Protection Act 1990: Part 2A. Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance. Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

DEFRA, 2006 The Contaminated Land (England) Regulations 2006.

DEFRA, 2012 The Contaminated Land (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012 (SI2012/263).

DEFRA, 2012 Environmental Protection Act 1990: Part 2A. Contaminated Land Statuary Guidance. April 2012.

DEFRA, 2013 Environmental Damage (Prevention and Remediation) Regulations 2009: Guidance for England and Wales

Defra '2009 Water for Life and Livelihoods. River Basin Management Plan. (11 Districts: Anglia, Dee, Humber, Northumbria, Northwest, Severn, Solway and Tweed, Southeast, Thames, Western Wales) December 2009

EA 2004: Contaminated Land Research (CLR) Report 11: The Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination CRL 11 by the Environment Agency (EA).

EA 2008 Ecological Risk Assessment Science Report Series SC070009 published by the Environment Agency (EA).

EA 2017 New groundwater vulnerability mapping methodology in England and Wales Report – SC040016/R Environment Agency (EA) September 2017

JNCC 1993 Handbook for Phase 1 Habitat Survey – A Technical for Environmental Audit prepared by the Joint Nature Conservancy Council (JNCC)

NHBC/EA/CIEH 2008: R&D Publication 66 Guidance for the safe development of housing on land affected by contamination.

National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019 revised), published by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/governme nt/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/81 0197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf

Classification/Score	Potential for generating contamination/gas based on land use
Very Low	Land Use: Residential, retail or office use, agriculture
	Contamination: Limited.
1	Gas generation potential: Soils with low organic content
Low	Land Use: Recent small scale industrial and light industry
	Contamination: locally slightly elevated concentrations.
2	Gas generation potential: Soils with high organic content (limited thickness)
Moderate	Land Use: Railway yards, collieries, scrap yards, engineering works.
	Contamination: Possible widespread slightly elevated concentrations and locally
3	elevated concentrations.
	Gas generation potential: Dock silt and substantial thickness of organic alluvium/peat
High	Land Use: Heavy industry, non-hazardous landfills.
	Contamination: Possible widespread elevated concentrations.
4	Gas generation potential: Shallow mine workings Pre 1960s landfill
Very High	Land Use: Hazardous waste landfills, gas works, chemical works,
	Contamination: Likely widespread elevated concentrations.
5	Gas generation potential: Landfill post 1960

Table 1: Criteria for Classifying Hazards / Potential for Generating Contamination

"Greenfield" is land which has not been developed and there has been no use of agrochemicals

Table 2: Criteria for Classifying Receptor Sensitivity/Value

Classification	Definition
Very Low	Receptor of limited importance
1	Groundwater: Unproductive strata (Strata with negligible significance for water supply or river baseflow) (previously Non-aquifer), Secondary B (water-bearing parts of non-aquifers), Secondary undifferentiated (previously minor or non-aquifer, but information insufficient to classify as secondary A or B)
	Surface water: WFD Surface Water status Bad
	Ecology: No local designation
	Buildings: Replaceable
Low	Human health. Unoccupied/innied access
	Groundwater: Secondary A aquifer
2	Surface water: WED Surface Water status Poor
2	Ecology: local habitat resources
	Buildings: Local value
	• Human health: Minimum score 4 where human health identified as potential receptor
Moderate	Receptor of local or county importance with potential for replacement
	Groundwater: Principal aquifer
3	Surface water: WFD Surface Water status Moderate
	Ecology: County wildlife sites, Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
	Buildings: Area of Historic Character
High	Human health: Minimum score 4 where human health identified as potential receptor
rigi	
1	Groundwater: Source Protection Zone Z or 5 Surface water: WED Surface Water status Good
-	Ecology: SSSI National or Marine Nature Reserve (NNR or MNR)
	Buildings: Conservation Area
	Human health: Minimum score 4 where human health identified as potential receptor
Very High	Receptor of national or international importance
	Groundwater: Source Protection Zone (SPZ) 1
5	Surface water: WFD Surface Water status High
	Ecology: Special Areas of Conservation (SAC and candidates), Special Protection Areas
	(SPA and potentials) or wetlands of international importance (RAMSAR)
	Buildings: world Heritage site
	 Human nealth: Residential, open spaces and uses where children are present

Receptor	Pathway	Mode of transport		
Human health	Ingestion	Fruit or vegetable leaf or roots		
		Contaminated water		
		Soil/dust indoors		
		Soil/dust outdoors		
	Inhalation	Particles (dust / soil) – outdoor		
		Particles (dust / soil) - indoor		
		Vapours – outdoor - migration via natural or anthropogenic pathways		
		Vapours - indoor - migration via natural or anthropogenic pathways		
	Dermal	Direct contact with soil		
	absorption	Direct contact with waters (swimming / showering)		
		Irradiation		
Groundwater	Leaching	Gravity / permeation		
	Migration	Natural – groundwater as pathway		
		Anthropogenic (e.g. boreholes, culverts, pipelines etc.)		
Surface Water	Direct	Runoff or discharges from pipes		
	Indirect	Recharge from groundwater		
	Indirect	Deposition of windblown dust		
Buildings	Direct contact	Sulphate attack on concrete, hydrocarbon corrosion of plastics		
	Gas ingress	Migration via natural or anthropogenic paths		
Ecological	See Notes	Runoff/discharge to surface water body		
systems	See Notes	Windblown dust		
	See Notes	Groundwater migration		
	See Notes	At point of contaminant source		
Animal and crop	Direct	Windblown or flood deposited particles / dust / sediments		
	Indirect	Plants via root up take or irrigation. Animals through watering		
	Inhalation	By livestock / fish - gas / vapour / particulates / dust		
	Ingestion	Consumption of vegetation / water / soil by animals		

Table 3: Exposure Pathway and Modes of Transport

Table 4: Classification of Probability

Classification	Definition
High likelihood	There is a pollution linkage and an event either appears very likely in the short-term and almost inevitable over the long-term, or there is already evidence at the receptor of harm / pollution.
Likely	There is a pollution linkage and all the elements are present and in the right place, which means that it is probable that an event will occur. Circumstances are such that an event is not inevitable, but possible in the short-term and likely over the long-term.
Low likelihood	There is a pollution linkage and circumstances are possible under which an event could occur. However, it is by no means certain that even over a longer period such event would take place, and is less likely in the shorter-term.
Unlikely	There is a pollution linkage, but circumstances are such that it is improbable that an event would occur even in the very long-term.

Classification / Score	Examples
Severe 17-25	Human health effect - exposure likely to result in "significant harm" as defined in the Defra (2012) Part 2A Statutory Guidance ^{1.}
(3 out of 25 outcomes)	Controlled water effect - short-term risk of pollution (note: Water Resources Act contains no scope for considering significance of pollution) of sensitive water resource. Equivalent to EA Category 1 incident (persistent and/or extensive effects on water quality leading to closure of potable abstraction point or loss of amenity, agriculture or commercial value. Major fish kill. Ecological effect - short-term exposure likely to result in a substantial adverse effect.
	Catastrophic damage to crops, buildings or property
Medium	Human health effect - exposure could result in "significant harm" ¹ .
10-16	Controlled water effect - equivalent to EA Category 2 incident requiring notification of
(7 out of 25	abstractor
outcomes)	Ecological effect - short-term exposure may result in a substantial adverse effect.
	Damage to crops, buildings or property
Mild	Human health effect - exposure may result in "significant harm" ¹ .
5-9 (7 out of 25	Controlled water effect - equivalent to EA Category 3 incident (short lived and/or minimal effects on water quality).
outcomes)	Ecological effect - unlikely to result in a substantial adverse effect.
	Minor damage to crops, buildings or property. Damage to building rendering it unsafe to occupy (for example foundation damage resulting in instability).
Minor	No measurable effect on humans. Protective equipment is not required during site works.
1-4 (8 out of 25	Equivalent to insubstantial pollution incident with no observed effect on water quality or ecosystems.
outcomes)	Repairable effects to crops, buildings or property. The loss of plants in a landscaping scheme. Discolouration of concrete.

Table 5: Classification of Consequence (score = magnitude of hazard and sensitivity of receptor)

¹ Significant harm includes death, disease, serious injury, genetic mutation, birth defects or impairment of reproductive function. The local authority may also consider other health effects to constitute significant harm such as physical injury; gastrointestinal disturbances; respiratory tract effects; cardio-vascular effects; central nervous system effects; skin ailments; effects on organs such as the liver or kidneys; or a wide range of other health impacts. Whether or not these would constitute significant harm would depend on the seriousness of harm including impact on health, quality of life and scale of impact.

Table 6: Classification of Risk	(Combination of Conseq	uence Table 5 and Probability	y Table 4)

	Consequence			
Probability	Severe	Medium	Mild	Minor
High likelihood	Very high	High	Moderate	Low
Likely	High	Moderate	Moderate/	Low
Low likelihood	Moderate	Moderate	Low	Very low
Unlikely	Low	Low	Very low	Very low

Risk Classification	Description
Very high risk	There is a high probability that severe harm could arise to a designated receptor from an identified hazard, OR, there is evidence that severe harm to a designated receptor is currently happening. This risk, if realised, is likely to result in a substantial liability. Urgent investigation (if not undertaken already) and remediation is likely to be required in the short term.
High risk	Harm is likely to arise to a designated receptor from an identified hazard. Realisation of the risk is likely to present a substantial liability. Urgent investigation (if not undertaken already) is required and remedial works may be necessary in the short-term and are likely over the longer-term.
Moderate risk	It is possible that harm could arise to a designated receptor from an identified hazard. However, it is either relatively unlikely that any such harm would be severe, or if any harm were to occur it is more likely that the harm would be relatively mild. Investigation (if not already undertaken) is normally required to clarify the risk and to determine the potential liability. Some remedial works may be required in the longer-term.
Low risk	It is possible that harm could arise to a designated receptor from an identified hazard, but it is likely that this harm, if realised, would at worst normally be mild.
Very low risk	There is a low possibility that harm could arise to a receptor. In the event of such harm being realised it is not likely to be severe.

Table 7: Description of Risks and Likely Action Required



Appendix F Stantec Rationale for Selection of Generic Assessment Criteria for Generic Quantitative Risk Assessment

1 INTRODUCTION

The aim of this document is to present an explanation for the selection of the evaluation criteria routinely used by Stantec UK Ltd when undertaking a land contamination Tier 2 Generic Quantitative Risk Assessment (GQRA).

A GQRA uses published criteria to screen the sitespecific contamination testing data and identify potential hazards to specific receptors. Generic criteria are typically conservative in derivation and exceedance does not indicate that a site is statutorily contaminated and/or unsuitable for use in the planning context. These criteria are used to identify situations where further assessment and/or action may be required. This document is divided into general introductory text and sections on soils, waters and gases.

2 GENERAL NOTES

This document should be read in conjunction with another entitled "Stantec Methodology for Assessment of Land Contamination" which summarises the legislative regime and our approach to ground contamination and risk assessment.

Any Stantec interpretation of contamination test results is based on a scientific and engineering appraisal. The perceptions of, for example, banks, insurers, lay people etc are not taken into account.

Any tables included in this document are produced for ease of reference to the criteria, they do not in any way replace the documents of origin (which are fully referenced) and which should be read to ensure appropriate use and interpretation of the data.

Generic criteria provide an aid to decision-making, but they do not replace the need for sound professional judgement in risk assessment (EA, 2006). The criteria are based on numerous and complex assumptions. The appropriateness of these assumptions in a site-specific context requires confirmation on a project by project basis. Our interpretative report will comment on the appropriateness of the routine criteria for project objectives or ground conditions. In some cases the published criteria whilst typically conservative may in some circumstances not be suitable for the site being assessed, either because they do not address the identified pollutant linkages or because they may not be sufficiently precautionary in the context of the site. Under these circumstances it may be necessary to recommend deriving sitespecific assessment criteria. Any deviation from the routine criteria and/or selection of criteria for parameters not covered in this document will be described in the report text.

3 CRITERIA FOR EVALUATING SOIL RESULTS

3.1 Potential Harm to Human Health

The criteria used by Stantec UK Ltd to assess the potential for harm to human health are:-

- Category 4 Screening Levels (C4SLs) (DEFRA, 2014).
- Suitable 4 Use Levels (S4ULs) (Nathanail *et al*, 2015).
- CL:AIRE/EIC/AGS Generic Assessment Criteria (GAC) (CL:AIRE, 2010).
- Soil Guideline Values (SGVs) (EA, 2009a).

These criteria have been generated using the Contaminated Land Exposure Assessment model (CLEA) and supporting technical guidance (EA, 2009b, 2009c, 2009d, 2009e). The CLEA model uses generic assumptions about the fate and transport of chemicals in the environment and a generic conceptual model for site conditions and human behaviour to estimate child and adult exposures to soil contaminants for those potentially living, working, and/or playing on contaminated sites over long time periods (EA, 2009c).

The S4ULs, SGVs and GACs are all based on use of minimal/tolerable risk Health Criteria Values (HCVs) as the toxicological benchmark whereas the C4SL are based on use of a "low level of toxicological concern" (LLTC) as the toxicological benchmark. The LLTC represents a slightly higher level of risk than the HCV.

An update to the software (1.071) was published on 04/09/2015 (the handbook (EA 2009f) referring to version 1.05 is still valid). The update includes the library data sets from the DEFRA research project SP1010 (Development of Category 4 Screening Levels for assessment of land affected by contamination).

The CLEA model uses ten exposure pathways (Ingestion (outdoor soil, indoor dust, homegrown vegetables and soil attached to homegrown vegetables), Dermal Contact (outdoor soil and indoor dust) and Inhalation (outdoor dust, indoor dust, outdoor vapours and indoor vapours)). There are exposure pathways not included in the CLEA model such as the permeation of organics into plastic water supply pipes.

The presence and/or significance of each of the potential exposure pathways is dependent on the land use being considered. The model uses standard land use scenarios as follows:-

Residential – habitation of a dwelling up to two storeys high with various default material and design parameters, access to either private or nearby community open space with soil track back

to form indoor dust. Assumes ingestion of homegrown produce.

Allotments - the model has default parameters for use and consumption of vegetables but not animals or their products (eggs).

Industrial/Commercial - assumes office or light physical work in a permanent three storey structure with breaks taken outside and that the site is NOT covered in hardstanding.

Public Open Space - two public open space (POS) scenarios are considered: POSresi is shared communal space within a residential development where tracking back of soil into the home is assumed to occur. POSpark is intended for a public park sufficiently distant from housing (i.e. not adjacent to housing) such that tracking back of soil into the home is negligible. Note that the POS assessment criteria may not be appropriate for assessing sports fields.

The assessment criteria generated using CLEA can be used as a conservative starting point for evaluating long-term risks to human health from chemicals in soil.

It is important to note that the model does not assess all the potential exposure scenarios, for example risk to workers in excavations (short term exposure) or diffusion of contaminants through drinking water pipes.

Recent guidance (DEFRA 2012) introduces a four stage classification system where Category 1 sites are clearly contaminated land and Category 4 sites are definitely not contaminated land as defined by EPA 1990. Outside of these categories further specific risk assessment is required to determine if the site should fall into Category 2 (contaminated land) or Category 3 (not contaminated land). Category 4 screening values are considered to be more pragmatic than the current published SGV/GAC criteria but still strongly precautionary with the aim of allowing rapid identification of sites where the risk is above minimal but still low/acceptable.

Category 4 Screening Levels (C4SLs)

At the end of 2013, technical guidance in support of DEFRA's revised Statutory Guidance (SG) was published and then revised in 2014 (CL:AIRE 2014) which provided:

- A methodology for deriving C4SLs for the standard land-uses and two new public open scenarios using the space updated assumptions relating to the modelling of human exposure to soil contaminants; and
- A demonstration of the methodology, via the derivation of C4SLs for six substances arsenic, benzene, benzo(a)pyrene, cadmium, chromium (VI) and lead.

Following issue of an Erratum in December 2014, a Policy Companion Document was published (DEFRA 2014).

A letter from Lord de Mauley dated 3rd September 2014 provides more explicit direction to local authorities on the use of the C4SL in a planning context. The letter identifies four key points:

- that the screening values were developed 1) expressly with the planning regime in mind
- 2) their use is recommended in DCLG's planning quidance
- soil concentrations below a C4SL limit are 3) considered to be 'definitely not contaminated' under Part IIA of the 1990 Environmental Protection Act and pose at most a 'low level of toxicological concern' and,
- 4) exceedance of a C4SL screening value does not mean that land is definitely contaminated land, just that further investigation may be warranted.

Stantec use the C4SLs as the Tier 2 soil screening criteria protective of human health for substances with C4SL available. Table 1 summarises the C4SL (DEFRA 2014) for each of the six substances.

Note that, with the exception of benzene, the DEFRA published C4SL are not dependent on soil organic matter content (SOM) ("Given that BaP is non volatile and that empirical soil to plant concentration factors have been used, soil organic matter content has a negligible influence on the C4SLs for this chemical"). The DEFRA published C4SL for benzene is based on an SOM of 6%. Stantec have used the CLEA model (v1.071) to derive C4SL for benzene for 1% and 2.5% SOM which are also shown in Table 1.

Note that an industry led project to derive C4SL for a further 20 substances has commenced (CL:AIRE, 2018). The project is being project managed by CL:AIRE and is funded by the Soil and Groundwater Technology Association (SAGTA), the Society of Brownfield Briefing (SoBRA) and others. A dedicated steering group, made up of representatives from SAGTA, DEFRA, Welsh Government, Public Health England, Environment Agency, Natural Resources Wales, Food Standards Agency, Homes England and further Land Forum representatives, has been set up to oversee the project. The new C4SL will be added to this document as they are published.

Suitable 4 Use Levels (S4ULs)

In July 2009, Generic Assessment Criteria (GACs) for 82 substances were published (LQM and CIEH, 2009) using the then current version of the CLEA software v1.04 and replaced those generated in

2006 using the original version of the model CLEA UK *beta*. In 2015 S4ULs were published by LQM/CIEH (Nathanail *et al*, 2015) to replace the second edition GACs. Table 2 summarises the S4ULs which are reproduced with permission; Publication Number S4UL3202.

Soil Guideline Values (SGVs) and Generic Assessment Criteria (GAC)

In 2009, Soil Guideline Values (SGVs) were published by the Environment Agency for arsenic, cadmium, mercury, nickel, selenium, benzene, toluene, ethyl benzene, xylenes, phenol and dioxins, furans and dioxin-like PCBs. These were derived using the CLEA model for residential, allotments and commercial land-uses.

These SGVs have now largely been superseded by the C4SLs and the S4ULs, with the exception of the SGVs for dioxins, furans and dioxin-like PCBs which are shown in Table 3.

In January 2010, Generic Assessment Criteria (GAC) derived using CLEA were published by CL:AIRE for 35 substances. These GAC are listed in Table 4.

Note that the SGVs for dioxins, furans and dioxin like PCBs and CL:AIRE GAC were derived using an older version of CLEA (v1.06) than used to derive the S4UL and C4SL (v1.07). This older version used slightly more conservative values for some exposure parameters and therefore the derived SGVs/GAC are still considered suitably precautionary for use as screening criteria.

Note on Mercury, Chromium and Arsenic

The analytical testing routinely undertaken by Stantec determines total concentration, however, the toxicity depends on the form of the contaminant.

If a source of Mercury, Chromium or Arsenic is identified or the total concentration exceeds the relevant worst case speciated criteria it will be desirable/necessary to undertake additional speciated testing and further assessment.

Note on Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons

Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) are a family of hundreds of different congeners whose chemical structures contain two or more fused aromatic rings. Whilst it is recognised that there is an ongoing debate on the most appropriate method to assess health effects of PAH mixtures, in 2010 the Health Protection Agency recommended the use of benzo[a]pyrene (BaP) as a surrogate marker approach in the assessment of carcinogenic risks posed by PAHs in soils (HPA, 2010).

In most cases, BaP is chosen as the surrogate marker (SM) due to its ubiquitous nature and the vast amount of data available and has been used

by various authoritative bodies to assess the carcinogenic risk of PAHs in food. The SM approach estimates the carcinogenic toxicity of a mixture of PAHs in an environmental matrix by using toxicity data for a PAH mixture for which the composition is known.

Exposure to the SM is assumed to represent exposure to all PAHs in that matrix therefore the toxicity of the SM represents the toxicity of the mixture. The SM approach relies on a number of assumptions (HPA, 2010).

- The SM (BaP) must be present in all the samples.
- The profile of the different PAH relative to BaP should be similar in all samples.
- The PAH profile in the soil samples should be sufficiently similar to that used in the pivotal toxicity study on which HBGV was based i.e. the Culp study (Culp et al. (1998)).

In order to justify the use of a surrogate marker assessment criterion (C4SL for benzo(a)pyrene and S4UL coal tar) the LQM PAH Profiling Tool is used by Stantec to assess the similarity of the PAH profile in a soil sample to that of the toxicity study. The spreadsheet calculates the relative proportions of the genotoxic PAHs and plots them relative to the composition of the two coal mixtures used by Culp et al. Provided that the relative proportions are within an order of magnitude of those from the Culp Study (as suggested by HPA) Stantec will use the C4SL for benzo(a)pyrene as a surrogate marker for the carcinogenic PAHs, i.e. benzo(a)pyrene, benzo(a)anthracene, chrysene, benzo(b)fluoranthene. benzo(k)fluoranthene, dibenzo(ah)anthracene, indeno(123-cd)pyrene and benzo(ghi)perylene. For projects where this approach is appropriate the results will be assessed using the Coal Tar criterion (BAP C4SL) and the criteria for non-carcinogenic PAHs (S4ULs), i.e. acenaphthylene, naphthalene. acenaphthene. fluorene, phenanthrene, anthracene, fluoranthene and pyrene.

Note on Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons

The S4UL for Total Petroleum Hydrocarbon (TPH) fractions are based on 'threshold' health effects. In accordance with Environment Agency guidance (EA, 2005) and the S4UL report (Nathanail *et al*, 2015) the potential for additivity of toxicological effects between fractions should be considered. Practically, to address this issue the hazard quotient (HQ) for each fraction should be calculated by dividing the measured concentration of the fraction by the GAC. The HQs are then added to form a hazard index (HI) for that sample. An HI greater than 1 indicates an exceedance.

Note on Dioxins, Furans and Dioxin-like PCBs

The SGVs for dioxins, furans and dioxin-like PCBs are based on an assumed congener profile for urban soils. The total measured concentration of dioxin, furan and dioxin-like PCB congeners listed in the SGV report (EA, 2009a) should be compared with the SGVs to make an initial assessment of risk. A more accurate assessment can be made using the Environment Agency's site specific worksheet for dioxins, furans and dioxin like PCBs available from <u>https://www.claire.co.uk/useful-government-legislation-and-guidance-by-country/77-risk-assessment-info-ra/199-dioxins-site-specific-worksheets</u>.

Note on Asbestos

Asbestos in soil and made ground is currently under review by a number of bodies. There are no current published guidance values for asbestos in soil other than the waste classification values given in the EA's Technical Guidance WM3, Hazardous Waste – Interpretation of the definition and classification of hazard waste (EA, 2015). This guidance is only appropriate for soils that are being discarded as waste.

Testing for asbestos will be carried out on selected samples of made ground encountered during investigation, initially samples will be subjected to an asbestos screen and, if asbestos is found to be present, subjected to quantification depending on the project specific requirements. The reader is directed to the report text for guidance on the approach adopted in respect to any asbestos found to be present.

Further guidance is also available in publication C733, Asbestos in soil and made ground: a guide to understanding and managing risks (CIRIA 2014).

Note on Soil Saturation Concentration

The soil saturation concentration is the concentration of an organic constituent in soil at which either the pore water or soil vapour has theoretically become saturated with the substance, i.e. the substance concentration has reached its maximum aqueous solubility or vapour pressure. The soil saturation concentration is related to the properties of the substance as well as the properties of the soil (including soil organic matter content).

The soil saturation concentrations are shown in Table 2 in brackets where exceeded by the assessment criteria and in Table 4 for all substances. Measured concentrations in excess of the soil saturation concentration have various potential implications as discussed below.

Firstly, where measured concentrations exceed the soil saturation concentration, the risk from vapour inhalation and/or consumption of produce may be limited. The CLEA model calculates the soil saturation concentration but it does not limit

exposure where this concentration is exceeded. This adds an additional level of conservatism for CLEA derived assessment criteria where these exceed the calculated soil saturation concentration. Secondly, the soil saturation concentration is sometimes used to flag the potential presence of non-aqueous phase liquid (NAPL, a.k.a. free phase) in soil. The presence of NAPL is an important consideration in the Tier 2 assessment because, where present, the risks from NAPL may need to be considered separately. Theoretically, where a measured concentration exceeds the soil saturation concentration NAPL could be present. However, using theoretical saturation values is not always reliable for the following reasons: The soil saturation concentration is based on the aqueous solubility and vapour pressure of a pure substance and not a mixture, of which NAPLs are often comprised; and

The soil saturation concentration does not account for the sorption capacity of the soil. As a result, exceedance of the soil saturation concentration does not necessarily imply that NAPL is present. This is particularly the case for longer chain hydrocarbons such as PAHs which have low solubility and vapour pressure and hence a low soil saturation concentration but that are strongly sorbed to soil.

The measured concentrations will be compared to the soil saturation concentrations shown in Tables 2 and 4. Where exceeded Stantec will use additional lines of evidence (such as visual evidence and concentration of total TPH) to determine whether or not NAPL is likely to be present. If the presence of NAPL is deemed plausible the implications will be considered in the risk assessment.

3.2 Potential Harm to the Built Environment

Land contamination can pose risks to buildings, building materials and services (BBM&S) in a number of ways. Volatile contaminants and gases can accumulate and cause explosion or fire. Foundations and buried services can be damaged by corrosive substances and contaminants such as steel slags can create unstable ground conditions through expansion causing structural damage.

Stantec use the following primary guidance to assess the significance of soil chemistry with respect to its potential to harm the built environment.

- Approved Document C Site Preparation and Resistance to Contaminants and Moisture. (DCLG, 2013);
- ii) Concrete in aggressive ground SD1 (BRE 2005);
- iii) Guidance for the selection of water supply pipes to be used in brownfield sites (UK WIR 2011);
- iv) Protocols published by agreement between

Water UK and the Home Builders Federation providing supplementary guidance which includes the Risk Assessment for Water Pipes (the 'RA') (Water UK 2014).

- v) Performance of Building Materials in Contaminated Land report BR255 (BRE 1994).
- vi) Risks of Contaminated Land to Buildings, Building Materials and Services. A Literature Review - Technical Report P331 (EA, 2000).
- vii) Guidance on assessing and managing risks to buildings from land contamination -Technical Report P5 035/TR/01 (EA, 2001).

3.3 Potential to Harm Ecosystems, Animals, Crops etc

The criteria routinely used by Stantec as Tier 2 screening values to assess the potential of soil chemistry to harm ecosystems are taken from the following guidance and are summarised in Table 5.

- i) Derivation and Use of Soil Screening Values for assessing ecological risks (EA, 2017a);
- ii) The Restoration and Aftercare of Metalliferous Mining Sites for Pasture and Grazing (ICRCL 70/90, 1990);
- iii) Sewage sludge on farmland: code of practice for England, Wales and Northern Ireland (DEFRA, 2018); and
- iv) BS 3882:2015 Specification for topsoil and requirements for use (BSI, 2015).

Unless stated in the report the assessment is solely for phytotoxic parameters and additional assessment is required to determine suitability as a growing medium.

4 CRITERIA FOR EVALUATING LIQUID RESULTS

4.1 Potential Harm to Human Health via Ingestion

The Tier 2 water screening values routinely adopted by Stantec for assessing the potential for harm to human health via ingestion (presented as Table 6) are taken from Statutory Instrument (S.I.) The Water Supply (Water Quality) Regulations (S.I. 2016/614).

It should be noted that some of the prescribed concentrations listed in the Water Supply Regulations have been set for reasons other than their potential to cause harm to human health. The concentrations of iron and manganese are controlled because they may taint potable water with an undesirable taste, odour or colour or may potentially deposit precipitates in water supply pipes.

4.2 Potential Harm to Human Health via Inhalation of Vapours

The Tier 2 water screening values adopted by Stantec for assessing the potential for chronic human health risk from the inhalation of vapours from volatile contaminants in groundwater are presented in Table 7. These generic assessment criteria have been taken from a report published by the Society of Brownfield Risk Assessment (SoBRA) (SoBRA, 2017). The methodology adopted in their generation is considered compatible with the $U \check{K}$ approach to deriving GAC and adopts a precautionary approach. As with all published GAC the suitability for use on the site being assessed has to be decided by the assessor based on a thorough understanding of the methodology and assumptions used in their derivation. Note, that the SoBRA groundwater vapour GAC are not intended for assessing risks to ground workers from short-term exposure.

Note that Table 7 shows the theoretical maximum aqueous solubility for each contaminant and indicates the GAC that exceed solubility. Measured concentrations in excess of solubility may be an indication that NAPL is present. As for the assessment of soils, if the presence of NAPL is deemed plausible the implications will be considered in the risk assessment.

4.3 Potential to Harm Controlled Waters

When assessing ground condition data and the potential to harm Controlled Waters Stantec uses the approach presented in the groundwater protection position statements published 14.03.17 (EA, 2017b) which describe the Environment Agency's approach to managing and protecting groundwater. They update and replace Groundwater Protection: principles and practice (GP3). Controlled Waters are rivers, estuaries, coastal waters, lakes and groundwaters. Water in the unsaturated zone is not groundwater but does come within the scope of the term "ground waters" as used and defined in the Water Resources Act 1991. It will continue to be a technical decision for the Environment Agency to determine what is groundwater in certain circumstances for the purposes of the Regulations. As discussed in our for Assessment of Methodology Land Contamination perched water is not considered a receptor in Stantec assessments.

The EU Water Framework Directive (WFD) 2000/60/EC provides for the protection of subsurface, surface, coastal and territorial waters through a framework of river basin management.

The EU Updated Water Framework Standards Directive 2014/101/EU amended the EU WFD to update the international standards therein; it entered into force on 20 November 2014 with the requirement for its provisions to be transposed in Member State law by 20 May 2016.

Member States are required under the EU WFD to update their river basin management plans every six years. The first river basin management plans for England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland were published in December 2009, and these were updated in 2015.

Other EU Directives in the European water management framework include:

- the EU Priority Substances Directive 2013/39/EU;
- EU Groundwater Pollutants Threshold Values Directive 2014/80/EU amending the EU Groundwater Daughter Directive (GWDD) 2006/118/EC; and
- the EU Biological Monitoring Directive 2014/101/EU.

The Priority Substances Directive set environmental quality standards (EQS) for the substances in surface waters (river, lake, transitional and coastal) and confirmed their designation as priority or priority hazardous substances (PS), the latter being a subset of particular concern. Environmental Quality Standards for PS are determined at the European level and apply to all Member States. Member States identify and develop standards for 'Specific Pollutants'. Specific Pollutants (SP) are defined as substances that can have a harmful effect on biological quality.

The Water Framework Directive (Standards and Classification) Directions (England and Wales) (DEFRA, 2015) were issued to the Environment Agency as an associated document of the Water Environment (WFD) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015 (S.I. 2015/1623) and provide directions for the classification of surface water and groundwater bodies. Schedule 3 parts 2 and 3 relate to surface water standards for specific pollutants in fresh or salt water bodies and priority substances in inland (rivers, lakes and related modified/artificial bodies) or other surface waters respectively. Although Schedule 5 presents threshold values for groundwater the Direction specifically excludes their use as part of site-specific investigations.

Table 6 presents the criteria routinely used by Stantec as Tier 2 screening values. This table only presents a selection of the more commonly analysed parameters and the source documents should be consulted for other chemicals. For screening groundwater the criteria selected are the standards for surface water and/or human consumption as appropriate together with the following:-

For a **hazardous substance** Stantec adopts the approach that, if the concentration in a discharge to groundwater is less than the Minimum Reporting Value (MRV), the input is regarded as automatically meeting the Article 2 (b) 'de-minimus' requirement

of exemption 6 (3) (b) of the GWDD. Stantec has selected hazardous substances from the latest list published by the Joint Agencies Groundwater Directive Advisory Group (JAGDAG, 2018). MRV is the lowest concentration of a substance that can be routinely determined with a known degree of confidence, and may not be equivalent to limit of detection. MRVs have been identified from DEFRA's guidance on Hazardous Substances to Groundwater: Minimum Reporting Values (DEFRA, 2017), and are shown in Table 6.

Note that for land contamination assessments, where hazardous substances have already entered groundwater, remediation targets would typically be based on achieving appropriate water quality standards (e.g. drinking water standard or EQS) at a compliance point rather than an MRV. For this reason, when assessing measured groundwater or soil leachate concentrations, the values for human consumption, fresh water and salt water shown in Table 6 (whichever is appropriate for the context of the site) will be used as the Tier 2 assessment criteria rather than MRV. For hazardous substances with no water quality standard the laboratory method detection limit will be used as the assessment criteria.

For **non-hazardous substances** the GWDD requires that inputs be limited to avoid deterioration. UKTAG guidance equates deterioration with pollution. Non-hazardous substances are all substances not classified as hazardous. For Stantec assessments the values for human consumption, fresh water and salt water shown in Table 6 (whichever is appropriate for the context of the site) are used as the assessment criteria for non-hazardous substances.

Note on Copper, Lead, Manganese, Nickel and Zinc

EQS_{bioavailable} have been developed for UK Specific Pollutants copper, zinc and manganese and the EU priority substances lead and nickel. An EQS is the concentration of a chemical in the environment below which there is not expected to be an adverse effect on the specific endpoint being considered, e.g. the protection of aquatic life.

It is very difficult to measure the bioavailable concentration of a metal directly. The UK has developed simplified Metal Bioavailability Assessment Tool (M-BAT) for copper, zinc, nickel and manganese which uses local water chemistry data, specifically pH, dissolved organic carbon (DOC) (mg/L) and Calcium (Ca) (mg/L).

Where the recorded total dissolved concentration exceeds the screening criteria for these parameters (EQS_{bioavailable}) further assessment will be undertaken using the tools downloaded from <u>http://www.wfduk.org/resources/rivers-lakes-metal-bioavailability-assessment-tool-m-bat</u>

The models calculate a risk characterisation ratio (RCR) and where this is greater than 1 this indicates the bioavailable concentration is above the EQS and the parameter is then identified as a potential hazard. The report will discuss this identified hazard noting that the pH, calcium and, in particular, the dissolved organic carbon (DOC) in groundwater may be quite different to the receiving water (e.g. due to the presence to leaf litter or organic sediments dissolving in the water).

5 CRITERIA FOR EVALUATING GAS RESULTS

Stantec use the following primary guidance on gas monitoring methods and investigation, the assessment of risk posed by soil gases (including Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs)) and mitigation measures/risk reduction during site development.

- i) BS 8576:2013 Guidance on Ground Gas Investigations: Permanent gases and Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) (BSI, 2013);
- ii) TB18 Continuous Ground-Gas Monitoring and the Lines of Evidence Approach to Risk Assessment CL:AIRE Technical Bulletin TB18 (CL:AIRE 2019)
- iii) RB17 A pragmatic approach to Ground Gas Risk Assessment. CL:AIRE Research Bulletin RB17 (Card et al, 2012);
- iv) The VOCs Handbook. C682 (CIRIA, 2009).
- v) Assessing risks posed by hazardous gases to buildings C665 (CIRIA, 2007);
- vi) Guidance on evaluation of development proposals on sites where methane and carbon dioxide are present. (NHBC, 2007); and
- vii) BS 8485:2015+A1:2019- Code of practice for the design of protective measures for methane and carbon dioxide ground gases for new buildings (BSI, 2019).

Gas and borehole flow data are used to obtain the gas screening value (GSV) for methane and carbon dioxide. The GSV is used to establish the characteristic situation and to make recommendations for gas protection measures for buildings if required.

Radon

Stantec use the following primary guidance to assess the significance of the radon content of soil gas.

- Radon: guidance on protective measures for new dwellings. Report BR211 (BRE, 2015); and
- ii) Indicative Atlas of Radon in England and Wales (HPA & BGS, 2007).

6 REFERENCES

- BRE (1994) Performance of Building Materials in Contaminated Land (BR255) Building Research Establishment (BRE).
- BRE (2005) Concrete in aggressive ground. Special Digest 1, Building Research Establishment (BRE), Garston, Herts.
- BRE (2015) BR211-2015 : Radon: Guidance on protective measures for new buildings (2015 edition) Building Research Establishment (BRE), Garston, Herts.
- BSI (2011) BS10175:2011 +A1:2013 Investigation of contaminated sites – code of practice. British Standards Institute, London.
- BSI (2013) BS 8576:2013 Guidance on Ground Gas Investigations : Permanent gases and Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs). British Standards Institute, London.
- BSI (2015) BS 3882:2015 Specification for topsoil
- BSI (2019) BS 8485:2015+A1:2019 Code of practice for the design of protective measures for methane and carbon dioxide ground gases for new buildings. British Standards Institute, London.
- Card G, Wilson S, Mortimer S. (2012). A Pragmatic Approach to Ground Gas Risk Assessment. CL:AIRE Research Bulletin RB17. CL:AIRE, London, UK. ISSN 2047- 6450 (Online)
- CL:AIRE (2019) TB18 Continuous Ground-Gas Monitoring and the Lines of Evidence Approach to Risk Assessment CL:AIRE Technical Bulletin TB18
- CIRIA (2007) C665 Assessing risks posed by hazardous gases to buildings. Construction Industry Research and Information Association (CIRIA), London.
- CIRIA (2009) C682 The VOCs Handbook. C682 Construction Industry Research and Information Association (CIRIA), London.
- CIRIA (2014) C733, Asbestos in soil and made ground: a guide to understanding and managing risks. Construction Industry Research and Information Association (CIRIA), London.
- CL:AIRE (2010) Soil Generic Assessment Criteria for Human Health Risk Assessment. Published in January 2010 by Contaminated Land: Applications in Real Environments, London. ISBN 978-1-905046-20-1.
- CL:AIRE (2014) SP1010 Development of Category 4 Screening Levels for Assessment of

Land Affected by Contamination. Final Project Report published by Contaminated Land: Applications in Real Environments (CL:AIRE) 24th September 2014

- CL:AIRE (2018) Web page on Category 4 Screening Levels and Phase 2 project <u>https://www.claire.co.uk/projects-and-</u> <u>initiatives/category-4-screening-levels</u>
- Culp, S.J, Gaylor, D.W., Sheldon, W.G., Goldstein, L.W. and Beland, F.A. (1998) A comparison of the tumors induced by coal tar and benzo(a)pyrene in a 2-year bioassay. Carcinogenesis, 19, pp 117-124.
- DCLG (2013) Approved Document C Site preparation and resistance to contaminates and moisture (2004 Edition incorporating 2010 and 2013 amendments).
- DEFRA (2012) Environmental Protection Act 1990: Part 2A Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance. Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA).
- DEFRA (2014) SP1010: Development of Category 4 Screening Levels for Assessment of Land Affected by Contamination – Policy Companion Document. Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs December 2014
- DEFRA (2015) The Water Framework Directive (Standards and Classification) Directions (England and Wales) 2015.
- DEFRA (2017) Hazardous substances to groundwater: minimum reporting values. Updated 13 January 2017 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/v alues-for-groundwater-riskassessments/hazardous-substances-togroundwater-minimum-reporting-values
- DEFRA (2018) Sewage sludge in agriculture: code of practice for England, Wales and Northern Ireland https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/s ewage-sludge-in-agriculture-code-ofpractice/sewage-sludge-in-agriculture-code-ofpractice-for-england-wales-and-northernireland
- EA (2000) Risks of Contaminated Land to Buildings, Building Materials and Services. A Literature Review - Technical Report P331
- EA (2001) Guidance on assessing and managing risks to buildings from land contamination -Technical Report P5 035/TR/01
- EA (2006) CLEA update No. 4. Environment Agency, Bristol.
- EA (2008) Ecological Risk Assessment (ERA).

Science Report Series SC070009, Environment Agency, Bristol.

- EA (2009a) Soil Guideline Values for contaminants in soil. Science Reports SC050021/various.
- EA (2009b) Using Soil Guideline Values. Science Report SC050021/SGV Introduction. Environment Agency, Bristol.
- EA (2009c) Updated Technical Background to the CLEA model. Science Report SC050021/SR3 Introduction. Environment Agency, Bristol.
- EA (2009d) Human health toxicological assessment of contaminants in soil. Science Report SC050021/SR2. Environment Agency, Bristol.
- EA (2009e) Compilation data for priority organic contaminants for derivation of soil guideline values Science Report SC50021/SR7
- EA (2009f) CLEA Software (Version 1.05) Handbook Science Report SC050021/SR4
- EA (2015) Guidance on the classification and assessment of waste (3rd edition 2015) -Technical Guidance WM3
- EA (2017a) Derivation and use of soil screening values for assessing ecological risks. Report ShARE id26
- EA (2017b) Groundwater Protection Position Statements -<u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/gr</u>oundwater-protection-position-statements
- HPA (2010) Risk assessment approaches for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. HPA contaminated land information sheet. Health Protection Agency (HPA)
- HPA & BGS (2007). Indicative Atlas of Radon in England and Wales. HPA-RPD-033. Health Protection Agency and British Geological Survey
- ICRCL (1990) The Restoration and Aftercare of Metalliferous Mining Sites for Pasture and Grazing 70/90. Interdepartmental Committee on the Redevelopment of Contaminated Land, London.
- JAGDAG (2018). Substances confirmed as hazardous or non-hazardous pollutants following public consultation. Last updated 31 January 2018. Joint Agencies Groundwater Directive Advisory Group http://wfduk.org/sites/default/files/Media/JAGD AG/2018%2001%2031%20Confirmed%20haz ardous%20substances%20list 0.pdf
- Nathanail, C.P., McCaffrey, C., Gillett, A.G., Ogden, R.C. and Nathanail, J.F. (2015) The LQM/CIEH

S4ULs for Human Health Risk Assessment. Land Quality Press, Nottingham.

- NHBC (2007) Guidance on evaluation of development proposals on sites where methane and carbon dioxide are present. National House Building Council.
- S.I. (2017/407). Statutory Instrument 2017 No 407 Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) (England and Wales) Regulations 2017.
- S.I. (2016/614). Statutory Instrument 2016 No 614 The Water Supply (Water Quality) Regulations, 2016.
- S.I. (2015/1623). Statutory Instrument 2015 No 1623 The Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) (England and Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2015.
- SoBRA (2017) Development of Generic Assessment Criteria for Assessing Vapour Risks to Human Health from Volatile Contaminants in Groundwater Version 1.0 February 2017. Society of Brownfield Risk Assessment (SoBRA)
- UKWIR (2011) Guidance for the selection of Water Pipes to be used in Brownfield Sites.
- Water UK (2014) Contaminated Land Assessment Guidance

	Allotments	Residential (with home- grown produce)	Residential (without home- grown produce)	Commercial	Public Open Space 1	Public Open Space 2
Arsenic	49	37	40	640	79	170
Benzene						
- 1% SOM*	0.039	0.20	0.89	27	140	190
- 2.5% SOM*	0.081	0.41	1.6	50	140	210
- 6% SOM	0.18	0.87	3.3	98	140	230
Benzo(a)pyrene (as a surrogate marker for carcinogenic PAHs)	5.7	5.0	5.3	77	10	21
Cadmium	3.9	22	150	410	220	880
Chromium VI	170	21	21	49	21	250
Lead	80	200	310	2300	630	1300

Table 1: Category 4 Screening Levels (C4SL)

Units mg/kg dry weight Values taken from SP1010: Development of Category 4 Screening Levels for Assessment of Land Affected by Contamination – Policy Companion Document (Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs December 2014), unless stated otherwise Public Open Space 1 - for grassed area adjacent to residential housing

Public Open Space 2 - Park Type Public Open Space Scenario Based on a sandy loam as defined in SR3 (Environment Agency, 2009b)

Note that, with the exception of benzene, these C4SL are not SOM dependent

* - Stantec derived C4SL using CLEA v1.071

Table 2: Suitable 4 Use Levels (S4UL)

Determinand	Allotment	R <u>w</u> HP	R _{wo} HP	Commercial/	POSresi	POSpark
Metals				industrial		
Arsenic (Inorganic) ^{a, b, c}	43	37	40	640	79	170
Bervllium ^{a, b, d, e}	35	17	17	12	22	63
Boron ^{a, b, d}	45	290	11000	240000	21000	46000
Cadmium (pH6-8) ^{a, b, d, f}	1.9	11	85	190	120	560
Chromium (trivalent) ^{a, b, d, g}	18000	910	910	8600	1500	33000
Chromium (hexavalent) ^{a, b, c}	1.8 ^h	6 ⁱ	6 ⁱ	33 ⁱ	7.7 ⁱ	220 ⁱ
Copper ^{a, b, c}	520	2400	7100	68000	12000	44000
Mercury (elemental) ^{a, b, c, j}	21	1.2	1.2	58 ^{vap} (25.8)	16	30 ^{vap} (25.8)
Mercury (inorganic) a, b, c	19	40	56	1100	120	240
Methylmercury ^{a, b, c}	6	11	15	320	40	68
Nickel ^{a, b, c}	53 ^k	130 ^e	180 ^e	980 ^e	230 ^e	800 ^k
Selenium ^{a, b, c}	88	250	430	12000	1100	1800
Vanadium ^{a, b, c, i, j}	91	410	1200	9000	2000	5000
Zinc ^{a, b, c}	620	3700	40000	730000	81000	170000
BTEX Compounds (SOM 1%/ 2.	5%/ 6%)					
Benzene ^{a, b, l, m}	0.017/0.034/ 0.075	0.087/0.17/ 0.37	0.38/0.7/1.4	27 / 47 / 90	72 / 72 / 73	90 / 100 / 110
Toluene ^{a, b, l, m}	22 / 51 / 120	130 / 290 /	880 ^{vap} (869)	56000 ^{vap} (869) /	56000 /	87000vap(869)/
		660	/1900/3900	110000 ^{vap} (1920)/	56000 /	95000 ^{vap} (1920)/
				180000 ^{vap} (4360)	56000	100000 ^{vap} (4360)
Ethylbenzene ^{a, b, l, m}	16 / 39 / 91	47 / 110 /	83 / 190 / 440	5700 ^{vap} (518) /	24000 /	17000 ^{vap} (518) /
		260		13000 ^{vap} (1220) /	24000 /	22000 ^{vap} (1220) /
	00/67/460	60/140/	00/010/400	27000 ^{rdp} (2840)	25000	27000 ⁴⁰ (2840)
0 – Xylerie ^{1, 1, 1, 1, 1}	20/07/100	320	00/210/400	15000 ²¹ (4/0) /	41000 /	$1/000^{-1} (4/6)/$
		550		33000 ^{sol} (2620)	420007	24000 (1120)/ 33000 ^{sol} (2620)
M – Xylene ^{a, b, l, m, n}	31 / 74 / 170	59 / 140 /	82 / 190 / 450	6200 ^{vap} (625) /	41000 /	17000 ^{vap} (625) /
in Aylono	01/11/110	320	027 1007 100	14000 ^{vap} (1470) /	42000 /	24000 ^{vap} (1470) /
		020		31000 ^{vap} (3460)	43000	32000 ^{vap} (3460)
P – Xylene ^{a, b, l, m, n}	29 / 69 / 160	56 / 130 /	79 / 180 / 430	5900 ^{sol} (576) /	41000 /	17000 ^{sol} (576) /
,		310		14000 ^{sol} (1350) /	42000 /	23000 ^{sol} (1350) /
				30000 ^{sol} (3170)	43000	31000 ^{sol} (3170)
Total xylenes ^t	28 / 67 / 160	56 / 130 /	79 / 180 / 430	5900 ^{sol} (576) /	41000 /	17000 ^{sol} (576) /
		310		14000 ^{sol} (1350) /	42000 /	23000 ^{sol} (1350) /
				30000 ^{sol} (3170)	43000	31000 ^{sol} (3170)
Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbo	ons (SOM 1%/ 2.5	%/ 6%) ^{a, b, l, p}				
Acenaphthene	34 / 85 / 200	210 /	3000 ^{sol} (57.0)/	84000 ^{sol} (57.0)/	15000 / 15000	29000/
		5107	4700 ³⁰¹ (141)/	9700030 (141)/	/ 15000	30000/
Accessibility	20/00/100	1100	$6000^{60}(336)$		15000 / 15000	30000
Acenaphinylene	26/09/100	020	2900 ^{sol} (00.1)/	03000 ^{88/} (00.1)/	15000 / 15000	29000 /
		920	6000 ^{sol} (506)	10000 (212)/	7 13000	300007
Anthracene	380 / 950 /	2400 / 5400 /	31000 ^{sol} (1 17	520000/	74000 / 74000	150000 / 150000
	2200	11000)	540000/	/ 74000	/ 150000
	0		/35000/	540000		
			37000			
Benzo(a)anthracene	2.9 / 6.5 / 13	7.2 / 11 / 13	11 / 14 / 15	170 / 170 / 180	29 / 29 / 29	49 / 56 / 62
Benzo(a)pyrene (Bap) ^u	0.97 / 2.0 / 3.5	2.2 / 2.7 / 3.0	3.2/3.2/3.2	35 / 35 / 36	5.7 / 5.7 / 5.7	11 / 12 / 13
Benzo(b)fluoranthene	0.99/2.1/3.9	2.6 / 3.3 / 3.7	3.9/4.0/4.0	44 / 44 / 45	7.1/7.2/7.2	13 / 15 / 16

Determinand	Allotment	R <u>w</u> HP	R <u>wo</u> HP	Commercial/ Industrial	POSresi	POSpark
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	290 / 470 / 640	320 / 340 / 350	360 / 360 / 360	3900 / 4000 / 4000	640 / 640 / 640	1400 / 1500 / 1600
Benzo(k)fluoranthene	37 / 75 / 130	77 / 93 / 100	110 / 110 / 110	1200 / 1200 /1200	190 / 190 / 190	370 / 410 / 440
Chrysene	4.1 / 9.4 / 19	15 / 22 / 27	30 / 31 / 32	350 / 350 / 350	57 / 57 / 57	93 / 110 / 120
Dibenzo(ah)anthracene	0.14 / 0.27 / 0.43	0.24 / 0.28 / 0.3	0.31 / 0.32 / 0.32	3.5 / 3.6 / 3.6	0.57 / 0.57 / 0.58	1.1 / 1.3 / 1.4
Fluoranthene	52 / 130 / 290	280 / 560 / 890	1500 / 1600 / 1600	23000 / 23000 / 23000	3100 / 3100 / 3100	6300 / 6300 / 6400
Fluorene	27 / 67 / 160	170 / 400 / 860	2800 ^{sol} (30.9) /3800 ^{sol} (76.5) /4500 ^{sol} (183)	63000 ^{sol} (30.9) / 68000 / 71000	9900 / 9900 / 9900	20000 / 20000 / 20000
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene	9.5 / 21 / 39	27 / 36 / 41	45 / 46 / 46	500 / 510 / 510	82 / 82 / 82	150 / 170 / 180
Naphthalene ^q	4.1 / 10 / 24	2.3 / 5.6 / 13	2.3 / 5.6 / 13	190 ^{sol} (76.4) / 460 ^{sol} (183) / 1100 ^{sol} (432)	4900/ 4900/ 4900	1200 ^{sol} (76.4) / 1900 ^{sol} (183) / 3000
Phenanthrene	15 / 38 / 90	95 / 220 / 440	1300 ^{sol} (36.0) / 1500 / 1500	22000 / 22000 / 23000	3100 / 3100 / 3100	6200 / 6200 / 6300
Pyrene	110 / 270 / 620	620 / 1200 / 2000	3700 / 3800 / 3800	54000 / 54000 / 54000	7400 / 7400 / 7400	15000 / 15000 / 15000
Coal Tar (Bap as surrogate marker) ^u	0.32 / 0.67 /	0.79 / 0.98 /	1.2 / 1.2 / 1.2	15 / 15 / 15	2.2 / 2.2 / 2.2	4.4 / 4.7 / 4.8
Explosives ^{a, b, l, p}						
2, 4, 6 Trinitrotoluene	0.24 / 0.58 / 1.40	1.6 / 3.7 / 8.0	65 / 66 / 66	1000 / 1000 / 1000	130 / 130 / 130	260 / 270 / 270
RDX (Royal Demolition Explosive C ₃ H ₆ N ₆ O ₆)	17 / 38 / 85	120 / 250 / 540	13000 / 13000 / 13000	210000 / 210000 / 210000	26000 / 26000 / 27000	49000 ^{sol} (18.7) / 51000 / 53000
HMX (High Melting Explosive C4H8N8O8)	0.86 / 1.9 / 3.9	5.7 / 13 / 26	6700 / 6700 / 6700	110000 / 110000 / 110000	13000 / 13000 / 13000	23000 ^{vap} (0.35) /23000 ^{vap} (0.39) /24000 ^{vap} (0.48)
Petroleum Hydrocarbons (SOM	1%/ 2.5%/ 6%) a, b,	l, m				,21000 (0.10)
Aliphatic EC 5-6	730 / 1700 / 3900	42 / 78 / 160	42 / 78 / 160	3200 ^{sol} (304) / 5900 ^{sol} (558) / 12000 ^{sol} (1150)	570000 ^{sol} (304) 590000 / 600000	95000 ^{sol} (304) / 130000 ^{sol} (558)/ 180000 ^{sol} (1150)
Aliphatic EC >6-8	2300 / 5600 / 13000	100 / 230 / 530	100 / 230 / 530	7800 ^{sol} (144) / 17000 ^{sol} (322) / 40000 ^{sol} (736)	600000 / 610000 / 620000	150000 ^{sol} (144) 220000 ^{sol} (322)/ 320000 ^{sol} (736)
Aliphatic EC >8-10	320 / 770 / 1700	27 / 65 / 150	27 / 65 / 150	2000 ^{sol} (78) / 4800 ^{vap} (190) / 11000 ^{vap} (451)	13000 / 13000 / 13000	14000 ^{sol} (78) / 18000 ^{vap} (190) / 21000 ^{vap} (451)
Aliphatic EC >10-12	2200 / 4400 / 7300	130v ^{ap} (48) / 330 ^{vap} (118) / 760 ^{vap} (283)	130v ^{ap} (48) / 330 ^{vap} (118) / 770 ^{vap} (283)	9700 ^{sol} (48) / 23000 ^{vap} (118) / 47000 ^{vap} (283)	13000 / 13000 / 13000	21000 ^{sol} (48) / 23000 ^{vap} (118) / 24000 ^{vap} (283)
Aliphatic EC >12-16	11000 / 13000 / 13000	1100 ^{sol} (24) / 2400 ^{sol} (59) / 4300 ^{sol} (142)	1100 ^{sol} (24) / 2400 ^{sol} (59) / 4400 ^{sol} (142)	59000 ^{sol} (24) / 82000 ^{sol} (59) / 90000 ^{sol} (142)	13000 / 13000 / 13000	25000 ^{sol} (24) / 25000 ^{sol} (59) / 26000 ^{sol} (142)
Aliphatic EC >16-35 °	260000 / 270000 / 270000	65000 ^{sol} (8.48 92000 ^{sol} (21) 110000	65000 ^{sol} (8.48 92000 ^{sol} (21) 110000	1600000 / 1700000 / 1800000	250000 / 250000 / 250000	450000 / 480000 / 490000
Aliphatic EC >35-44 °	260000 / 270000 /	65000 ^{sol} (8.48	65000 ^{sol} (8.48	1600000 /	250000 / 250000 /	450000 / 480000
Aromatia EC E 7 (hanzana)	270000	/ 110000	110000	1800000	250000	7 490000
Alomatic EC 5-7 (benzene)	13/2//3/	300	1400	46000 ^{sol} (2260) / 86000 ^{sol} (4710)	/ 56000	/84000 ^{sol} (2260)/ 92000 ^{sol} (4710)
Aromatic EC >7-8 (toluene)	22 / 51 / 120	130 / 290 / 660	860 / 1800 / 3900	56000 ^{vap} (869)/ 110000 ^{sol} (1920)/ 180000 ^{vap} (4360)	56000 / 56000 / 56000	87000 ^{vap} (869) / 95000 ^{sol} (1920)/ 100000 ^{vap} (4360)
Aromatic EC >8-10	8.6 / 21 / 51	34 / 83 / 190	47 / 110 / 270	3500 ^{vap} (613) / 8100 ^{vap} (1500) / 17000 ^{vap} (3580)	5000 / 5000 / 5000	7200 ^{vap} (613) / 8500 ^{vap} (1500) / 9300 ^{vap} (3580)
Aromatic EC >10-12	13 / 31 / 74	74 / 180 / 380	250 / 590 / 1200	16000 ^{sol} (364) / 28000 ^{sol} (899) / 34000 ^{sol} (2150)	5000 / 5000 / 5000	9200 ^{sol} (364) / 9700 ^{sol} (899) / 10000
Aromatic EC >12-16	23 / 57 / 130	140 / 330 / 660	1800 / 2300 ^{sol} (419) / 2500	36000 ^{sol} (169) / 37000 / 38000	5100 / 5100 / 5000	10000 / 10000 / 10000
Aromatic EC >16-21 °	46 / 110 / 260	260 / 540 / 930	1900 / 1900 / 1900	28000 / 28000 / 28000	3800 / 3800 / 3800	7600 / 7700 / 7800
Aromatic EC >21-35 °	370 / 820 / 1600	1100 / 1500 / 1700	1900 / 1900 / 1900	28000 / 28000 / 28000	3800 / 3800 / 3800	7800 / 7800 / 7900
Aromatic EC >35-44 °	370 / 820 / 1600	1100 / 1500 / 1700	1900 / 1900 / 1900	28000 / 28000 / 28000	3800 / 3800 / 3800	7800 / 7800 / 7900
Aliphatic+Aromatic EC >44-70 °	1200 / 2100 / 3000	1600 / 1800 / 1900	1900 / 1900 / 1900	28000 / 28000 / 28000	3800 / 3800 / 3800	7800 / 7800 / 7900
Chloroalkanes & Chloroalkenes	(SOM 1%/ 2.5%/	6%) ^{a, b, l, p}				
1,2-Dichloroethane	0.0046 / 0.0083 / 0.016	0.0071 / 0.011 / 0.019	0.0092 / 0.013 / 0.023	0.67 / 0.97 / 1.7	29 / 29 / 29	21 / 24 / 28

Determinand	Allotment	R <u>w</u> HP	R <u>wo</u> HP	Commercial/	POSresi	POSpark
1,1,1 Trichloroethane (TCA)	48 / 110 / 240	8.8 / 18 / 39	9.0 / 18 / 40	660 / 1300 / 3000	140000 /	57000 ^{vap} (1425)
					140000 /	76000 ^{vap} (2915)/
4.4.4.0.T. (0.70/40/44	10/00/04	4 5 / 0 5 / 0 0	110 1050 1500	140000	100000vap(6392)
1,1,1,2 Tetrachioroethane	0.79/1.9/4.4	1.2/2.8/6.4	1.5 / 3.5 / 8.2	110 / 250 / 560	1400 / 1400 / 1400	1500 / 1800 / 2100
1,1,2,2 Tetrachloroethane	0.41 / 0.89 / 2.0	1.6 / 3.4 / 7.5	3.9 / 8.0 / 17	270 / 550 / 1100	1400 / 1400 / 1400	1800 / 2100 / 2300
Tetrachloroethene (PCE)	0.65 / 1.5 / 3.6	0.18 / 0.39 / 0.90	0.18 / 0.4 / 0.92	19 / 42 / 95	1400 / 1400 / 1400	810 ^{sol} (424)/1100 ^s ^{ol} (951)/1500
Tetrachloromethane	0.45 / 1.0 / 2.4	0.026 / 0.056	0.026 / 0.056	2.9 / 6.3 / 14	890 / 920 /	190 / 270 / 400
Trichloroethene (TCF)	0.041/0.091/	/ 0.13	/ 0.13	12/26/57	950	70 / 91 / 120
	0.21	/ 0.075	/ 0.080		120	
Trichloromethane (Chloroform)	0.42 / 0.83 / 1.7	0.91 / 1.7 / 3.4	1.2 / 2.1 / 4.2	99 / 170 / 350	2500 / 2500 / 2500	2600 / 2800 / 3100
Chloroethene	0.00055/	0.00064 /	0.00077 /	0.059 / 0.077 /	3.5 / 3.5 / 3.5	4.8 / 5.0 / 5.4
(Vinyi Chioride)	0.001/ 0.0018	0.00087/	0.0017	0.12		
Phenol & Chlorophenols a, b, l, p	1	0.0011	0.0010			
Phenol	23 / 42 / 83	120 / 200 /	440 / 690	440 ^{dir} (26000) /	440 ^{dir} (10000)/	440 ^{dir} (7600) /
		380	/ 1200	690 ^{dir} (30000) / 1300 ^{dir} (34000)	690 ^{dir} (10000) 1300 ^{dir} (10000)	690 ^{dir} (8300) / 1300 ^{dir} (93000)
Chlorophenols	0.13 ^s / 0.3 /	0.87 ^s / 2.0 /	94 / 150 / 210	3500 / 4000 / 4300	620 / 620 /	1100 / 1100 /
Pentachlorophenol (PCP)	0.03 / 0.08 /	0.22/ 0.52 /	27 ^{vap} (16.4) /	400 / 400 / 400	60 / 60 / 60	110 / 120 / 120
	0.19	1.2	29/31			
Other ^{a, b, l, p}	4.0./40./00	0.44/0.00	0.44/0.00/	44 / 00 / 47	44000 / 44000	4000 / 4000 /
Carbon Discipnide	4.8/10/23	0.14/0.29	0.14 / 0.29 / 0.62	11/22/47	/ 12000	2700
Hexachlorobutadiene (HCBD)	0.25 / 0.61 /	0.29 / 0.7 /	0.32 / 0.78 /	31 / 66 / 120	25 / 25 / 25	48 / 50 / 51
Destisides (00M 49// 0 59// 09/)	1.4	1.6	1.8			
Aldrin	32/61/96	57/66/71	73/74/75	170 / 170 / 170	18 / 18 / 18	30 / 31 / 31
Atrazine	0.5 / 1.2 / 2.7	3.3 / 7.6 /	610 / 620 / 620	9300 / 9400 /	1200 / 1200	2300 / 2400 /
Diablanca	0.0040 / 0.010	17.4	64/65/66	9400	/ 1200	2400
Dictiorvos	/ 0.022	0.066 / 0.14	0.4/0.5/0.0	140 / 140 / 140	10/10/10	20/20/21
Dieldrin	0.17/0.41/0.96	0.97/2/3.5	7.0 / 7.3 / 7.4	170 / 170 / 170	18 / 18 / 18	30 / 30 / 31
Alpha - Endosulfan	1.2 / 2.9 / 6.8	7.4 / 18 / 41	160 ^{vap} (0.003)/ 280vap (0.007)/	5600 ^{vap} (0.003) /	1200 / 1200 /	2400 / 2400 /
			410 ^{vap} (0.016)	8400 ^{vap} (0.016)	1200	2000
Beta - Endosulfan	1.1 / 2.7 / 6.4	7.0 / 17 / 39	190 ^{vap} (0.00007)	6300 ^{vap} (0.00007)	1200 / 1200 /	2400 / 2400 /
			/440 ^{vap} (0.0002)	/ 8700	1200	2300
Alpha-Hexachlorocyclohexane	0.035/0.087/	0.23/0.55 /	6.9/9.2/11	170 / 180 / 180	24 / 24 / 24	47 / 48 / 48
Beta - Hexachlorocvclohexane	0.21	0.085/0.2/	3.7 / 3.8 / 3.8	65 / 65 / 65	8.1/8.1/8.1	15 / 15 / 16
,	0.077	0.46				
Gamma –	0.0092 / 0.023	0.06/0.14/	2.9 / 3.3 / 3.5	67 / 69 / 70	8.2 / 8.2 / 8.2	14 / 15 / 15
Chlorobenzenes a, b, l, p	70.034	0.33				
Chlorobenzene	5.9 / 14 / 32	0.46 / 1.0 /	0.46 / 1.0 / 2.4	56 / 130 / 290	11000 / 13000	1300 ^{sol} (675)/
		2.4			/ 14000	2000 ^{sol} (1520)/ 2900
1,2-dichlorobenzene (1,2-DCB)	94 / 230 / 540	23 / 55 /	24 / 57 / 130	2000 ^{sol} (571) /	90000 / 95000	24000 ^{sol} (571) /
		130		4800 ^{sol} (1370) /	/ 98000	36000 ^{sol} (1370)
1.3-dichlorobenzene (1.3-DCB)	0.25 / 0.6 / 1.5	0.4 / 1.0 /	0.44 /1.1 / 2.5	30 / 73 / 170	300 / 300 /	390 / 440 / 470
.,		2.3			300	
1-4-dichlorobenzene (1,4-DCB)	15 ⁱ / 37 ⁱ / 88 ⁱ	61 ^q / 150 ^q /350 g	61 ^q / 150 ^q / 350 ^q	4400 ^{vap,q} (224) /	17000 ⁱ / 17000 ⁱ /	$36000^{\text{vap,i}}$ (224) $36000^{\text{vap,i}}$ (540)/
		7550 -		25000 ^{vap,q} (1280)	17000 ⁱ	36000 ^{vap,i} (1280)
1,2,3-Trichlorobenzene	4.7 / 12 / 28	1.5 / 3.6 /	1.5 / 3.7 / 8.8	102 / 250 / 590	1800 / 1800 /	770 ^{vap} (134) /
		8.6			1800	1100 ^{vap} (330) / 1600 ^{vap} (789)
1,2,4- Trichlorobenzene	55 / 140 / 320	2.6 / 6.4 /	2.6 / 6.4 / 15	220 / 530 / 1300	15000 / 17000	1700 ^{vap} (318) /
		15			/ 19000	2600 ^{vap} (786) /
1.3.5- Trichlorobenzene	47/12/28	0.33/0.81/	0.33/0.81/1.9	23 / 55 / 130	1700 / 1700 /	380 ^{vap} (1880)
	1.1 / 12 / 20	1.9	0.007 0.017 1.0	207 007 100	1800	580 ^{vap} (90.8) /
	4.4.4.4.100	45/00/70	04/50/400	1700Vap (100) /	000 / 000 /	860 ^{vap} (217)
1,2,3,4-1 etrachlorobenzene	4.4 / 11 / 26	15/36/78	24 / 56 / 120	1700 ^{vap} (122) / 3080 ^{vap} (304) /	830 / 830 / 830	1500 ^{vap} (122) / 1600 /
				4400 ^{vap} (728)		1600
1,2,3,5- Tetrachlorobenzene	0.38 / 0.90 /	0.66 / 1.6 /	0.75 / 1.9 / 4.3	49 ^{vap} (39.4) /	78 / 79 / 79	110 ^{vap} (39.4) /
	2.2	3.1		1∠0 ^{vap} (98.1) / 240 ^{vap} (235)		130
1,2,4,5- Tetrachlorobenzene	0.06 / 0.16 /	0.33 / 0.77 /	0.73 / 1.7 / 3.5	42 ^{sol} (19.7) /	13 / 13 / 13	25 / 26 / 26
	0.37	1.6		72 ^{sol} (49.1) / 96		

	Determinand	Allotment	R <u>w</u> HP	R <u>wo</u> HP	Commercial/ Industrial	POSresi	POSpark
Pen	tachlorobenzene (P _E CB)	1.2 / 3.1 / 7.0	5.8 / 12 / 22	19 / 30 / 38	640 ^{sol} (43.0) /	100 / 100 /	190 / 190 / 190
					770 ^{sol} (107) / 830	100	
Hex	achlorobenzene (HCB)	0.47 / 1.1 / 2.5	1.8 ^{vap} (0.20)	4.1 ^{vap} (0.20) /	110 ^{vap} (0.20)	16 / 16 / 16	30 / 30 / 30
			/ 3.3 ^{vap} (0.5)	$5.7^{vap}(0.5)/$	/ 120 / 120		
llmit	o oro mailer Dry Woigh	h t	/ 4.9	0.7 - (1.2)			
Unit	s are mg/kg Dry weigi	nt 			hliantian Number	C 4111 2202 AU	
Copy	right Land Quality Mana	igement Lta rep	roduced with	permission; Pu	blication Number	S4UL3202. All	rights
rese	ved						
R <u>w</u> ні	Residential	I with nomegrow	n produce				
	IP Residential	i without nomegr	own produce				
POS	resi public oper	n spaces near re	sidential housi	ng			
PUS	park public oper	n space for recre	ational use bu	i not dedicated s	ports pitches		
SOIV	Soli Organi	ic Matter – the S	4UL for all or	ganic compound	as will vary accord	aing to SOM	N 4)
3	Based on a sandy loam so	bil as defined in a	SR3 (Environm	ient Agency, 200	9b) and 6% soll org	janic matter (SC) M)
)	Figures rounded to two sig	initicant figures			I D		
2	Based only on a comparise	on of oral and de	ermai soli expo	sure with oral inc	lex Dose		
2	The background ADE is lin	nited to being no	arger than th		m the relevant soll	ADE	
e :	Based on comparison of in	inalation exposu	re with innaiat	ion I DI only			
	Based on a litelime exposi	ure via the oral, o	dermai and inr	alation pathways	6 ID amhr		
9	Based on localised effects	comparing inna	ation exposure		ID only		
1	Based on comparison of ir	inalation exposu	re with innalat				
	Based on comparison of o		xposure with c	NaiiDi			
	Based on comparison of o	lai, dernai and i	nnalation expo				
(Based on comparison of a	li exposure parri	ways with orai				
	S40Ls assume that free p	nase contamina	lion is not pres	ent			
n	540Ls based on a sub-su	riace soil to indo	or air correctio				
1	The HCV applied is based	on the intake of	total Xylene a	na inereiore expo	osure snould not co	onsider an isome	er in isolation
, ,		ri exposure com		nuv			
ן 	SAULS based on a sub-sul	inace soll to indo		n lactor of 1	lessliged offects		
1	Daseu on a comparison of	innalation expo	sure with the lf	inalation 101 for	iocalised effects		
•							

- Based on lowest GAC for all three xylene isomers t
- u Measured concentrations of benzo(a)pyrene should be compared to the S4UL for benzo(a)pyrene as a single compound and to the S4UL for benzo(a)pyrene as a surrogate marker of genotoxic PAHs.

vap S4UL presented exceeded the vapour saturation limit, which is presented in brackets

sol S4UL presented exceeds the solubility saturation limit, which is presented in brackets

S4ULs based on a threshold protective of direct skin contact, guideline in brackets based on the health effects following dir long term exposure provided for illustration only

Table 3: Soil Guideline Values (SGVs) for dioxins, furans and dioxin like PCBs

Determinand	Allotments	Residential with consumption of homegrown produce	Residential without consumption of homegrown produce	Commercial
Sum of PCDDs, PCDFs and dioxin- like PCBs	0.008	0.008	0.008	0.24

Units are mg/kg Dry Weight

Table 4: EIC/AGS/CL:AIRE Generic Assessment Criteria (GAC)

	Allotments	Residential with consumption of	Residential without consumption of	Commercial	Soil Saturation Concentration
		homegrown	homegrown		
		produce	produce		
Metals					
Antimony	ND	ND	550	7500	NA
Barium	ND	ND	1300	22000	NA
Molybdenum	ND	ND	670	17000	NA
Organics (SOM 1%/ 2.5%/ 6%	%)				
1,1,2 Trichloroethane	0.28 / 0.61 / 1.4	0.6 / 1.2 / 2.7	0.88 / 1.8 / 3.9	94 / 190 / 400	4030 / 8210 / 18000
1,1-Dichloroethane	9.2 / 17 / 35	2.4 / 3.9 / 7.4	2.5 / 4.1 / 7.7	280 / 450 / 850	1830 / 2960 / 5600
1,1-Dichloroethene	2.8 / 5.6 / 12	0.23 / 0.4 / 0.82	0.23 / 0.41 / 0.82	26 / 46 / 92	2230 / 3940 / 7940
1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene	0.38 / 0.93 / 2.2	0.35 / 0.85 / 2	0.41 / 0.99 / 2.3	42 / 99 / 220	557 / 1360 / 3250
1,2-Dichloropropane	0.62 / 1.2 / 2.6	0.024 / 0.042 / 0.084	0.024 / 0.042 / 0.085	3.3 / 5.9 / 12	1190 / 2110 / 4240
2,4-Dimethylphenol	3.1 / 7.2 / 17	19 / 43 / 97	210 / 410 / 730	16000 / 24000 /	1380 / 3140 / 7240
				30000	
2,4-Dinitrotoluene	0.22 / 0.49 / 1.1	1.5 / 3.2 / 7.2	170 / 170 / 170	3700 / 3700 / 3800	141 / 299 / 669
2,6-Dinitrotoluene	0.12 / 0.27 / 0.61	0.78 / 1.7 / 3.9	78 / 84 / 87	1900 / 1900 / 1900	287 / 622 / 1400
2-Chloronaphthalene	40 / 98 / 230	3.7 / 9.2 / 22	3.8 / 9.3 / 22	390 / 960 / 2200	114 / 280 / 669
Biphenyl	14 / 35 / 83	66 / 160 / 360	220 / 500 / 980	18000 / 33000 /	34.4 / 84.3 / 201
				48000	
Bis (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate	47 / 120 / 280	280 / 610 / 1100	2700 / 2800 / 2800	85000 / 86000 / 86000	8.68 / 21.6 / 51.7

	Allotments	Residential with	Residential without	Commercial	Soil Saturation
		homegrown	homegrown		Concentration
		produce	produce		
Bromobenzene	3.2 / 7.6 / 18	0.87 / 2 / 4.7	0.91 / 2.1 / 4.9	97 / 220 / 520	853 / 1970 / 4580
Bromodichloromethane	0.016 / 0.032 / 0.068	0.016 / 0.03 / 0.061	0.019 / 0.034 / 0.07	2.1 / 3.7 / 7.6	1790 / 3220 / 6570
Bromoform	0.95 / 2.1 / 4.6	2.8 / 5.9 / 13	5.2 / 11 / 23	760 / 1500 / 3100	2690 / 5480 / 12000
Butyl benzyl phthalate	220 / 550 / 1300	1400 / 3300 / 7200	42000 / 44000 / 44000	940000 / 940000 / 950000	26.3 / 64.7 / 154
Chloroethane	110 / 200 / 380	8.3 / 11 / 18	8.4 / 11 / 18	960 / 1300 / 2100	2610 / 3540 / 5710
Chloromethane	0.066 / 0.13 / 0.23	0.0083 / 0.0098 / 0.013	0.0085 / 0.0099 / 0.013	1 / 1.2 / 1.6	1910 / 2240 / 2990
Cis 1,2 Dichloroethene	0.26 / 0.5 / 1	0.11 / 0.19 / 0.37	0.12 / 0.2 / 0.39	14 / 24 / 47	3940 / 6610 / 12900
Dichloromethane	0.1 / 0.19 / 0.34	0.58 / 0.98 / 1.7	2.1 / 2.8 / 4.5	270 / 360 / 560	7270 / 9680 / 15300
Diethyl Phthalate	19 / 41 / 94	120 / 260 / 570	1800 / 3500 / 6300	150000 / 220000 / 290000	13.7 / 29.1 / 65
Di-n-butyl phthalate	2 / 5 / 12	13 / 31 / 67	450 / 450 / 450	15000 / 15000 / 15000	4.65 / 11.4 / 27.3
Di-n-octyl phthalate	940 / 2100 / 3900	2300 / 2800 / 3100	3400 / 3400 / 3400	89000 / 89000 / 89000	32.6 / 81.5 / 196
Hexachloroethane	0.27 / 0.67 / 1.6	0.2 / 0.48 / 1.1	0.22 / 0.54 / 1.3	22 / 53 / 120	8.17 / 20.1 / 48.1
Isopropylbenzene	32 / 79 / 190	11 / 27 / 64	12 / 28 / 67	1400 / 3300 / 7700	390 / 950 / 2250
Methyl tert-butyl ether	23 / 44 / 90	49 / 84 / 160	73 / 120 / 220	7900 / 13000 /	20400 / 33100 /
(MTBE)				24000	62700
Propylbenzene	34 / 83 / 200	34 / 82 / 190	40 / 97 / 230	4100 / 9700 / 21000	402 / 981 / 2330
Styrene	1.6 / 3.7 / 8.7	8.1 / 19 / 43	35 / 78 / 170	3300 / 6500 / 11000	626 / 1440 / 3350
Total Cresols (2-, 3- and 4-	12 / 27 / 63	80 / 180 / 400	3700 / 5400 / 6900	160000 / 180000 /	15000 / 32500 /
methylphenol)				180000	73300
Trans 1,2 Dichloroethene	0.93 / 1.9 / 4	0.19 / 0.34 / 0.7	0.19 / 0.35 / 0.71	22 / 40 / 81	3420 / 6170 / 12600
Tributyl tin oxide	0.042 / 0.1 / 0.24	0.25 / 0.59 / 1.3	1.4 / 3.1 / 5.7	130 / 180 / 200	41.3 / 101 / 241

Units are mg/kg Dry Weight

Table 5: Tier 2 Criteria for the Assessment of Soils – Protection of Flora and Fauna

Parameter	ICRCL	70/90 ^a	SSVs ^b	Code of Practice for Agricultural	BS 3882:2015 Specification for
				Use of Sewage	topsoil and
				Sludge ^c	requirements for use
	Maxii	mum	-		Phytotoxic
	Livestock	Growth			contaminants
	mg/kgDW	mg/kgDW	mg/kgDW	mg/kgDW	mg/kgDW
Antimony			37		
Arsenic	500	1000		50	
Cadmium	30	50	0.6	3	
Chromium				400	
Cobalt			4.2		
Copper	500	250	35.1	80/ 100/ 135/ 200 ^d	<100/<135/<200 ^e
Fluoride	1000			500	
Lead	1000			300	
Mercury				1	
Molybdenum			5.1	4	
Nickel			28.2	50/ 60/ 75/ 110 ^d	<60/<75/<110 ^e
Selenium				3	
Silver			0.3		
Vanadium			2.0		
Zinc	3000	1000	35.6	200/200/200/300 d	<200/<200/<300 e
Benzo(a)pyrene			0.15		
Bis(2-ethylhexyl)			13		
Heyachlorobenzene			0.002		
Pentachlorobenzene			0.002		
Pentachlorophenol			0.6		
Perfluorooctanoic			0.022		
acid			0.022		
Perfluorooctane			0.014		
sulfonate					
Polychlorinated			11.9		
alkanes medium					
chain					
Tetrachloroethene					
Toluene					
Triclosan			0.13		

Parameter	ICRCL 70/90 ª		SSVs ^b	Code of Practice for Agricultural Use of Sewage Sludge ^c	BS 3882:2015 Specification for topsoil and requirements for use Phytotoxic
	Livestock	Crop Growth			contaminants
-	mg/kgDW	mg/kgDW	mg/kgDW	mg/kgDW	mg/kgDW
Tris(2- chloroethyl)phosphate			1.1		
Tris(2-chloro-1- methylethyl) phosphate			1.8		

a. Interdepartmental Committee on the Redevelopment of Contaminated Land (ICRCL) 70/90 Restoration and Aftercare of Metalliferous Mining Sites for Pasture and Grazing 1st edition 1990.

b. Soil screening values for assessing ecological risks, EA 2017a Report - ShARE id26

c. Maximum permissible concentration of potentially toxic elements for Arable land from the Sewage sludge in agriculture: code of practice. There are also criteria for Grassland which are higher than for Arable.

d. Where four values are presented, concentrations are for soils with pH values 5.0-5.5/ 5.5-6.0/ 6.0-7.0/ >7.0 (and the soils contain more than 5% calcium carbonate)

e. Where three values are presented, concentrations are for soils with pH values <6.0/ 6.0-7.0/ >7.0

Table 6: Tier 2 Criteria for Screening Liquids

		Screen	ing Concentration (mg/l)
	Minimum	Human	Fresh Water/Inland	Salt Water/Other
	Reporting	Consumption		
	Value			
Arsenic SP	-	0.01	0.05 (2)	0.025 (2)
Boron	-	1	-	-
Cadmium PS	0.0001	0.005	≤0.00008, 0.00008,	0.0002
			0.00009, 0.00015,	
			0.00025 ⁽¹⁴⁾	
Chromium (total)	-	0.05	-	-
Chromium (III) SP	-	-	0.0047	-
Chromium (VI) SP	-	-	0.0034	0.0006
Copper SP	-	2	0.001 bioavailable	0.00376 bioavailable
Iron SP	-	0.2	1	1
Lead PS	-	0.01	0.0012 bioavailable	0.0013 bioavailable
Mercury compounds PS	0.00001	0.001	0.00007 max	0.00007 max
Manganese SP	-	0.05	0.123 bioavailable	-
Nickel PS	-	0.02	0.004 bioavailable	0.0086 bioavailable
Selenium	-	0.01	-	-
Zinc SP	-	5 ⁽³⁾	0.0109bioavailable ⁽¹³⁾	0.0068bioavailable ⁽¹³⁾
Chlorinated Compounds				
C10-13 chloroalkanes PS	-	-	0.0004	0.0004
short chain chlorinated paraffins				
Dichloromethane PS	-	-	0.02	0.02
1,2-Dichloroethane PS	0.001	0.003	0.01	0.01
Trichloroethene PS	0.0001	0.01 ⁽⁵⁾	0.01	0.01
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	0.0001	-	-	-
1,1,2-Trichloroethane	0.0001	-	-	-
Trichloromethanes PS	-	0.1 ⁽¹⁾	0.0025	0.0025
1, 2, 4-Trichlorobenzene	0.00001			
Tetrachloroethene PS	0.0001	0.01 ⁽⁵⁾	0.01	0.01
Tetrachloromethane PS	0.0001	0.003	0.012	0.012
Tetrachloroethane SP	-		0.140	
Vinyl chloride	-	0.0005	-	-
Trichlorobenzene (TCB) PS	-	-	0.0004	0.0004
Chloroform	0.0001			
Chloronitrotoluenes(CNT) ⁽¹¹⁾	0.001	-	-	-
Hexachlorobutadiene PS	0.000005	-	0.0006 max	0.0006 max
Hexachlorocyclohexanes (HCH) PS	0.000001	-	0.00002	0.000002
Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons	<u> </u>			
Acenaphthene	-	-	-	_

	Screening Concentration (mg/l)				
	Minimum Reporting Value	Human Consumption	Fresh Water/Inland	Salt Water/Other	
Acenaphthylene	-	-	-	-	
Anthracene PS	-	-	0.0001	0.0001	
Benzo(a)anthracene	-	-	-	-	
Benzo(b)fluoranthene PS	-	0.0001 (10)	0.000017 max ⁽¹²⁾	0.000017 max ⁽¹²⁾	
Benzo(a)pyrene PS	-	0.00001	0.0000017	0.00000017	
Benzo(k)fluoranthene PS	-	0.0001 (10)	0.000017 max ⁽¹²⁾	0.000017 max ⁽¹²⁾	
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene PS	-	0.0001 (10)	0.0000082 max ⁽¹²⁾	0.0000082 max ⁽¹²⁾	
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene PS	-	0.0001 ⁽¹⁰⁾	_ (12)	_ (12)	
Chrysene		-	-	-	
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene		-	-	-	
Fluoranthene PS	-	-	0.000063	0.000063	
Fluorene	-	-	-	-	
Phenanthrene	-	-	-	-	
Pyrene	-	-	-	-	
Naphthalene PS	-	-	0.002	0.002	
Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons		0.0001 ⁽¹⁰⁾			
Petroleum hydrocarbons					
Total petroleum hydrocarbons	-	0.01 ⁽³⁾	-	-	
Benzene PS	0.001	0.001	0.01	0.008	
Toluene SP	0.004	0.7 ⁽⁹⁾	0.074	0.074	
Ethylbenzene	-	0.3 ⁽⁹⁾	-	-	
Xylenes	0.003 ⁽⁴⁾	0.5 ⁽⁹⁾			
Methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE)	-	0.015 ⁽⁷⁾	-	-	
Pesticides and Herbicides	I				
Alachlor PS	-	-	0.0003	0.0003	
Aldrin PS	0.000003	0.00003	0.00001 ⁽⁸⁾	0.000005 ⁽⁸⁾	
Dieldrin PS	0.000003	0.00003			
Endrin PS	0.000003	0.0006 ⁽⁹⁾			
Isodrin	0.000003	-	-	-	
2,4 dichlorophenol SP	0.0001	-	0.0042	0.00042	
2,4 D ester SP	0.0001	-	0.0003	0.0003	
op and pp DDT (each) PS		0.001(0)	0.000025 (0)	0.000025 (0)	
op and pp DDE (each)					
op and pp TDE (each)	0.00004		0.000.10	0.000.40	
Dimethoate SP	0.00001	-	0.00048	0.00048	
Endosulfan PS	0.000005	-	0.00005	0.0000005	
Hexachlorobenzene PS	0.000001		0.00005 max	0.00005 max	
Permethrin SP	0.00000	-	0.000001	0.000002	
Atrazine PS	0.00003	-	0.0006	0.0006	
	0.00003	-	0.001	0.001	
Linuron SP Magazzaz SD		-	0.0005	0.0005	
	0.00001	-	0.018	0.018	
	0.00001	-	0.00003	0.00003	
		0.0005			
Ammoniacal nitrogen (as NH4+)	-	0.5	0.26 ¹⁶ 0 39 ¹⁷	-	
Ammoniacal nitrogen (as N)	-	0.39	0.2 ¹⁶ 0.3 ¹⁷	-	
Unionised Ammonia (NH3) SP	-		-	0 021	
Chloride	_	250		0.021	
Chlorine SP		200	0.002	0.01 may	
Cvanide SP (hydrogen cvanide)	-	0.05	0.002	0.001	
Nitrate (as NO ₂)	-	50	-	-	
		0.1			
Nume (as NO_2)	-	U.1	-	-	
Phenol SP	-	0.5 ⁽³⁾	0.0077	0.0077	
Pentachlorophenol PS	0.0001	-	0.0004	0.0004	
PCBs (individual congeners)	0.000001	-	-	-	
Sodium	-	200	-	-	
Sulphate	-	250		-	

		Screening Concentration (mg/l)						
	Minimum Reporting Value	Human Consumption	Fresh Water/Inland	Salt Water/Other				
Tributyl and triphenyl tin compounds (each) PS	0.000001	-	0.000002	0.000002				
Di(2-ethylhexyl)-phthalate PS	-	-	0.0013	0.0013				

Substances highlighted in yellow are hazardous substances, PS = Priority Substances, SP = Specific Pollutants, '-

' screening concentration is not available, 'max' - maximum allowable concentration used where no annual average provided

Notes:

- 1. Concentration for trihalomethanes is the sum of chloroform, bromoform, dibromochloromethane and bromodichloromethane.
- 2. Concentration is the dissolved fraction of a water sample obtained by filtration through a 0.45um filter.
- 3. Concentration is taken from Statutory Instrument 1989 No. 1147. The Water Supply (Water Quality) Regulations 1989, as amended.
- 4. Concentration for xylenes is 0.003mg/l each for o-xylene and m/p xylene.
- 5. Concentration is the Sum of TCE and PCE.
- 6. Concentration is for Total DDT. Para DDT on its own has a target concentration of 0.00001mg/l.
- 7. Concentration for MTBE is taken from Environment Agency guidance, dated 2006.
- 8. Concentration is the sum of aldrin, dieldrin, endrin.
- 9. Concentration is taken from WHO (2004) guidelines for drinking-water quality.
- 10. Sum of benzo(b)fluoranthene, benzo(k)fluoranthene, benzo(ghi)perylene, indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene
- 11. Concentration is for 2,6-CNT, 4,2-CNT, 4,3-CNT, 2,4-CNT, 2,5-CNT
- 12. BAP can be considered as a marker of the other PAHs for comparison with the annual average
- 13. Concentration plus ambient background concentration (dissolved)
- For cadmium and its compounds the EQS depends on the hardness of the water (Class 1: < 40 mg CaCO3/I, Class 2: 40 to < 50 mg CaCO3/I, Class 3: 50 to < 100 mg CaCO3/I, Class 4: 100 to < 200 mg CaCO3/I and Class 5: ≥ 200 mg CaCO3/I).
- 15. Manufactured and used in industrial applications, such as flame retardants and plasticisers, as additives in metal working fluids, in sealants, paints, adhesives, textiles, leather fat and coatings. Persistent, bioaccumulate and toxic to aquatic life (carcinogen in rat studies). Candidate Persistent Organic Pollutant (POP).
- 16. Acceptable 90th percentile concentration for a freshwater lake/river with "High" chemical quality standard and alkalinity (as mg/l CaCO3) < 50 mg/L or alkalinity < 200 mg/L where river elevation > 80 m above Ordnance Datum (mAOD). See the Water Framework Directive (Standards and Classification) Directions (England and Wales) 2015 for further details.
- 17. Acceptable 90th percentile concentration for a freshwater lake/river with "High" chemical quality standard and alkalinity (as mg/l CaCO3) ≥ 50 mg/L where river elevation < 80 m MAOD or > 200 mg/l where river elevation > 80 mAOD. See the Water Framework Directive (Standards and Classification) Directions (England and Wales) 2015 for further details.

Chemical	CAS	GAC _{gwvap} (μg/l) ^{1,2}		Aqueous
		Residential	Commercial	μg/l)
	Petrole	um Hydrocarbons		
1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene	95-63-6	24	2,200	559,000
Benzene ³	71-43-2	210	20,000	1,780,000
Ethylbenzene ³	100-41-4	10,000	960,000 (sol)	180,000
Isopropylbenzene	98-82-8	850	86,000 (sol)	56,000
Propylbenzene	103-65-1	2,700	240,000 (sol)	54,100
Styrene	100-42-5	8,800	810,000 (sol)	290,000
Toluene ³	108-88-3	230,000	21,000,000 (sol)	590,000
TPH Aliphatic EC5-EC6 ³		1,900	190,000 (sol)	35,900
TPH Aliphatic >EC6-EC8 ³		1,500	150,000 (sol)	5,370
TPH Aliphatic >EC8-EC10 ³		57	5,700 (sol)	427
TPH Aliphatic >EC10-EC12 ³		37	3,600 (sol)	34
TPH Aromatic >EC5-EC7 ^{2,3}		210,000	20,000,000 (sol)	1,780,000
TPH Aromatic >EC7-EC8 ³		220,000	21,000,000 (sol)	590,000
TPH Aromatic >EC8-EC10 ³		1,900	190,000 (sol)	64,600
TPH Aromatic >EC10-EC12 ³		6,800	660,000 (sol)	24,500
TPH Aromatic >EC12-EC16 ³		39,000	3,700,000 (sol)	5,750
meta-Xylene ^{3,5}	108-38-3	9,500	940,000 (sol)	200,000
ortho-Xylene 3,5	95-47-6	12,000	1,100,000 (sol)	173,000
para-Xylene ^{3,5}	106-42-3	9,900	980,000 (sol)	200,000
	Polycyclic Aror	natic Hydrocarbons	(PAH)	
Acenaphthene	83-32-9	170,000 (sol)	15,000,000 (sol)	4,110

Table 7: Tier 2 Criteria for Screening Groundwater Vapour Generation Hazard

Chemical	CAS	GACawy	_{ap} (µg/I) ^{1,2}	Aqueous	
		Residential	Commercial	- Solubility (µg/l)	
Acenaphthylene	208-96-8	220,000 (sol)	20.000.000 (sol)	7,950	
Fluorene	86-73-7	210,000 (sol)	18,000,000 (sol)	1,860	
Naphthalene	91-20-3	220	23,000 (sol)	19,000	
· ·		Pesticides			
Aldrin	309-00-2	47 (sol)	3,700 (sol)	20	
alpha-Endosulfan	959-98-8	7,400 (sol)	590,000 (sol)	530	
<i>beta-</i> Endosulfan	33213-65-9	7,500 (sol)	600,000 (sol)	280	
	Halog	enated Organics	· · · ·		
1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane	79-34-5	240	22,000	1,110,000	
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	71-55-6	3,000	290,000	1,300,000	
1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane	79-35-4	1,600	150,000	2,930,000	
1,1,2-Trichloroethane	79-00-5	520	49,000	4,491,000	
1,1-Dichloroethane	75-34-3	2,700	260,000	3,666,000	
1,1-Dichloroethene	75-35-4	160	1,6000	3,100,000	
1,2,3,4-Tetrachlorobenzene	634-66-2	240	31,000 (sol)	7,800	
1,2,3,5-Tetrachlorobenzene	634-90-2	7.0	600	3,500	
1,2,3-Trichlorobenzene	87-61-7	35	3,100	21,000	
1,2,4,5-Tetrachlorobenzene	95-94-3	8.1	700 (sol)	600	
1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene	120-82-1	68	7,200	41,400	
1,2-Dichlorobenzene	95-50-1	2,000	220,000 (sol)	133,000	
1,2-Dichloroethane	107-06-2	8.9	850	8,680,000	
1,2-Dichloropropane	78-87-5	22	2,600	2,050,000	
1,3,5-Trichlorobenzene	108-70-3	7.4	660	6,000	
1,3-Dichlorobenzene	541-73-1	31	2,800	103,000	
1,4-Dichlorobenzene	106-46-7	5,000	460,000 (sol)	51,200	
Bromobenzene	108-86-1	220	20,000	388,040	
Bromodichloromethane	75-27-4	17	1,600	3,000,000	
Bromoform	75-25-2	3,100	400,000	3,000,000	
(Tribromomethane)					
Chlorobenzene	108-90-7	98	15,000	387,000	
Chloroethane	75-00-3	10,000	1,000,000	5,742,000	
Chloroethene (Vinyl Chloride)	75-01-4	0.62	63	2,760,000	
Chloromethane	74-87-3	14	1,400	5,350,000	
cis-1,2-Dichloroethene	156-59-2	130	13,000	7,550,000	
Dichloromethane	75-09-2	3,300	370,000	20,080,000	
Hexachlorobenzene	118-74-1	16 (sol)	1,400 (sol)	10	
Hexachlorobutadiene	87-68-3	1.7	230	4,800	
Hexachloroethane	67-72-1	8.5	740	49,900	
Pentachlorobenzene	608-93-5	140	12,000 (sol)	500	
Tetrachloroethene	127-18-4	34	4,600	225,000	
Tetrachloromethane (Carbon	56-23-5	5.3	770	846,000	
Tetrachloride)					
trans-1,2-Dichloroethene	156-60-5	160	16,000	5,250,000	
Trichloroethene	79-01-6	5.7	530	1,370,000	
Trichloromethane (Chloroform)	67-66-3	790	85,000	8,950,000	
	Others (or	ganic and inorganic			
2-Chloronaphthalene	91-58-7	160	14,000 (sol)	11,700	
Biphenyl (Lemonene)	92-52-4	15,000 (sol)	1,300,000 (sol)	4,060	
Carbon Disulphide	75-15-0	56	5,600	2,100,000	
Mercury, elemental	7439-97-6	1.1	95 (sol)	56	
Methyl tertiary butyl ether (MTBE)	1634-04-4	83,000	7,800,000	48,000,000	

Notes

GAC in *italics* with (sol) exceed aqueous solubility.
 GAC rounded to two significant figures.

3. The GAC for these petroleum hydrocarbon contaminants have been calculated using a sub-surface soil to indoor air correction factor of 10 in line with the physical-chemical data sources.

4. The GAC for TPH fractions do not account for genotoxic mutagenic effects. Concentrations of TPH Aromatic >EC5-EC7 should therefore also be compared with the GAC for benzene to ensure that such effects are also assessed.

5. The Health Criteria Value used for each xylene isomer was for total xylene. If site specific additivity assessments are not completed, as a conservative measure the sum of isomer concentrations should be compared to the lowest xylene GAC (as is the case for soil GAC).